# The effect of 1' acetoxychavicol acetate on cell proliferation, metastasis, and angiogenesis in human endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells



A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biomedical Sciences and Biotechnology Common Course FACULTY OF MEDICINE Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2019 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University ผลของ 1'อะเซทอกซีชาวิคอล อะซิเตต ต่อการเจริญเติบโต การแพร่กระจาย และการสร้าง หลอคเลือดใหม่ ในเซลล์มะเร็งเต้านมที่ดื้อต่อยาต้านฮอร์โมน



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาชีวเวชศาสตร์และชีวเทคโนโลยี ไม่สังกัดภาควิชา/เทียบเท่า คณะแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2562 ลิบสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	The effect of 1' acetoxychavicol acetate on cell
	proliferation, metastasis, and angiogenesis in human
	endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells
By	Miss Nalinee Pradubyat
Field of Study	Biomedical Sciences and Biotechnology
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor WANNARASMI KETCHART,
	MD, Ph.D.
Thesis Co Advisor	Professor CARLO PALMIERI, Ph.D., FRCP
	Assistant Professor Chalermchai Mitrpant, M.D., Ph.D.
	Dr. ATHINA GIANNOUDIS, Ph.D.

Accepted by the FACULTY OF MEDICINE, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Doctor of Philosophy

Dean of the FACULTY OF MEDICINE (Professor SUTTIPONG WACHARASINDHU, M.D.)

## DISSERTATION COMMITTEE

Chairman
(Assistant Professor THANANYA THONGTAN, Ph.D.)
Thesis Advisor
(Assistant Professor WANNARASMI KETCHART,
MD, Ph.D.)
Thesis Co-Advisor
(Professor CARLO PALMIERI, Ph.D., FRCP)
Thesis Co-Advisor
(Assistant Professor Chalermchai Mitrpant, M.D., Ph.D.)
Thesis Co-Advisor
(Dr. ATHINA GIANNOUDIS, Ph.D.)
Examiner
(Associate Professor CHANDHANEE
ITTHIPANICHPONG)
Examiner
(Assistant Professor WACHAREE
LIMPANASITHIKUL, Ph.D.)
Examiner
(Professor Steven W. Edwards, Ph.D.)
External Examiner
(Dr. JUSTIN STURGE, Ph.D.)

นลินี ประคับญาติ : ผลของ 1' อะเขทอกซีชาวิคอล อะซิเตต ต่อการเจริญเติบโต การแพร่กระจาย และการสร้างหลอดเลือดใหม่ ใน เซลล์มะเร็งเด้านมที่ดื้อต่อยาด้านฮอร์โมน. (The effect of 1' acetoxychavicol acetate on cell proliferation, metastasis, and angiogenesis in human endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : ผศ. ดร.วรรณรัศมี เกตุชาติ, อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม : ศ.การ์โล พาลมีริ,ผศ. ดร.เฉลิมชัย มิตรพันธ์,ดร. อธินา ใจแอนนูดิส

ความเป็นมา: ผู้ป่วยมะเร็งเด้านมชนิดที่มีการแสดงออกของตัวรับเอสโตรเจนโดยส่วนใหญ่จะมีการพยากรณ์โรกที่ดี แต่ร้อยละ 30 ของ คนไข้เหล่านี้โรกสามารถพัฒนาจนเกิดการดื้อต่อการรักษามาตรฐานได้โดยการกระดุ้นผ่าน PI3K/AKT, ERK1 / 2 และ NFkB ซึ่งมี ความสัมพันธ์กับการทำงานของตัวรับเอสโตรเจน งานวิจัยนี้ทำศึกษานี้ผลของสาร 1' อะเซทอกซีชาวิกอล อะซิเตด (ACA) ซึ่งเป็นสารประกอบเอส เทอร์ที่เป็นเมตาโบไลด์จากเหง้าข่าที่มีฤทธิ์ยับยั้ง NF-kB ในเซลล์มะเริ่งเด้านมที่ดื้อต่อยาด้านฮอร์โมน

วิธีการวิจัย: สารจากพืชได้ทำการแขกและทำให้บริสุทธิ์ด้วยกระบวนการโครมาโตกราฟีและพิสูจน์โครงสร้างโดยวิธีการ nuclear magnetic resonance และ mass spectroscopy จากนั้นทดสอบฤทธิ์ด้านการเจริญแบ่งด้วของเซลล์มะเร็งของ ACA ใน MCF7 / LCC2 และ MCF7 / LCC9 โดยกระบวนการ MTT และทดสอบในสัตว์ทดลองโดยใช้ปลาม้าลายที่ได้รับการปลูกเซลล์มะเร็งที่ดื้อค่อยาด้าน ฮอร์โมน MCF7/LCC9 การทดสอบฤทธิ์ด้านการรุกรานของ ACA ใช้วิธีการทดสอบคือ matrigel invasion assay จากนั้น ทำการศึกษากลไกการออกฤทธิ์ของ ACA โดยศึกษาผลของ ACA ต่อการแสดงออกของขึ้นส์และโปรตีนในเซลล์มะเร็งเด้านม ด้วย กระบวนการ real-time PCR และ western blotting

ผลการทดลอง: ACA สามารถชับชั้งการเจริญแบ่งตัวของเซลล์ MCF7, MCF7 / LCC2 และ MCF7 / LCC9 แบบ ขึ้นกับความเข้มข้นสารและเวลาที่ได้รับสาร ซึ่งการออกฤทธิ์นี้เกี่ยวข้องกับการลดลงของระกับโปรดีนตัวรับ HER2, estrogen receptor coactivator (NCOA3), pERK1/2, pAKT และการลดลงของชีนส์ที่เกี่ยวข้องการการเจริญแบ่งเซลล์ก็อ *CCND1* และ *C*myc อย่างมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติ รวมถึงผลการทดสองในปลาม้าลาขพบว่ากลุ่มที่ได้รับ ACA สามารถลดพื้นที่ของก้อนมะเร็งได้อย่างมีนัยสำคัญทาง สถิติเมื่อเทียบกับกลุ่มควบคุม นอกจากนี้ผลการด้านการรุกรานเซลล์มะเร็ง พบว่า ACA ยับชั่งการรุกรานเซลล์มะเร็งเด้านมที่ดื้อต่อยาด้านฮอร์ไมนได้ และ สามารถลดการแสดงออกของชีนส์ *CXCR4* และ *uPA* ได้ นอกจากนี้ ACA ยังสามารถลดการแสดงออกของ ชืนส์ VEGF และ FGF2 ซึ่งทำหน้าที่เกี่ยวข้องกับการสร้างหลอดเลือดใหม่ของเซลล์มะเร็งได้และเซลล์ที่ได้รับสาร ACA นั้นถูกเหนี่ยวนำให้เกิด การตายแบบ apoptosis ผ่านการเพิ่มขึ้นของระดับโปรดีน JNK / SAPK และ cleave-PARP และการลดลงของโปรดีนที่ยับยั้งการเกิด กระบวนการ apoptosis คือ BCL2 และ MCL1

# จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

สาขาวิชา ปีการศึกษา ชีวเวษศาสตร์และชีวเทคโนโลยี 2562

ลายมือชื่อนิสิต
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม

#### # # 5974856330 : MAJOR BIOMEDICAL SCIENCES AND BIOTECHNOLOGY

# KEYWORD: 1' Acetoxychavicol acetate; endocrine-resistant breast cancer; proliferation invasion apoptosis zebrafish

Nalinee Pradubyat : The effect of 1' acetoxychavicol acetate on cell proliferation, metastasis, and angiogenesis in human endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells. Advisor: Asst. Prof. WANNARASMI KETCHART, MD, Ph.D. Co-advisor: Prof. CARLO PALMIERI, Ph.D., FRCP,Asst. Prof. Chalermchai Mitrpant, M.D., Ph.D.,Dr. ATHINA GIANNOUDIS, Ph.D.

Background: Oestrogen receptor (ER)-positive breast cancer patients have a good prognosis, but 30% of these developed resistance through hyperactivation of PI3K/AKT, ERK1/2, and NF $\kappa$ B, which interconnected with ER signalling. In this study, the effects of 1' acetoxychavicol acetate (ACA), a plant-metabolite acetate ester compound with an NF-kB inhibitory activity, were investigated in a panel of endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells.

Methods: Plant material was purified by chromatographic methods and followed by structural identification using nuclear magnetic resonance and mass spectroscopy. *In vitro* and *in vivo* antiproliferative effects of ACA were studied in MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 endocrine-resistant cells using the MTT assay and the zebrafish xenograft model respectively. Anti-invasion of ACA was performed by the matrigel invasion assay, while its mechanism of action was elucidated through molecular docking simulation, real-time PCR, and western blotting. Western blot analysis was also used to investigate its effect on apoptosis.

Results: ACA inhibited the proliferation of MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 cells at a concentration- and time-dependent fashion. This was associated with down-regulation of HER2 receptor, estrogen receptor coactivator (NCOA3), pERK1/2, pAKT, and proliferative markers (*CCND1, C-myc*). While *in vivo*, significant reduction in the tumour mass of ACA-treated zebrafish engrafted MCF7/LCC9 groups was observed compared to the control treatment. Furthermore, the anti-invasive effects of ACA were confirmed *in vitro* by the matrigel invasion assay and with reduction in the expression levels of *CXCR4, uPA* and proangiogenic factors, *VEGF* and *FGF2* in ACA-treated cells compared to untreated control. The repressed expression of uPA and FGF2 was also validated by molecular docking analysis. Moreover, ACA-treated cells exhibited lower expression levels of the anti-apoptotic BCL2 and MCL1 proteins in addition to increase JNK/SAPK expression and enhance PARP cleavage, indicating apoptotic cell induction by ACA.

Conclusion: This research suggested that the ACA inhibited cell proliferation and induce apoptosis in breast cancer cells through HER2/MAPK/ERK1/2 and PI3K/AKT pathways. In addition, the anti-angiogenic and anti-invasive activity of ACA was through the downregulation of VEGF, FGF2, uPA, and CXCR4.

Field of Study:

Academic Year:

Biomedical Sciences and Biotechnology 2019 Student's Signature .....

Advisor's Signature ..... Co-advisor's Signature ..... Co-advisor's Signature .....

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I gratefully acknowledged my supervisor Assistant Professor Wannarasmi Ketchart, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, for allowing me to undertake the project. Without her support and guidance, this project has not been accomplished in these intense years. Dr. Ketchart has inspired me to discuss and debate my works and encouraged me to overcome the difficult times. She supported me not only the scientific parts but also emotional supports. I would like to thank Assistant Professor Chalermchai Mitpant, Faculty of Medicine, Siriraj Hospital, Thailand, Professor Carlo Palmieri, and Dr. Athina Giannoudis, Institute of Translational Medicine, University of Liverpool, UK for their constructive advice of the zebrafish and molecular parts of the project.

I am wholeheartedly thankful to Associate Professor Prasat Kittakoop, Chulabhorn Research Institute, Thailand for plant extraction and purification protocols, Assistant Professor Suchada Jongrungraungchok, College of Pharmacy, Rangsit University, Thailand for wise guidance on the structural elucidation part of the project. I also would like to thank Professor Steve Edwards, Faculty of Life Sciences, University of Liverpool, UK for his criticism of the thesis and Assistant Professor Dr. Thanyada Rungrotmongkol and Dr. Panupong Mahalapbutr, Structural and Computational Biology Research Unit, Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn, University for computing sources and assistance, and Professor Robert Clark, Georgetown University, USA for offering the endocrine-resistant breast cancer cell lines. I appreciated thank to Assistant Professor Thanapat Songsak, Dean College of Pharmacy, Rangsit University, Thailand and Taha Elmitwali for generous supporting and helping.

Many thanks to my parents, family and friends for always supporting me through a tough time. Thank you for being with me and understanding me in any of my situations.

Thanks to the scholarship from Rangsit University, Thailand for financial supporting me pursuing this PhD programme.

Thanks to Ratchadaphiseksomphot fund, (RA 61/093 to WK), the 90th

Anniversary of Chulalongkorn University Fund (Ratchadaphiseksomphot Endowment Fund) (GCUGR1125611027D to NP) and Capacity Building Program for New Researcher 2018 from National Research Council of Thailand (NRCT) (NP) for financially support this project.

Nalinee Pradubyat



# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

## Page

iii
ABSTRACT (THAI) iii
iv
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTSvii
LISTS OF TABLESxi
LISTS OF FIGURES
ABBREVIATIONS
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background
1.2 Breast cancer
1.2.1 Molecular Subtypes of Breast Cancer4
1.2.2 The ER structures and signalling pathways
1.2.3 Hormonal treatment of breast cancer
1.2.3.1 Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulators (SERMs)10
1.2.3.2 Selective Estrogen Receptor Down-Regulators (SERDs)11
1.2.3.3 Aromatase Inhibitors (AIs)12
1.2.4 Resistance to tamoxifen
1.2.4.1 Pharmacokinetic issues13
1.2.4.2 Cancer stem cells (CSC)14
1.2.4.3 Loss of ER expression and function14
1.2.4.4 Altered expression patterns of coregulatory proteins15
1.2.4.5 Growth factors receptors/kinase signal transduction pathways in endocrine-resistant breast cancer

1.2.4.6 Breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP)/ATP-binding cassette subfamily G member 2 (ABCG2)	18
1.2.4.7 Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells; NFκ its role in endocrine resistant breast cancer	:B 18
1.2.4.8 Cell cycle regulators; CyclinD1	23
<ul> <li>1.2.4.9 Roles of metastasis and angiogenesis in breast cancer: C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4), Hypoxia inducible factor 1 alph (HIF-1α), and Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)</li> </ul>	ia 24
1.3 The galangal compound: 1' acetoxychavicol acetate (ACA)	28
1.3.1 Background of ACA	28
1.3.2 Roles of ACA in cancers	29
1.3.3 Proposed mechanism of action of ACA on endocrine resistant breast canc	ers
	36
1.3.4 Safety profile of ACA	37
1.4 The zebrafish model	38
1.5 Molecular Docking Simulation	40
1.6 Research question	41
1.7 Objectives of the study	41
1.8 Hypothesis	42
1.9 Experimental design	43
CHAPTER 2 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	44
2.1 Cell lines and its characteristics	44
2.2 Materials	46
2.3 Methods	50
2.3.1 Preparation of crude extract and purification of 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate (ACA)	e 50
2.3.2 Analytical procedures	51
2.3.3 Maintenance of MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, MCF7/LCC9, and PCS201-010 cel lines	1 52
2.3.4 In vitro studies	53
2 3 4 1 Viability assay	53

2.3.4.2 Invasion assay55
2.3.4.3 Gene expression analysis
2.3.4.4 Protein expression analysis: Western blotting analysis
2.3.5 In vivo studies
2.3.5.1 Acute toxicity test
2.3.5.2 Zebrafish vessel staining
2.3.5.3 Antiproliferation
2.3.6 Molecular docking simulation64
2.3.7 Data and Statistical Analysis64
2.3.8 Ethical consideration
CHAPTER 3 STRUCTURAL ELUCIDATION OF ACA
3.1 Results: Structural elucidation of 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate
3.2 Discussion
CHAPTER 4 IN VITRO ACTIVITY OF ACA ON BREAST CANCER CELL LINES
4.1 Results
4.1.1 Cytotoxic activity of ACA on breast cancer cells
4.1.2 The <i>in vitro</i> toxicity test of ACA on primary dermal fibroblast cell (PCS201- 010)
4.1.3 Antiproliferative activity of ACA in endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells.85
4.1.4 Inhibitory effects of ACA on the expression of NFκB targeted genes involved in cells migration/invasion and angiogenesis in endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells
4.1.5 Anti-invasive activity of ACA on endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells96
4.1.6 Shift towards induction of apoptosis98
4.2 Discussion
4.2 Discussion
4.2 Discussion100CHAPTER 5 IN VIVO ACTIVITY OF ACA ON ZEBRAFISH MODEL1115.1 Results111
4.2 Discussion100CHAPTER 5 IN VIVO ACTIVITY OF ACA ON ZEBRAFISH MODEL1115.1 Results1115.1.1 Acute toxicity test of zebrafish embryos111

5.1.3 Tumour engulfment and proliferation	115
5.1.4 The inhibitory effect of ACA on MCF7/LCC9 cells proliferation engr	afted
zebrafish embryos	117
5.2 Discussion	119
CHAPTER 6 MOLECULAR DOCKING SIMULATION	122
6.1 Results: ACA's affinity for protein targets	122
6.2 Discussion	126
CHAPTER 7 GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	128
7.1 General discussion	128
7.2 Limitation of this study	131
7.3 Prospective study	133
7.4 Conclusion	134
CHAPTER 8 APPENDICES	136
Appendix A / Comparison of <sup>1</sup> H NMR and mass spectra of ACA	136
Appendix B / Validation of IC <sub>50</sub> values of ACA in the University of Liverpool	l 138
Appendix C / Zebrafish husbandry	140
Appendix D / Acute toxicity indicators of zebrafish embryo	142
Appendix E / Vessels formation and vessel staining of zebrafish	143
Appendix F / Conference Presentations	146
REFERENCES	147

### LISTS OF TABLES

Tables     Page
<b>Table 1.2.1.1.</b> Molecular subtypes of breast cancer
Table 1.2.3.1.1. Adverse drug reactions of tamoxifen
Table 1.2.3.2.1. Adverse drug reactions of fulvestrant
Table 1.2.3.3.1. Adverse drug reactions of anastrozole
Table 2.3.4.3.1. Primer sets and sequence for studied genes
Table 3.1.1. The <sup>1</sup> H and <sup>13</sup> C NMR spectra of 1' acetoxychavichol acetate72
Table 4.1.1.1. The comparison of IC <sub>50</sub> values of ACA on MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and
MCF7/LCC9 cell lines
<b>Table 5.1.1.1.</b> The LC <sub>50</sub> of ACA on zebrafish embryos at 24, 48, 72, and 96 hpf112
Table 6.1.1. CDOCKER interaction energy (kcal/mol) of all the studied protein-
ligand complexes
Appendix Table B1. Comparison of IC <sub>50</sub> values of ACA (48 h incubation) on 3 cell
lines performed at Chulalongkorn University (CU) & University of Liverpool
(UoL)
Appendix Table C1. 60x Stock solution of E3 medium140
Appendix Table C2. Concentration of 60x E3 medium stock solution140

## LISTS OF FIGURES

Figures     Page
Figure 1.2.2.1. Schematic representation of the functional domains of human $ER\alpha$
and ERβ7
Figure 1.2.2.2. The ER signalling pathways9
<b>Figure 1.2.4.7.1.</b> Transrepression of oestrogen receptor and NFκB22
Figure 1.2.4.9.1. Potential roles for CXCR4 in breast cancer25
Figure 1.2.4.9.2. CXCR4-mediated feedback loop of multiple signalling pathways.27
Figure 1.3.1. Structure of ACA from Palitapongarnpim et al
Figure 1.8.1. Flow chart of experimental design
Figure 2.1.1. The derivation of MCF7 sublines MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC945
Figure 2.3.1.1. The rhizome of greater galangal
Figure 2.3.5.3.1. The processes of nanoinjection of MCF7/LCC9 labeled CM-dil into
the yolk sac of zebrafish63
Figure 3.1.1. Spot thin layer chromatography of the purified ACA66
Figure 3.1.2. The typical chemical shift values of organic compounds
Figure 3.1.3. <sup>1</sup> H-NMR spectrum of ACA69
Figure 3.1.4. <sup>13</sup> C-NMR spectrum of ACA71
Figure 3.1.5. Mass spectrum of ACA73
Figure 3.1.6. Structure of 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate and the yellow oil of purified
1'-acetoxychavicol acetate74
Figure 4.1.1.1. The effects of vehicle control on viability of untreated controls80
Figure 4.1.1.2. The viability assay of ACA

Figure 4.1.1.3. Bright field images of MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 after
treatment with ACA for 48 h82
Figure 4.1.1.4. The effect of 4OH-Tam in MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9
cell lines
Figure 4.1.2.1. The <i>in vitro</i> toxicity test of ACA on PCS201-01084
Figure 4.1.3.1. Basal level of studied proteins on MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and
MCF7/LCC9 cell lines
Figure 4.1.3.2. The effect of ACA on pHER2 and HER2 protein expressions on
MCF7, MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines
Figure 4.1.3.3. The effect of ACA on NCOA3, c-Myc pAKT, and pERK1/2 protein
expressions on MCF7, MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines and mRNA level of
NCOA3 in MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines
Figure 4.1.4.1. The inhibitory effects of ACA on down-regulation of CCND1, C-myc,
CXCR4, uPA, VEGF, and FGF2 mRNA expressions in MCF7/LCC2 and
MCF7/LCC9 cell line
Figure 4.1.4.2. The effect of ACA on uPA and FGF2 protein expressions in MCF7,
MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines95
Figure 4.1.5.1. The anti-invasive activity of ACA in MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9
cell lines97
Figure 4.1.6.1. The effect of ACA on apoptotic induction
Figure 5.1.1.1. The toxicity of ACA in zebrafish embryo was followed OECD
guidelines113
Figure 5.1.2.1. The whole-mount alkaline phosphatase vessel staining114
Figure 5.1.3.1. Tumour engulfment and proliferation116

Figure 5.1.4.1. The antiproliferative effect of ACA in zebrafish model118
Figure 6.1.1. The 3D superimposed structures obtained from docking as well as the
interaction details of all the studied ligands in complex with uPA and FGF2125
Figure 7.4.1. Proposed mechanism of ACA135
<b>Appendix Figure A1.</b> <sup>1</sup> H NMR spectrum comparison of ACA136
Appendix Figure A2. Mass spectrum comparison of ACA137
Appendix Figure B1. The validation of IC <sub>50</sub> in MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and
MCF7/LCC9 cell lines
Appendix Figure C1. The husbandry of zebrafish and breeding station of
zebrafish141
Appendix Figure D1. Four atypical indicators of zebrafish embryos acute toxicity as
followed OECD test guideline (TG236)142
Appendix Figure E1. Vascular network formation of zebrafish143
Appendix Figure E2. Alkaline phosphatase stained-zebrafish and alkaline
phosphatase staining reaction
Appendix Figure E3. Validation of incubation time for alkaline phosphatase staining
in zebrafish at 72 hpf and 90 hpf145

## **ABBREVIATIONS**

ACA	: 1' Acetoxychavichol acetate
AMPK	: AMP-activated protein kinase
CaSki	: Epidermoid cervical carcinoma
CCND1	: Cyclin D1
CDK	: Cyclin-dependent kinase
CD31	: Cluster of differentiation 31
CD44	: Cluster of differentiation 44
c-Myc	: MYC proto-oncogene
COX-2	: Cyclooxygenase-2
CREB	: cAMP response element-binding protein
CXCR4	: C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4
EATC	: Ehrlich ascites tumour cells
EBV	: Epstein–Barr virus
EGFR	: Epidermal growth factor
ER	G: Estrogen receptor UNIVERSITY
ERBB2/HER2	: Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
ERK1/2	: Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase 1/2
FAK	: Focal adhesion kinase
FGF2	: Basic fibroblast growth factor 2
FOXO3a	: Forkhead box O protein 3a
GTPases	: Guanosine triphosphatases
GLI	: Glioma-associated oncogene homolog

GRIP1	: Glucocorticoid receptor interacting protein-1
GSH	: Glutathione
GSK3β	: Glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta
GST	: Glutathione S-transferase
HepG2	: Human hepatocellular carcinoma cells
HGF	: Hepatocyte growth factor
HIF-1a	: Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha
HRE	: Hypoxia- response element
HSC-2	: Oral squamous carcinoma
HMEC	: Normal human mammary epithelial cell
IAP1	: Inhibitor of apoptosis protein-1
IAP2	: Inhibitor of apoptosis protein-2
IEC6	: Rat intestine epithelial cells
IGF1R	: Insulin Like Growth Factor 1 Receptor
IL-6	: Interleukin 6
IP3	: Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate
JNK 1/2	: c-Jun N-terminal kinase1/2
МАРК	: Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MEM	: Minimal essential medium
MMP-2	: Matrix metalloproteinase-2
MMP-9	: Matrix metalloproteinase-9
MTT	: Methylthiazolyldiphenyl tetrazolium bromide
NCOA3	: Nuclear Receptor Coactivator 3
NFkB	: Nuclear factor kappa B

NICD :	Notch intracellular domain
NQO1 :	NAD (P)H: quinone oxidoreductase 1
OCT :	Octamer-binding transcription factor.
PAK1 :	p21-activated kinase 1
PBS :	Phosphate buffered saline
PC-3 :	Human prostate cancer cells
PIP2 :	Phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate
PI3K :	Phosphoinositide 3-kinases
PLC :	Phospholipase C
PKC :	Protein kinase C
РКСӨ :	Protein kinase C0
PRC2 :	Polycomb repressor complex 2
PTEN :	Phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10
Rb :	Retinoblastoma
SCC :	Oral squamous cell carcinoma
SHP-1 :	Src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatase 1
Src :	Proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase
SDF-1 :	Stromal-derived-factor-1
TGF-β :	Transforming growth factor beta
uPA :	Urokinase plasminogen activator
VEGF :	Vascular endothelial growth factor
EZH2 :	Zeste homolog

#### **CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Background

According to the National Cancer Registry (NCR) in 2017, 1.762 million new cancer cases and approximately 606,880 deaths were predicted in the United States (1). The disease causes a substantial issue for patients and healthcare systems with up to 10% of cancer costs in total (2). In 2019, prostate, pulmonary, and colorectal cancers (CRCs) estimate for 42% of cases in male, prostate cancer alone estimating around 1 in 5 new diagnosed-cases (1). In the female, the three most common cancers are breast, lung, and colorectum, which represent 50% of all new diagnosed-cases; breast cancer alone considers for 30% of total new cancer diagnoses in women (1). In 2020, 1,806,590 new cancer cases and around 606,520 cancer deaths are projected to occur in the US (3). Nevertheless, the therapeutic practice that had been implemented in the therapy of breast cancer in the Western for the past 30 year-time and in Europe have increased, the age-standardised, 5-year relative survival rates was from 73% to 83% during 1992 and 2008 (4). One major issue regarding the medical treatment of breast cancer in Europe is the enormous cost in contemporary financial circumstances of healthcare system (5). The system to predict and diagnose using biomarkers could ameliorate the therapy and the cost, however, the process to efficiently develop precise and promised biomarkers were quite difficult (5). Further challenges for cancer therapy were the new cancer drug targets to fight against cancer-resistant types as well as the bench to bedside efforts to implement the knowledge acquired from translational research to the patients (5).

Around 70% of breast cancer patients express oestrogen receptor alpha (ER $\alpha$ ) and are classified as ER-positive (+) therefore, ER signalling plays a crucial role in the pathogenesis of breast cancer (6). Consequently, therapeutic management aims to reduce the ER-ligand oestrogen or to inhibit ER signalling (6). Tamoxifen is the firstline adjuvant therapy for early and advanced ER positive breast cancer in pre- and post-menopausal women (7). Tamoxifen is the first-line choice for hormonal therapy in both early and advanced breast cancer patients for more than 30 years (8). The tamoxifen-adjuvant treatment has significantly improved disease-free survival and diminished mortality rate of breast cancer patients (9). In some cases, the use of tamoxifen is for neoadjuvant therapy for women with a high risk of breast cancer occurrence, aiming for prophylaxis the disease, but the concern of risks from adverse drug reaction outweighs the advantages is still required more information to be confirmed (10, 11). Also, around one-half of advanced-stages breast cancer patients do not adequately respond to tamoxifen treatment since the first time (de novo resistance) (12, 13). Additionally, some patients respond sufficiently to tamoxifen at first, and after the use of tamoxifen for 5-10 years the disease may relapse and cancer cell develop resistance to tamoxifen (acquired resistance) (12, 13). The de novo and acquired resistance of cancer to tamoxifen treatment can be caused from various molecular mechanisms and molecules, including single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) of cytochrome P450 2D6 (CYP2D6), the loss of ER expression and function, altered expression patterns of co-regulatory proteins, overexpression of human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2/neu), hyperactivation of а phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) signalling pathway as well as the nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-kB) activation (14-16).

Fulvestrant, a later anti-oestrogenic drug in the selective oestrogen receptor downregulators class, has been recently revealed the clinical efficiency in patients relapsed disease after the treatment of tamoxifen and aromatase inhibitors (AIs) (17). In this regard, more translational studies have been carried out for supporting the clinical potential of finding the regimen to address hormonal-resistant breast cancer (17, 18).

#### **1.2 Breast cancer**

Breast cancer is the second leading cause of global women-cancer mortality (19). Statistically, 10 per cent of female in the UK and the US experienced the disease in their lifetime (19). The incidence of breast cancer was higher in the western, and many risk factors involved in the pathogenesis such as non-adjustable and modified risk factors (20). Non-adjustable risk factors related to breast cancer are gender, age, and family history (20). The non- adjustable risk factors are difficult to control (20). On the other hand, the modified risk factors such as dietary lipid and alcoholic intake, obesity especially in postmenopausal age, hormonal exposure are the most interest regarding breast cancer prophylactic strategy (21). More interestingly, endogenous and exogenous endocrine factors, mammographic density and previous benign disease are also the non-favourable causes of the disease (22). The mutation of genetic factors such as the breast cancer gene (BRCA) 1 and 2, tumour protein (P53), phosphatase and tensin homologue deleted on chromosome ten (PTEN), and overexpression of HER-2 antigen are considerable issue for breast cancer patients (19). In addition, the proliferative marker Ki-67 is also significant to determine for the prognosis of disease progression (23). Therefore, breast cancer cannot be seen as a single disease. Breast cancer can be classified into 4 major types by histopathological staining based on the expression of oestrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) or the lack of these (24). However, breast cancer heterogeneity and the identification of additional molecular markers makes this classification a more complicated story, yet necessary for recommended distinct therapeutic management or clinical outcomes (24).

#### **1.2.1 Molecular Subtypes of Breast Cancer**

The last decades, several studies highlighted the heterogenicity of breast cancer and led to the identification of distinct molecular subtypes (5, 25, 26). The detection of breast tissue molecular subtypes is crucial in terms of the first-line treatment regimen. There are three primary receptors to be determined for the identification of breast cancer subtypes which are ER, PR and HER2 receptors. Breast cancer molecular subtypes can be distinguished into four main subtypes which are;

1. Luminal A breast cancer is hormone-receptor-positive (ER and/or PR positive), and HER2 negative. This type of breast cancer could represent a low level of Ki-67 protein, which describe the low aggressiveness that bears a good prognosis compared to other types (27).

2. Luminal B breast cancer is also hormone-receptor-positive (ER and/or PR positive), and either HER2 positive or HER2 negative and it is more common for the luminal B subtype to express high Ki-67 protein level. This type of breast cancer shows a more aggressive and poorer prognosis compared to the luminal A subtype (27).

3. HER2-enriched breast cancer is hormone-receptor-negative (ER and PR negative), and HER2 positive. HER2-enriched tumours were found approximately 20-30% of all breast tumours and were more aggressive than the luminal subtypes (28). With regards to the overexpression of the HER2 receptor, the HER2-targeted therapy; trastuzumab, and T-DM1 or ado-trastuzumab emtansine and pertuzumab, and tyrosine kinase inhibitors; lapatinib have been approved to give effectiveness for the patients (27).

4. Triple-negative (TN) or basal-like breast cancer is hormone-receptornegative (ER and PR negative), and HER2 negative and commonly be detected the mutation of breast cancer gene 1 (BRCA1). The phenotype of the TN is mainly basallike tumour as it shows various degree of basal-like biomarkers (29, 30). Clinically, this type of breast cancer was the poorest prognosis compared to other subtypes (31).

Subtypes	ER	PR	HER2
จหาสงกรณมหา	าทยาลย		
Luminal A	+	+/-	-
GHULALONGKORN	JNIVERSIT		
Luminal B	+	+/-	+
HER2-enriched	-	-	+
Triple negative	-	-	-

Table 1.2.1.1. Molecular subtypes of breast cancer (32-34)

#### **1.2.2 The ER structures and signalling pathways**

Oestrogens are steroid hormones that regulate growth, differentiation, and function in a broad range of many tissues such as breast, uterus, cardiovascular system, brain and urogenital tract of both males and females (35).

Oestrogens are the group of sex hormone that has a broad range of function regarding the regulation of female characteristics and the proliferation and differentiation of tissues, including breast, cardiovascular system, brain and urogenital tract of both male and female (35). Apart from that oestrogens are very crucial in the development process of mammary gland as of their potent mitogenic activity, the level of oestrogens; oestradiol (E<sub>2</sub>) in particular and its signalling through ERs are involved in the tumourigenesis of breast tissue (35). In order to exhibit the oestrogenic response, E<sub>2</sub> will bind to the ER, which is a steroid receptor located in the cytoplasm to drive the ligand-induced transcription of ER-regulated genes (35). There were two main superfamilies of ERs that have been specified, ER $\alpha$  (in 1986) and ER $\beta$  (in 1996) (36). ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  were transcribed by distinct genes on chromosome 6 and 14, ER $\beta$  was identified to co-expression with ER $\alpha$ ; however, its roles on breast tumours and malignancy was still controversial (37, 38).

ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  have a high level of homology in their DNA-binding domain (DBD; 97% amino acid identity) and ligand-binding domain (LBD; 59% amino acid identity) (37). The structure of ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  composed of six domain-shared structure; domain A - F (**Figure 1.2.2.1**), Domain A/B (non-ligand binding domain) at the N-terminus was the location of the activation function 1 (AF1), responsible for the transcriptional activity of the ER without E<sub>2</sub> binding (37). Domain C was the DBD comprised of two zinc-finger structure which was crucial for ligand-ER complex dimerisation and the binding of the ligand-ER complex to the specific consensus sequence of the DNA in the nucleus (37). Domain D was the joint between domain C and E that was important for the nuclear localisation of the E<sub>2</sub>-ER complex into the nucleus (37). Domain E (LBD) was the part for E<sub>2</sub> to bind with ER and composed of a second nuclear localisation signal, a dimerisation locality and a twelve-helix region required for ligand binding (37). The E domain was also the location of activation function 2 (AF2) was another section that involved in ligand-dependent activation of ER. At the end of the C-terminus, there was a domain F which was the region-mediated AF1 and AF2 (37).



**Figure 1.2.2.1.** Schematic representation of the functional domains of human ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$  (37)

There are two distinct mechanisms of ligand-dependent activation of ER $\alpha$  signalling related to cell survival and proliferation, which are the classical genomic and non-classical genomic signalling pathway (37). The classical genomic pathway is initiated since E<sub>2</sub> bind to the binding site of ER $\alpha$  in the cytoplasm, the binding induces the conformational changes of the receptor and driven the removal of chaperone

proteins (heat shock protein 90; Hsp90) allowing the dimerisation of the receptor and the trans-localisation into the nucleus. This ligand-ER $\alpha$  complex will then bind to the consensus sequence of the DNA called oestrogen-responsive element (ERE) (37). The binding of the ligand-ER $\alpha$  complex can bind directly to the ERE (classical-genomic pathway) or indirectly through the protein-protein interaction with the activation protein 1 (AP1) or special protein 1 (SP1) sites (nonclassical-genomic pathway) at the promoter region (steroid-responsive element; SRE) of targeted genes, resulting in the recruitment of ER co-regulatory proteins; coactivators or corepressors and drives or represses the transcriptional activity of ER-regulated genes (**Figure 1.2.2.2a - b**) (37).

There are also the non-genomic pathways of ER signalling via activation of Ras/Raf/ERK1/2 and PI3K/AKT pathways through the binding of growth factors with the receptor of tyrosine kinases (RTKs) and mediate the genes, including cyclins, cyclin-dependent kinases and cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (39). These signalling the E<sub>2</sub>-ER complex is not translocation into the nucleus itself, instead ERK1/2 or AKT act as the transcription factor (39). Apart from that, E<sub>2</sub> can bind to membranal ER $\alpha$  and activate the PI3K pathway, which will then activate the AKT to act as the transcription factor and translocation to the nucleus then bind with a responsive element (RE) of the DNA to drive the transcription of the genes (**Figure 1.2.2.2 c - d**) (37, 39).



**Figure 1.2.2.2.** The ER signalling pathways. The three distinguish pathways of ER; classical genomic (a), non-classical genomic (b) and the non-genomic (c and d) pathways of ER (39).

#### 1.2.3 Hormonal treatment of breast cancer

The treatment of breast cancer was based on several key considerations, including molecular subtypes, disease stage, tumour histology, and menopausal status (40). In the early stage of breast cancer patients are recommended for mastectomy and radiotherapy, however, systemic therapy is also recommended for almost all patients, and it is also prime for advanced-stage breast cancer patients (5, 40).

There are three drug classes of hormonal therapy for hormone receptorpositive breast cancer. Firstly, selective oestrogen receptor modulators (SERMs), the prototype of this group is tamoxifen (19). Secondly, selective oestrogen receptor down-regulators (SERDs), fulvestrant is the prototype of the group. Finally, aromatase inhibitors (AIs), anastrozole is the prototype of this class (19).

#### 1.2.3.1 Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulators (SERMs)

The major drugs in this group are tamoxifen (TAM, the prototype) and raloxifene. These two drugs have both the oestrogenic agonist and antagonist depending on the tissue subtypes (21). TAM and raloxifene work by binding to the ER and trigger or inhibit the signalling pathways of the ER (21). Tamoxifen citrate is the first drug launched in this group, which is the prodrug required the phase I metabolism of the liver to be an active metabolite (21). Raloxifene, the second drug of this group, also functions as both oestrogenic agonist and antagonist, but the main different activity from TAM is that raloxifene does not possess the agonistic effect at endometrium (21). TAM was recommended to use as first-line adjuvant therapy after the mastectomy or radiation in both male and female with metastatic breast cancer and decrease the risk of ductal carcinoma *in situ* (DCIS) in women as well as diminish the disease occurrence of women with a high risk of breast cancer (21). However, there was a concern raised TAM usage, which was the risen risk of uterine or endometrial cancer. (41).

Organ systems GHULA	Adverse drug reactions of tamoxifen
Cardiovascular	Vasodilatation, flushing, hypertension, peripheral edema
Endocrine & metabolic	Hot flash, fluid retention, menstrual disease, weight
	loss amenorrhea
	loss, amenormea
Neuromuscular & skeletal	Weakness, arthritis, arthralgia
Genitourinary	Vaginal discharge, vaginal hemorrhage

 Table 1.2.3.1.1. Adverse drug reactions of tamoxifen (42)

#### **1.2.3.2 Selective Estrogen Receptor Down-Regulators (SERDs)**

This class is a pure anti-oestrogenic activity through the enhance of internalisation and degradation of the ER and PR; thus, this class is more potent than SERMs (19). Fulvestrant (ICI182,780) is the first drug and the prototype of this group, which works via the binding of ER and produce no intrinsic activity (antagonistic effect) with a 100-times higher affinity compared to TAM (19). Unlike TAM, fulvestrant has no stimulatory effect on the uterus; therefore, it reduces the adverse events of uterine or endometrial cancer (19). Fulvestrant was approved for postmenopausal women with hormone receptor (HR)-positive metastatic breast cancer when disease progression after the endocrine therapy (19). It was also approved for the combined treatment with palbociclib (a cyclin-dependent kinase 4/6 inhibitors) for breast cancer (MBC) whose the disease has progressed after the endocrine therapy (43-45).

Organ systems	Adverse drug reactions of fulvestrant
CHUL	alongkorn University
Central nervous system	Fatigue, headache, hot flash
Hematologic & oncologic	Anemia, bleeding disorders
Hepatic	Increased liver enzymes; AST, ALT, ALP

Table 1.2.3.2.1. Adverse	drug reactions of fulvestrant (	(43)
--------------------------	---------------------------------	------

#### **1.2.3.3 Aromatase Inhibitors (AIs)**

The drug class is preferable for postmenopausal breast cancer patients more than other endocrine therapy (46). There are two types of AIs which are type I steroidal drugs (formestane and exemestane) which are the mimic of androgen substrates to competitively and irreversibly inhibit aromatase enzyme (47). The type II, non-steroidal inhibitors (anastrozole and letrozole) mechanistic work by reversibly binds to aromatase enzyme; consequently, it blocks the oestrogen biosynthesis from the precursor androgens (47). It is reported to be as effective as or superior to TAM for the first-line treatment of metastatic breast cancer (48, 49).

<b>Table 1.2.3.3.1.</b> Adverse	drug re	eactions of	of anastroz	cole (50)
	11			

Organ systems	Adverse drug reactions of anastrozole
Cardiovascular	Angioedema
Endocrine & metabolic	Hot flash, vaginal haemorrhage, vulvovaginal dryness
Neuromuscular & skeletal	Bone loss and bone fractures, muscle and joint pain,
ຈຸ ທ	arthritisาโมหาวิทยาลัย
CHUL	alongkorn University

#### **1.2.4 Resistance to tamoxifen**

Cancer resistance is the pivotal issue for almost all cancer diseases, tamoxifenresistant breast cancer, however, can occur at the first time of tamoxifen exposure (*de novo* or intrinsic resistance) or after the use of tamoxifen treatment for about five to ten years (acquired resistance) (51). Most HR positive breast cancer patients (around 70%) favourably respond to TAM. However, around 30% of the patients do not respond to TAM after 15 year-time of usage. (9, 52). The resistant mechanism of breast cancer can be involved with several pharmacological and molecular bases (37).

#### **1.2.4.1 Pharmacokinetic issues**

The metabolism of tamoxifen is genetically related to tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer. Hepatic metabolisms basically metabolise drugs into more hydrophilicity to promote the excretion process (37). However, tamoxifen is the prodrug that required phase I metabolism of the liver to biotransform tamoxifen into a more potent metabolite for a therapeutic level (37). There are two main hepatic cytochromes P450 isoforms; CYP3A4 and CYP2D6 which metabolise tamoxifen into N-desmethyl tamoxifen and 4-hydroxytamoxifen, respectively (37). Subsequently, Ndesmethyl tamoxifen undergoes the secondary metabolism mainly via CYP2D6 while 4-hydroxytamoxifen catalyses mainly through CYP3A4 to form an active metabolite called 4-hydroxy-N-desmethyltamoxifen, so-called endoxifen. The binding affinity of the metabolites (4-hydroxytamoxifen and endoxifen) to the ER binding site are higher than the parent tamoxifen (37). Additionally, the plasma concentration of endoxifen is 5 - 10 times greater than tamoxifen (37). Endoxifen and 4-hydroxytamoxifen both are about 100 times more potent than tamoxifen in terms of anti-oestrogenic activity (37). Hence, the variation of CYP genes, especially the CYP2D6 gene, can promote tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer (53).

#### **1.2.4.2** Cancer stem cells (CSC)

Cancer stem cells (CSC) are the significant cause of cancer resistance. Breast cancer, in particular, can develop resistance and more aggressive leading to therapeutic failure and increased mortality in the patients (54). The current therapy can eradicate the bulk of tumours; however, the subpopulation of breast cancer stem cells cannot be all eradicated (54). Therefore, cancers maintained and differentiated into tumour cells (54). Furthermore, CSC promotes breast cancer resistance to the treatment through presumed mechanisms such as enhanced renewal ability, anti-apoptosis, and increase efflux pump of anticancer agents (55).

#### 1.2.4.3 Loss of ER expression and function

According to the tamoxifen's mechanism of action, the expression of ER has negatively relevant to its activities as of a decrease in ER signalling and function (56). This downregulation of ER was the cause for *de novo* resistance to tamoxifen (56). There was reported that around 90% of HR negative breast cancer did not respond to hormonal treatment (56). However, most studies identified that hormonal-resistant breast cancer patients have expressed ER at the beginning and responded effectively with the treatment; once ER downregulation has occurred, cancer cells are not sensitive to the treatment (56). Therefore, this indicated that developing resistance of breast cancer to tamoxifen can alter from ER positive into ER negative phenotype (56). The downregulation of ER can be identified into two significant mechanisms, firstly, the decrease in transcriptional level of ER gene and secondly, the population remodelling to produce ER-negative cells from heterogeneous ER positive tumour cells (56).

#### 1.2.4.4 Altered expression patterns of coregulatory proteins

Tamoxifen's mechanisms of action diversely depend on the tissues, for example, in the breast, tamoxifen acts as an antagonist, but it has the agonistic action on uterus, cardiovascular system, and bone (37). The emphasised mechanism for these actions is the recruitment of coregulatory proteins (coactivators and corepressors) which can mediate the ER transcriptional activities (37). The well-established coactivator of ER is amplified in breast 1 (AIB1), also named as nuclear coactivator 3 (NCOA3), steroid receptor coactivator 3 (SRC3), and thyroid hormone receptor activator molecule 1 (TRAM-1) (37). NCOA3 considered being a proto-oncogene, and more than 30% of breast tumours overexpress; moreover around 5 - 10% of breast tumours are genetically amplified (37).

Coregulatory proteins compose of the transcriptional complex at the promoter region which can drive (coactivators) or block (corepressors) the transcriptional activities of ER-regulated genes (57). This transcriptional activity is mediated by coregulatory proteins mostly represents the ligand-bound ER (57). In breast cancer patients, approximately 60% of the tumours express NCOA3 (57). Also, the clinical samples analysis suggested that the overexpression of NCOA3 closely related to the non-response of tamoxifen treatment (57). The activity of NCOA3 can be regulated via post-transcriptional modifications such as methylation, phosphorylation, acetylation, ubiquitination, and sumoylation (58). NCOA3 can be phosphorylated at many different positions by several extracellular signalling molecules, for example, steroid hormones, growth factors, cytokines, ERK1/2, MAPK, and IKKs (59-61).

The nuclear receptor corepressor 1 (NCOR1), has also related to tamoxifenresistant breast cancer (62). Tamoxifen-bound ER can recruit the NCOR1 leading to histone-deacetylase complexes and repress the ER-regulated genes (63). By knocking down the NCOR1 in breast cells, tamoxifen tends to show the agonistic action instead of anti-oestrogenic action (63). Therefore, the downregulation of NCOR1 associated with the sensitivity of breast cancer to tamoxifen (56, 62-65).

# **1.2.4.5** Growth factors receptors/kinase signal transduction pathways in endocrine-resistant breast cancer

The ER signalling is a complex network and crosstalk with the many growth factor pathways (56). Many downstream molecules of membrane receptor of tyrosine kinases (RTKs) such as EGFR, HER2, IGF1R can regulate ER signalling pathways resulting in promoting gene expression, cell growth, proliferation, and survival as well as the signalling molecules such as farnesyl transferase, mTOR or Raf are also involved in the responsiveness of breast cancer to tamoxifen (56). Apart from that membranous ER could stimulate growth factor signalling; in turn, this can also phosphorylate cytoplasmic ER and its coregulator proteins (66). Moreover, the phosphorylation of ER structure of serine residues (S118, S168 in particular) at domain AF-1 can be activated by the upstream MAPK/ERK1/2 and PI3K/AKT which promote the ligand-independent ER function, triggering the transcriptional activity of the genes (67). Also, the overexpression of EGFR or activated AKT leads to the phosphorylation of S167 at AF-1 domain which can enhance the interaction between ER and NCOA3 in the presence of tamoxifen (67). Ultimately this interaction caused the resistance of breast cancer to tamoxifen (67). The signalling pathways of growth factors promote the phosphorylation of ER, causing the resistance of breast cancer. Similarly, many conducted researches showed that the overexpression of coactivator NCOA3 related to tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer through the phosphorylation of the EGFR/HER2/MAPK-dependent pathway in HER2 overexpressing MCF-7 (37). Confirmedly, there was the downregulation of ER expression in transfected HER2/ER positive breast cancer cells (37). HER2 is a kind of receptor tyrosine kinase and a member of the EGFR family. The overexpression of HER2 interruptedly associated with breast cancer phenotype via ER genomic pathways (68). ER can be phosphorylated at S118 and 167 at the AF-1 domain by the downstream molecules of HER2 signalling (MAPK and AKT, respectively) (68). PI3K/AKT is a significant downstream molecule of the HER2 pathway which frequently mutated and be the cause of hormonal-resistant breast cancer (68). PI3K/AKT can also activate and stimulate the transcriptional activity of ER regulated genes in both oestrogendependent and -independent pathways in ER positive breast cancers (68). Furthermore, it closely links with cell-cycle progression and cell survival (68).

Regarding ER positive breast cancer, PI3K-mediated AKT can phosphorylate ER $\alpha$  on the ligand-independent pathway (69). Also, AKT can phosphorylate ER $\beta$  and trigger the transcriptional activity and coactivator recruitment; however, the impact of ER $\beta$  on breast cancer resistance to anti-oestrogen is rarely understood (70). The overactivation and overexpression of constitutively active AKT can induce both tamoxifen and fulvestrant resistance in an oestrogen-independent pathway, whereas the inhibition of AKT can lead to tamoxifen-sensitivity restoration (71, 72). The overactivation of AKT also causes the resistance of standard chemotherapy such as doxorubicin (73). Although AKT overexpression was suggested to be a significant cause of endocrine resistance of breast cancer, there were studies showed that AKT was not upregulation in acquiring resistance to the aromatase inhibitors such as

letrozole (74-76). Also, this confirmed in both *in vitro* aromatase-expressing MCF-7 cell line (MCF-7/Ca) and xenografts model (76).

# **1.2.4.6 Breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP)/ATP-binding cassette subfamily** G member 2 (ABCG2)

Breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP)/ATP-binding cassette subfamily G member 2 (ABCG2) is an ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter (77). It was suggested to be one cause of multidrug resistance for various chemotherapeutic drugs as well as targeted therapeutic drugs (77). The first discovered of BCRP-caused drug resistance was doxorubicin-resistant breast cancer cells (77). BCRP gene transcription was found to be regulated by hypoxia inducible factor 1 $\alpha$  (HIF1  $\alpha$ ), ER, and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) (78-80). Apart from that PI3K/AKT signalling played a crucial role in both transcriptional and posttranslational levels of BCRP expression (81, 82). Also, the expression BCRP of both gene and protein were found to express higher in tamoxifen-resistant MCF7 than wild-type MCF7 (55).

### จุหาลงกรณมหาวิทยาลัย

### CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

# 1.2.4.7 Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells; NFκB its role in endocrine resistant breast cancer

NF $\kappa$ B is one of the majority causes of initiation and progression of many cancers (83). Regarding hormone-independent breast cancers, NF $\kappa$ B closely associated with the aetiology, progression, and aggressiveness via the mediation of targeted genes such as cyclin D1, urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA), and C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR-4) (84-86). The activity of ER and NF $\kappa$ B was reciprocally antagonism, and many conducted pieces of research have suggested that attenuation of ER functions by anti-oestrogens can promote NF $\kappa$ B-driven breast
tumour progression through driven NFKB transcriptional activity (83). On the other hand, inhibition of NFKB activation can downregulate ER expression or reduce ER activities and causing the rise of ER-negative or ER-irresponsive cell populations that are generally resistant to hormonal therapy (87). Having said that NFKB and ER negatively crosstalk function, many studies indicated that NFKB and ER synergistically transcribed and translated genes and proteins that drove in breast tumour aggressiveness such as multidrug resistance proteins and prosurvival factors (83, 87). Furthermore, NFKB can also be activated through growth factor signalling pathways such as MAPK and PI3K pathways (83). Therefore, the crosstalk between NFKB and ER involved MAPK and PI3K were reconciled for hormonal-resistant breast cancers (83).

The interaction between ER and NF $\kappa$ B in breast cancer has been the issue of numerous studies (88). Overall, the activation silhouettes of both transcription factors of ER and NF $\kappa$ B are inversely related (88). In 2000, Biswas *et al.* demonstrated that activation is found to be predominant in ER-negative breast tumours, and directly correlated with the expression of ErbB2/HER2 (89). Likewise, several studies have suggested that the levels of NF $\kappa$ B DNA binding in breast cancer patients negatively correlated to cellular ER amount and ER target gene expression (88, 90). The analysis of gene expression data of all breast cancer molecular subtypes from 78 breast cancer cell lines using the PAM50 algorithm has shown an inverse association between the expression of NF $\kappa$ B mediated genes and the ER activity (91, 92). It has been confirmed that ER activity and NF $\kappa$ B activity were mechanistically correlated by the data from cell line studies and in human tissues (91, 92). In ER positive breast cancers, T47D and MCF7 cells experiments showed that Toll-like receptor (TLR) 9-

mediated attenuation of ER activity, and by adding the NFkB inhibitor BAY11-7082 the activity of ER was reverse and the proliferation was increased (93). Also, the study in human retinal pigment epithelial cells identified that TLR4 could also mediate the activation of NFkB which will then trigger the transcription of NFkBtargeted genes (93). In contrast, with the presence of estradiol  $(E_2)$ , the transcriptional activity of TLR4-mediated NFkB activation was inhibited. Admittedly, the binding of NFkB to the DNA was prevented by ER (94). Therefore, this showed that the inhibitory interaction between the transcription factors of NFkB and ER was reciprocal (94, 95). The data from Pratt et al revealed that the ER positive/E2independent MCF7/LCC1 cell which derived from ER positive/E2-dependent MCF7 showed the elevation of NFkB activation via the withdrawal of E2 induced the DNA binding of NFkB and the expression of Bcl-3, a coactivator of NFkB and also play role as a proto-oncogene to regulate the transcriptional activity of NFkB in both in vitro and in vivo studies (96). Another supported data in 1997 performed in ER positive-MCF7 breast cancer cell, human cervical adenocarcinoma (Hela) cell, and human osteosarcoma (Saos-2) cells revealed that ER blocked the binding of c-Rel and RelA to bind at the promoter of IL-6 (97). Shreds mentioned above of evidence were the information of crosstalk between NFkB and ER by inhibition of NFkB DNA binding through the interaction of ER with Rel homology domain of NFkB (98). In microglia cells, the activation of ER can inhibit RelA nuclear translocation via the ER nongenomic pathways through PI3K (98). In MCF7, 17β-estradiol can inhibit the activation of NFkB via increasing the level of p105 subunit; consequently, the nuclear translocation of NFkB complex was blocked as the presence of ankyrin repeats at the C-terminus of p105 (99). Interestingly, in vivo study in mouse's splenocytes, the

nuclear translocation of all NFkB family members was not affected by the ER signalling, but only the harbouring ReIA, ReIB and c-Rel transactivation domain that affected (100). Another crosstalk between ER signalling and NFkB activation was the reciprocation of ER with transcriptional activators or repressors, which can lead to a low potent induction of NFkB transcriptional activity. In MCF7 and primary osteoblasts, for example, ER can compete NFkB to bind to with transcriptional coactivators (such as cAMP response element-binding protein, CREB) or ER can recruit co-repressors (such as glucocorticoid receptor-interacting protein 1, GRIP1) to NFkB complexes (101, 102). Another mechanism linked the negative correlation of the activation of NFkB with the ER signalling activation was that the induction of c-Rel activity by protein kinase  $C\theta$  (PKC $\theta$ ) and the activated AKT (103). Subsequently, forkhead box O protein 3a (FOXO3a) was activated and abated the synthesis of ER (103). The enhancement of zeste homolog 2 (EZH2), a member of the polycomb repressor complex 2 (PRC2) and regulates gene expression via trimethylation of lysine 27 on histone 3 by TNF- $\alpha$  then trigger the NF $\kappa$ B-dependent signalling (104). Research performed in breast cancer showed that silencing EZH2, the ER expression was two-fold higher than usual (105-107). This mechanism can imply that NFkB activation could be involved with the ER silencing (107). Ultimately, ER expression can be repressed by NF $\kappa$ B (more specifically RelB) via BLIMP1, a zinc finger protein that inhibits ER transcription (Figure 1.2.4.7.1) (105, 106).



Figure 1.2.4.7.1. Transrepression of oestrogen receptor and NFkB (107)

Evidence confirmed that in ER positive tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer had a higher level of NF $\kappa$ B activity compared to ER positive tamoxifen-sensitive MCF7 (108). Indeed, tamoxifen-resistant MCF7 found the hyperactivation of AKT, which increased I $\kappa$ B phosphorylation and NF $\kappa$ B DNA binding (109). All in all, the data available for the crosstalk of NF $\kappa$ B activity and ER suggested that the activation of NF $\kappa$ B activity affected the sensitivity of endocrine/hormonal therapy on ER positive breast cancer cells (107). However, the data on the proposed mechanisms and hypotheses of this relationship was still to be clarified. The trans-repression of ER by NF $\kappa$ B can promote a mechanism of acquired resistance of ER positive breast cancer due to the loss of ER expression and function later when the subpopulation of tumours cell resistance to the endocrine therapy (107). This mechanism can also contribute to endocrine-resistant breast cancer via growth factor receptor signalling (107). On the other hand, trans-repression of NF $\kappa$ B by ER can explain better for the resistance of ER positive breast cancer to SERDs, AIs and the withdrawal of oestrogen as the attenuated ER activation (107). This resulted from aromatase inhibition or oestrogen withdrawal can promote the releases of NF $\kappa$ B from the ER-mediated inhibition, leading to NF $\kappa$ B-driven tumour progression (107).

### 1.2.4.8 Cell cycle regulators; CyclinD1

Cyclin D1 is one of a significant cell cycle machinery contributed to tumour progression as well as the progression of ER positive breast cancer (110). Mainly, at the G1 phase, cyclin D1 plays significant roles in mediates the phosphorylation of tumour suppressor Rb through CDK4/6 and sequesters the CDK inhibitors p21 and p27 (111-113). Cyclin D1 is one of the ER targeted genes in ER non-classical genomic pathway where the induction of cyclin D1 transcription was driven by ER/AP-1 and ER/Sp1 transcription complex bind with the SRE segment of the DNA (35). Conversely, anti-oestrogen drugs such as tamoxifen can inhibit the expression of cyclin D1 via inhibition of ER signalling (8). Furthermore, AKT is also one of the molecules that can indirectly affect the expression of cyclin D1 by phosphorylation and inhibition of GSK3ß activity, in turn, promote the degradation of cyclin D1 (114). Stable overexpression of cyclin D1 in ER positive breast cancer cell led to breast cancer resistance to both tamoxifen and fulvestrant (115). Also, breast cancer acquired resistance to tamoxifen expressed the upregulation of cyclin D1 (116). Likewise, cyclin D1 was significant for cell proliferation in tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer and cell cycle repression by tamoxifen (117).

Studies have revealed that there was an upregulation of cyclin D1 in tamoxifen-resistant MCF7 overexpressing HER2 (118). Noticeably, crosstalk between cyclin D1 and growth factor signalling in hormonal-resistant breast cancer (119). Similarly, overexpression of cyclin D1 has also led to PAK1 overexpression in tamoxifen-resistant MCF7 (120). As well as overexpression of BCAR3 can induce the activity of cyclin D1 promotor found in anti-oestrogen resistant MCF7 (121). Treatment with trastuzumab, a HER2 directed antibody in xenografts has downregulated the expression of cyclin D1 and inhibited tumour growth (122).

Confirmed role of cyclin D1 in clinical endocrine resistance type of breast cancer is still developing, in the clinical studies published that around 50% of breast cancer patients overexpress cyclin D1 (111, 123). Cyclin D1 amplification was shown to relate with worse survival in luminal A and B breast cancer patients and more aggressive cancer in luminal A breast cancer patients (124). Also, the high expression of cyclin D1 was associated with irresponsive to tamoxifen in breast cancer patients (125). Not surprisingly, decrease the expression of cyclin D1 was reported to be a good prognostic marker for breast cancer patients (126).

# **1.2.4.9** Roles of metastasis and angiogenesis in breast cancer: C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4), Hypoxia inducible factor 1 alpha (HIF-1α), and Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)

C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4), also identified as fusin or CD184, is an alpha-chemokine receptor specific for stromal-derived-factor-1 (SDF-1 also called CXCL12) (127). CXCR4 belongs to the superfamily of the seventransmembrane domain heterotrimeric G protein-coupled receptors displayed on the cell surface of various types of cancer cells, including oral cancer, esophageal cancer, gastric cancer, colon cancer, liver cancer, pancreatic cancer thyroid cancer breast cancer ovarian cancer, prostate cancer, lung cancer, renal cancer, brain cancer, melanoma, and leukemia (128-140). The binding of SDF-1 to CXCR4 can trigger various molecular signalling involved in gene transcription, cell survival and proliferation, migration, metastasis, angiogenesis, chemotaxis, tumourigenesis, and cancer progression (141, 142) (**Figure 1.2.4.9.1**).



**Figure 1.2.4.9.1.** Potential roles for CXCR4 in breast cancer (143). CXCR4 can be driven its transcriptional activity via HIF, resulting in promoting cell proliferation, invasion, and angiogenesis in cancer cells.

In breast cancer, the level of CXCR4 expression was very low in breast epithelial cell but highly expressed in ductal carcinoma (143). CXCR4 transcription mechanism was related to hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ) and HIF-2, as the promotor of CXCR4 possessed hypoxia response element (HRE) (143). Therefore, HIF can drive the transcriptional activity of CXCR4 (143). In normoxia state, Von Hippel Lindau (VHL) degraded HIF protein by hydroxylation leading to ubiquitination of HIF resulting in repression of CXCR4 transcription and translation (144). In hypoxia state, a lack of VHL (generally occurred in various cancer cells) (144). HIF protein was stabilised and translocated into the nucleus which then drove the transcription and translation of CXCR4, subsequently CXCR4/CXCL12 pathway was activated (144). The stabilised HIF-1a led to the transcriptional activity of HIFtargeted genes such as CXCR4 and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), which caused the aggressive breast cancer cells regarding metastasis and angiogenesis (143, 144). Moreover, the expression of VEGF can occur during normoxia state and can be upregulated by the HIF-1 independent mechanism such as the activation of HER2/Neu and PI3K/AKT pathway through CXCR4 regulated phosphorylated AKT, in turn, increased VEGF transcription and translation (145). VEGF was a crucial angiogenic factor, the level of VEGF in both breast cancer cell lines and clinical breast cancer patients related to cancer progression (146). VEGF can promote the metastasis of breast cancer cells via two modes of actions; a paracrine mode in which increases vascular permeability by mediating rearrangement of actin and changing gap junction resulting in enhancing angiogenesis and tumour cell extravasation and an autocrine via stimulation of CXCR4 expression (147).

According to NF $\kappa$ B related CXCR4 signalling, there was an NF $\kappa$ B binding site located at CXCR4 promotor (148). Therefore, when the ligand such as hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) stimulated the receptor, p65 and p50 subunit of NF $\kappa$ B then move into the nucleus and bind to CXCR4 promotor, stimulating CXCR4 transcription and mediating tumour metastasis and invasion (148). The signalling of SDF-1/CXCR4 activated the MAPKs signalling to promote chemotaxis and proliferation, induced phospholipase C (PLC)/protein kinase C (PKC)-Ca<sup>2+</sup> signalling regulated cell migration and affected PI3K/AKT advancing cell survival. (149, 150). This shows a positive feedback loop between CXCR4 and the signalling pathways mediating tumourigenicity of cancer cells (Figure 1.2.4.9.2) (143). Also, SDF-1/CXCR4 signalling and EGFR/HER2-neu signalling can promote invasive signs and metastatic growth of breast, prostate, and ovarian cancers (151-153).



**Figure 1.2.4.9.2.** CXCR4-mediated feedback loop of multiple signalling pathways (143)

# 1.3 The galangal compound: 1' acetoxychavicol acetate (ACA) 1.3.1 Background of ACA

Alpinia galanga (L.) Willd (Zingiberaceae) (greater galangal) is generally known by several names such as galangal, greater galangal, Java galangal and Siamese ginger (154). They were generally used as a cooking spice, especially in Thai and Indonesian cuisine. In the past, galangal has been used to address many diseases, such as eczema, bronchitis, and stomach disorder (155). 1' Acetoxychavicol acetate (ACA), C<sub>13</sub>H<sub>14</sub>O<sub>4</sub> is a natural compound from rhizomes and seed of the ethnomedicinal plant A. galanga (156). The molecular weight of ACA is 234.25 g/mol and the density is 1.122 g/cm<sup>3</sup>. The rhizome of A. galangal was edible and was popular in terms of herbal medicine in Southeast Asia (157). Galangal contained abundant flavonoids and volatile oils, and different parts of galangal possessed distinct pharmacological activities (157). The critical part provided major bioactive compounds for galangal was the rhizomes which were reported to have antimicrobial activity, anti-oxidative effect, immunostimulant and expectorant action (158). Natural ACA possessed structure-activity relationships (SARs) in two key features as its pharmacophore, which were the para substitution of the 1' -acetoxyl group at the benzene ring and linear ethyl and propyl chain carbonates (159).



Figure 1.3.1. Structure of ACA from Palitapongarnpim et al (160)

#### **1.3.2 Roles of ACA in cancers**

ACA has been reported the anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory activities in many studies (161). It showed the capability to block the accumulation of cellular lipid due to the downregulation of PPAR $\gamma$  and C/EBP $\alpha$  and promote the phosphorylation of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) in rat xenograft model (161). Regarding growth inhibitory effects, ACA can induce the accumulation of tumour cells in the G1 phase resulting in the downregulation of phosphorylated Rb, an increase of total Rb, and a decrease of phosphorylated p27<sup>kip1</sup> (162).

ACA exhibited cytotoxic activity in various tumour cell lines, which were MCF7, HepG2, oral squamous carcinoma (HSC-2 and HSC-4), and epidermoid cervical carcinoma (CaSki) with  $IC_{50}$  value range between 5 and 50  $\mu$ M with no toxicity to normal human mammary epithelial cell (HMEC) cell tested up to 80  $\mu$ M (163). Tumour cells were all dead via apoptosis after 30 hours using 40.0  $\mu$ M detected by flow cytometry analysis of annexin-V and PI co-staining (163).

In term of antiproliferative activity, ACA reported to have antiproliferation in four myeloid leukemic cell lines (NB4, UF-1, HL-60, and K562,) (164). ACA induced apoptosis as well as the impairment of mitochondrial transmembrane potential ( $\Delta\Psi$ m) and activation of caspase-9, consequently activated death signalling through mitochondrial oxygen stress pathway in NB4 cell (164). While the apoptotic induction of ACA in HL-60 cell caused by DNA fragmentation, caspase-3 activation, and PARP cleavage (165). Also, ACA has been reported the apoptotic induced antitumour activity in other cancer types such as Ehrlich ascites tumour cells (EATC), and hepatocellular carcinoma cells (HepG2) (166, 167). ACA can trigger the activity of caspase-8 subsequently activated the Fas-mediated apoptosis (164). Furthermore, in vitro and in vivo study of ACA in multiple myeloma cells showed that ACA provided growth inhibition via apoptotic induction through the repression of antiapoptotic proteins' expression, activation of caspase-8, and inhibition of NFkB activation (156). ACA can induce the activities of caspase 3, 9, and 8 and induced GO-G1 phase cancer cell arrest in myeloma cells (156). This suggested that ACAinduced apoptosis in myeloma cells mediates both mitochondrial- and Fas-dependent signalling (156). Moreover, ACA can inhibit the phosphorylation of amino acid serine and promote the degradation of IkBa (156). The study in RPMI8226 cells showed that the nuclear expression of NFkB was blocked by ACA, resulting in the accumulation of cytosolic NFkB (156). The mode of ACA action through the inhibition of nuclear expression of NFkB was consistent in RPMI8226-grafted NOD/SCID mice and the result from RPMI8226 cell line (156). Also, the result has shown that ACA has significantly decreased tumour weight in ACA treatment group compared to control group, ultimately all these information has led to confirm that ACA possessed the inhibitory effect on NFkB and induced apoptosis in myeloma cells both in vitro and in vivo studies (156). Further investigation of In and colleagues in 2005 showed that the mechanism of ACA on apoptosis induction in RPMI8226 was related to the up-regulation of both TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand/Apo2 ligand (TRAIL/Apo2L) (168).

ACA treatment in oral squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) showed the antiproliferation, apoptosis induction and antimigration without causing toxicity to HMEC cell (169). Combination of ACA with cisplatin showed a synergistic cytotoxic effect indicated by using combination index studies (169). ACA alone also suppression of IKK/ $\beta$  activation consequently inhibited the constitutive activation of

NF $\kappa$ B (169). Human oral tumour mice xenografts studies revealed that ACA alone was as effective as in combination with cisplatin in decreasing tumour volume with minimal bodyweight loss and further potentiated cisplatin outcomes when used in combination (169). The effects of ACA also associated with a down-regulation of NF $\kappa$ B regulated genes (FasL and Bim), covering pro-inflammatory (NF $\kappa$ B and COX-2) and proliferative (cyclin D1) biomarkers in tumour tissue (169).

Another study of ACA demonstrated that ACA had a time- and dosedependent cytotoxicity to both MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 at the concentration tested at 10 - 50  $\mu$ M (170). ACA showed a dominant mode of action through the suppression of RANKL-induced NFkB activation in a time- and concentration-dependent manner and blocked the osteoclastogenesis induced by MCF7, multiple myeloma MM1 cells, and head and neck squamous cell carcinoma LICR-LON-HN5 cells (171). This results showed that ACA might have a beneficial action for osteoporosis and cancer-related bone deterioration (171). ACA was also reported the antimigration/invasion and antimetastasis effect in the concentration vary from 5-40 µM from the results of in vitro matrigel invasion assay and skeletal metastasis in breast cancer mouse model (172). ACA had cytotoxic effects and antimigration and mechanistically worked through the suppression of constitutive and interleukin-6-inducible STAT3 activation and decreased the accumulation of nuclear STAT3 as well as DNA-binding activity of STAT3 (172). Moreover, ACA treated cells had a higher amount of Src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatase 1 (SHP-1) and inhibited STAT3 signalling resulting in the repression of STAT3 regulated genes such as matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and -9 which responsible for cell migration and invasion (172). This led to the conclusion that ACA inhibited cancer cell migration via SHP-1/STAT3/MMPs

signalling pathway (172). In mouse macrophages (RAW 264.7) cells using LPS to induce cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 mRNA expression, the activation of MAPK, p38, ERK1/2, JNK1/2 and AKT, and the degradation of the I $\kappa$ B- $\alpha$  protein and nuclear translocation of NF $\kappa$ B p65 subunit revealed that ACA can abrogate ERK1/2 and JNK1/2 as well as the activation of AP-1, NF $\kappa$ B, and CREB transcription factors (173).

The dominant published mechanism of ACA was the inhibition of NFkB activation which caused by many ligands and substances such as TNF, IL-1β, PMA, LPS, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, and doxorubicin (171). Regarding the inhibition of NFkB activation, ACA did not interfere with the DNA binding activity of NFkB (171). Instead, ACA inhibited the translocation of p65 subunit by blocking the activation of IkBa kinase, ΙκBα phosphorylation, ΙκBα degradation, and p65 phosphorylation (171). ACA also inhibited NFkB-dependent gene expression stimulated by TNF, TNFR1, TNFRassociated death domain protein, TNFR-associated factor-2, and IkBa kinase, but not that stimulated by p65 (171). ACA suppressed the expression of TNF-induced NFkBmediated proliferative genes (cyclin D1 and c-Myc), antiapoptotic genes (survivin, inhibitor of apoptosis protein-1 (IAP1), IAP2, X-chromosome-linked IAP, Bcl-2, BclxL, Bfl-1/A1, and FLIP), and metastatic genes (COX-2, ICAM-1, VEGF, and MMP-9) (171). Therefore, ACA exhibited the ability to induce apoptosis and inhibit invasion via inhibition of NFkB activation and NFkB-targeted genes involved in cell proliferation, metastasis, and apoptosis (171). ACA suppressed VEGF-induced proliferation, migration, adhesion and tubulogenesis of HUVECs in a dose-dependent manner (174). In Matrigel plugs vasculature formation assay, ACA inhibited VEGFinduced microvessel growing from aortic rings and suppressed new vessel formation.

In vivo study confirmed the mechanism of inhibition of VEGF by ACA through blocking the activation of VEGF-mediated Src kinase, FAK and Rho family of small guanosine triphosphatases (GTPases) (Rac1 and Cdc42, but not RhoA) (174). In human prostate cancer cells (PC-3), the treatment of ACA at 5-50  $\mu$ M decreased cell viability and abolition of angiogenic factor by interfering with dual Src/FAK kinases. In a PC-3 xenograft model, ACA (6 mg/kg/day) significantly inhibited the level of Src, CD31, VEGF and Ki-67 as well as tumour weight and volume (174). ACA inhibited glioblastoma cell proliferation as a result of promoting apoptotic cell death by enhancing the activities of caspase 3 (175). ACA notably diminished the migration of glioblastoma cells by lowering their adhesive functions (175). Additionally, ACA increased the protein expression of the pro-survival signalling cytokines, IL-6 and IL-1 $\alpha$  which compensated pro-survival response in addition to pro-apoptotic ACAinduced caspase 3 response (175).

Ohnishi and team (1996) performed the xanthine oxidase inhibitor effect of ACA on 4-nitroquinoline 1-oxide (4-NQO)-induced oral carcinogenesis in male F344 rats (176). The result showed that ACA administration group significantly reduced tongue polyamine levels (35-40% inhibition) (176). These results evidenced that ACA inhibited rat oral carcinogenesis, and such inhibition might be associated with suppression of cell proliferation in the oral mucosa by the xanthine oxidase inhibitor (176). In 1997, Tanaka and colleagues performed *in vivo* investigation of the effects of ACA to inhibit the development of azoxymethane-induced colon carcinogenesis (177). They reported that ACA suppressed cell proliferation in the colonic mucosa and its induction of glutathione S-transferase (GST) and quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1) (177). Further *in vitro* study of ACA in rat intestinal-epithelial cells (IEC6)

showed that ACA-induced glutathione S-transferase (GST) and NAD (P)H: quinone oxidoreductase 1 (NQO1) activities, increased intracellular glutathione (GSH) level, and upregulated intranuclear Nrf2 and cytosolic p21 (178). Impliedly, that activation of phase II enzymes via Nrf2 related to p21 is a possible mechanism of ACA to halt the advance of carcinogenesis (178). In Ehrlich ascites tumour cells, ACA showed the decrease in the intracellular GSH levels, suggesting that ACA-induced reduction of the cellular GSH levels can lead to growth arrest of the cancer cell (179).

ACA can also modulate the expression of miRNAs in cervix carcinoma cells (Ca Ski, HeLa); therefore, tumour suppressor miRNAs miR-138, miR-210 and miR-744 were upregulated (180). In 2013, there was a study reported that ACA significantly inhibited the growth of human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cell line HN4 and induced cell apoptosis (181). Additional studies indicated that ACA (17.70  $\mu$ M) downregulated the expression of miR-23a in HN4 cells which associated with phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10 (PTEN), a target of miR-23a (181). In human non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), ACA showed cytotoxicity and induced formation of cytoplasmic vacuoles (182). Moreover, ACA has been shown its action on the induction of pro-autophagy pathway through Beclin-1-independent pathway in NSCLC (182). In cervical cancer, it has been stated that ACA targeted decapentaplegic homolog 4 (SMAD4) resulting in down-regulation of miR-210 expression, which commonly overexpressed in cervical cancer (183).

ACA has been reported to inhibit the proliferation of a broad range of cancer types in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies, including bile duct cancer, oesophageal cancer, large intestinal cancer, oral cancer and hepatocellular carcinoma (176, 177, 184-186). ACA induced apoptosis in myeloma cells through the inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B-

related functions and also inhibited the phosphorylation of inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa B kinase subunit alpha/beta (IKK $\alpha/\beta$ ) leading to the suppression of NF $\kappa$ B activation in human squamous carcinoma (HSC-4) cells (169, 187). Furthermore, the effect of ACA on myeloma cell can induce apoptosis as well as inhibited ERK MAPK signalling pathway (188). Also, ACA has been reported to repress tumour volume and weight, Proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase (Src), Cluster of differentiation 31 (CD31), proliferative marker Ki-67, and blocking the activation of Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-mediated Src kinase *in vivo* (174). In MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 cell lines, ACA has revealed to be apoptotic induction agent via c-Jun N-terminal kinase 1/2 (JNK1/2) and extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase 1/2 (ERK1/2) signallings (170, 173).



# **1.3.3** Proposed mechanism of action of ACA on endocrine resistant breast cancers

Crosstalk between the NF $\kappa$ B pathway and endocrine therapy resistance in breast cancers has been established (189). Also, it has been shown that MCF7/LCC9 cells (ER-positive, oestrogen-independent, and anti-oestrogen (tamoxifen and fulvestrant) cross-resistant) and MCF7/RR cells (ER-positive, oestrogen-independent for growth, tamoxifen-resistant and fulvestrant-sensitive) have higher p65 basal levels compared to MCF7 cell (ER-positive and anti-hormone sensitive) (190). Increased expression of p65 in endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells may be involved in promoting cancer cell growth (190). Also, the enhancement of NF $\kappa$ B and AP-1 transcriptional activities were reported in endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells (191). Treatment of the endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells with pathenolide (NF $\kappa$ B inhibitor), significantly decreased the transcriptional activity of NF $\kappa$ B regulated genes compared to MCF7 cells (190). This evidence shows that inhibiting NF $\kappa$ B pathway results in the inhibition of proliferation and NF $\kappa$ B transcriptional activity in both of the resistant cell lines, compared to MCF7 control cells.

ACA, as a potent NFκB inhibitor through inhibition of nuclear translocation of the p65 subunit and its effects on the repression of AKT and ERK1/2 activity (171, 173, 192) could inhibit endocrine-resistant breast cancer cell growth, and other related effects.

# 1.3.4 Safety profile of ACA

ACA has been studied the safety both *in vitro* and *in vivo* as revealed in the study of Awang and partners (2010) showed that ACA at the concentration range up to 80  $\mu$ M had no adverse cytotoxic effects on normal dermal microvascular endothelium (HMEC cells) (163). Also, in human oral tumour xenografts, studies in mice revealed that ACA alone was as effective in reducing tumour volume without any toxicity (169). In 2000, Moffatt *et al.* demonstrated that ACA had no cytotoxic effect on normal rat hepatocytes at increasing concentration up to 40  $\mu$ M (166). Furthermore, ACA (3 mg/kg) had been shown no toxic effects *in vivo* in a nonobese diabetic/SCID mice leukaemia model (164).



#### 1.4 The zebrafish model

Danio rerio is a vertebrate and a non-mammalian specie that commonly used in developmental process and human diseases including, gastrointestinal disorders, brain disorders, muscle disease, and cancers (193-197). Zebrafish xerograft model is increasingly used in cancer research as a screening model, particularly with tumour proliferation, angiogenesis, metastasis, and antineoplastic drug screens (198). Around 70% of all human disease genes are functional homolog with zebrafish specie (199). The advantages of zebrafish for using as an animal experiment are its transparency of embryos and embryonic development (200). Therefore, it can significantly aid imaging and protein/cell marker tracking to observed biological and disease processes (200). In addition, it gives high number of offspring for each breeding under laboratory conditions, and allowing high confidence in statistical analysis (201, 202). Also, zebrafish models are easy-manipulated method and allow real-time visualisation of tumour mass and volume (203). Zebrafish xenotransplantation is the superior transplantation model in avoiding the issue of graft rejection compared to mouse models (203, 204). In mouse models, the aspect to avoid graft rejection is to use the genetically modified mouse by immunosuppression of T, B, and natural killer cells, NOD/SCID mouse (205). Unlike in zebrafish, their innate and adaptive immunity are not fully functioned until 21 days of life (204). At this stage, their T and B cells enter thymus and processing the immune maturation (204). The absence of the immune system until 3 to 4 days post fertilisation (dpf) giving the benefit of unnecessary usage of immunosuppressants in zebrafish engrafted humanised tumours (206). Thus, this model is favourable and convenient in xenotransplantation experiments (206).

Zebrafish is well-established for various cancer studies such as breast cancer, prostate cancer, liver cancer, glioblastoma, and melanoma (207-210). It has been used for studying the tumour microenvironment of tumour-induced angiogenesis and tumour neovascularisation in tumour growth and metastatic stage (211). In breast cancer, it has been suggested that zebrafish has possessed the oestrogen-responsive genes and signalling pathways (212). Furthermore, zebrafish has highly conserved of oestrogen-responsiveness, which responsible for cell proliferation, DNA damage, and cell death (212). Therefore, this model can potentially be used in oestrogen-dependent research (212). Additionally, zebrafish model has been used in triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) type to investigate epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) through  $\beta$ 1 integrin mediated transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) pathway (213). Also, zebrafish has been used in TNBC xenograft metastatic model and micro-metastatic formation through the CXCR4-CXCL12 signalling axis to project the new pharmacological therapy for TNBC (214, 215).

With all striking genetic information of zebrafish models, it promotes the utilisation of zebrafish in the physiopathology of human diseases (216, 217). Also, this model benefits for the studying of promised therapeutic compounds in terms of efficacy, safety, and mechanism of action in various classes of disease researches (218).

### **1.5 Molecular Docking Simulation**

The molecular docking approach was a computational tool, which commonly used for target identification (219). This approach can identify protein targets (e.g. receptors, ligands) of the pharmacologically active substances (219, 220). It can be used as a high throughput screening for structured-based lead optimisation in the drug discovery process (220, 221). There are several processes to perform molecular docking approach (222). The processes are composed of two main methods, which are the preparation of ligand and receptor (222). The preparation of ligand method includes generation, optimisation, and analysis of ligand's 3D structure (222). In addition, the Protein Data Bank (PDB) is the primary source for the 3D structure of proteins, protein fragments, nucleic acids, and protein-ligand complexes (222). This well-established source is used for analysing the proteins' structure or comparing any protein structure (222). The receptor preparation is performed by using the rigorous target protein conveying a single conformation of the receptor (222).

This docking technique is also used for predicting and matching the ligand to the protein binding site (223). It is noted that the protein-ligand binding interaction is a key for molecular signal transduction and biological mechanism of action (223, 224). One of the most significant points is the versatility of molecules involved in the complex molecule (225). These molecules include both the target macromolecule (typically proteins) and the ligand (225). Typically, the rationale for drug development is to evaluate the compound capable of inhibiting the functioned protein responsible for diseases progression (225). On the one hand, is to fill the gap to find the organic compound work as a selective inhibitor (226). From the aforementioned, this approach is very useful to support the results of molecular experiments (227).

#### **1.6 Research question**

- Does ACA inhibit proliferation, migration/invasion, and angiogenesis in endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells?

- Does ACA inhibit the expression or activity of HER2, NCOA3 and PI3K/ AKT or ERK1/2 and suppress NF-κB targeted genes involved in endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells?

- Does ACA inhibit proliferation of endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells in zebrafish xenograft model?

# 1.7 Objectives of the study

ACA is a promising compound, prominently for its anticancer attributes through inhibition of NF-kB activation; it may implement a new option in breast cancer therapeutics. This study aims to investigate the effects of ACA on hormonalsensitive breast cancer (MCF7) and hormonal-resistant breast cancer cells (MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9) to unpack the signalling pathways that are affected by ACA. Therefore, this study focuses primarily on the effects of ACA on the inhibition of NF-kB targeted genes which involved in breast cancer cell proliferation (Cyclin D1; CCND1, MYC proto-oncogene; c-Myc), invasion (C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4; CXCR4, urokinase plasminogen activator; uPA), angiogenesis (VEGF, Basic fibroblast growth factor 2; FGF2). Subsequently, the *in vivo* antiproliferative activity of ACA in MCF7/LCC9 grafted zebrafish xenograft model. Additionally, the signalling mechanisms of ACA via the growth factor receptors including HER2 and its downstream molecules such as MAPK/ERK1/2 and PI3K/AKT. Also, the effect of ACA on the abolishment of NCOA3 transcriptional activity and protein expression since NCOA3 the important co-activator of ER and is phosphorylated by ERK1/2. Therefore, the expression of NCOA3 protein could be altered by the effect of ACA.

# **1.8 Hypothesis**

- ACA exhibits its antiproliferation effects through inhibition of HER2, NCOA3, AKT, and ERK1/2 which are key molecules involved in endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells.

- ACA inhibits the mRNA expression of NF-κB targeted genes which are reported to be overexpressed in endocrine-resistant breast cancer namely, proliferative factors (*CCND1*, *C-myc*), invasive factors (*uPA*, *CXCR4*), angiogenic factors (*VEGF*, *FGF2*).

- ACA inhibits proliferation of endocrine-resistant breast cancer in zebrafish xenograft model.

# **1.9 Experimental design**

The experiment is divided into four parts: Isolation and purification, *in vitro* anticancer activities, *in vivo* zebrafish model, and molecular docking.



**Figure 1.8.1.** Flow chart of experimental design. There are 4 main sections of the experiment. Firstly, isolation and purification which divides into 3 subsections namely, extraction, purification, and structural elucidation. Secondly, *in vitro* anticancer activities which are divided into antiproliferation, apoptosis induction, anti-invasion, and anti-angiogenesis. Thirdly, *in vivo* zebrafish model which consists of toxicity test, tumour engraftment and proliferation, and antiproliferation. Finally, molecular docking.

# **CHAPTER 2 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY**

### 2.1 Cell lines and its characteristics

The human ER positive breast cancer (Michigan Cancer Foundation-7; MCF7) (American Type Culture Collection (ATCC<sup>®</sup>) HTB-22<sup>TM</sup>) cell line was purchased from ATCC, USA. The tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer (MCF7/ Lombardi Cancer Center 2; LCC2) and tamoxifen/fulvestrant-resistant breast cancer (MCF7/LCC9) cell lines were obtained from Dr. Robert Clarke (Georgetown University Medical center, Washington DC, USA).

The MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cells are sublines of the ovariandependent human breast cancer cell line MCF7 (228). These cell lines were established after isolation from one of three small, slowly-proliferating MCF7 tumours in vivo in ovariectomised-athymic nude mice (MIII) after 6 months of inoculation (229). The initial MCF7/MIII line was further passaged in ovariectomised nude mice and re-established in vitro as the continuous cell line MCF7/LCC1 (ovarian-independent) (230). The baseline level of oestrogen receptor was equivalent in MCF7/MIII, MCF7/LCC1, and MCF7 (230). The basal level of oestrogenregulated pS2 mRNA was evaluated and shown to be higher in MCF7/MIII and MCF7/LCC1 compared to the parental MCF7 cell (230). The ovarian-independent breast cancer cells (MCF7/MIII and MCF7/LCC1) showed higher sensitivity to oestrogen, which was associated with elevation of the expression of progesterone receptor (229).

The oestrogen-independent MCF7/LCC2 (tamoxifen-resistant) cell line was derived from the oestrogen-responsive MCF7/LCC1 after continuous exposure to 10-

6M of 4-hydroxytamoxifen for 5 years (231). MCF7/LCC2 is still sensitive to the inhibitor, ICI 182,780 (fulvestrant) similar to MCF7 cells (231). MCF7/LCC2 cell line was reported to have expression of basal progesterone mRNA level comparable to parental MCF7 cell (232). The MCF7/LCC9 cell line was derived from MCF7/LCC1 after continuous exposure to ICI 182,780 (fulvestrant), and showed cross-resistance to tamoxifen, although these cells have never been exposed to the drug (228). MCF7/LCC9 cell line was reported to have higher baseline mRNA level of progesterone receptor compared to parental MCF7 cell (228).



Figure 2.1.1. The derivation of MCF7 sublines MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 (228)

In this study MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 were selected for use as representatives of the most common oestrogen receptor-positive breast cancer cells which have developed resistance to hormonal therapy post-treatment, and hence relevant to endocrine-resistant breast cancer patients. In our lab, routine confirmation of the resistance of cell lines was performed using real-time qPCR to determine the expression of genes involved in endocrine-resistant breast cancer such as ESR1, NCOA3, and HER2.

# **2.2 Materials**

0.4% Trypan blue dye (Sigma, USA)

1' Acetoxychavicol acetate (ACA) isolated from fresh Alpinia galanga rhizomes

4-Hydroxytamoxifen (Sigma, USA)

5-Bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate (BCIP) (Sigma, USA)

96-well, 24-well, 6-well plates (Corning, USA)

Acetone (Sigma, USA) มาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Alkaline phosphatase (AP) buffer (Sigma, USA)

Autopipette (Gilson, USA)

BD matrigel matrix (Biosciences, USA)

Biohazard laminar flow hood (ESSCO, USA)

CellTracker<sup>™</sup> CM-DiI Dye (Thermo Fisher, US)

Centrifuge (Hettich, USA)

Charcoal strip fetal bovine serum (Gibco, USA)

Crystal violet (Sigma, USA)

Deuterochloroform (CDCL<sub>3</sub>) (Sigma, USA)

Diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC) (Molekula, UK)

Dimethyl sulfloxide (DMSO) (Sigma, USA)

Dulbecco's modified eagle's medium (DMEM) (Gibco, USA)

Ethyl acetate (Sigma, USA)

Fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gibthai)

Forceps

Fresh Alpinia galanga (L.) Willd rhizomes

Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) spectrometer (PerkinElmer, USA)

Gel electrophoresis (Bio-Rad, USA)

Hemocytometer (Brand, Germany)

Hexane (Sigma, USA)

ImProm-IITM Reverse Transcription system (Promega, USA)

Improved MEM (Gibco, USA)

Insulin, Human recombinant (Gibco, USA)

Light microscope (Nikon, USA)

Matrigel invasion chambers (Corning USA)

GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSIT

Micromass LCT mass spectrometer (Waters, USA)

Minimum Essential Medium (Gibco, USA)

Methanol (MeOH) (Sigma, USA)

Methylthiazolyldiphenyl- tetrazolium bromide (MTT) (Sigma, USA)

NanoDrop<sup>™</sup> One/One<sup>C</sup> Microvolume UV-Vis Spectrophotometer with Wi-Fi

(Thermo Fisher, US)

Nitro blue tetrazolium (NBT) (Sigma, USA)

Non-essential amino acids (NEAA) (Gibco, USA)

Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) spectrometer AV500 (Bruker, USA)

Penicillin/streptomycin (Hyclone, USA)

Phenylthiourea (PTU) (Sigma, USA)

Phosphate-Buffered Saline/Tween-RNAse (PBST-RNAse) (Sigma, USA)

Polysorbate 20 (Tween 20) (Sigma, USA)

Potassium chloride (KCl) (Sigma, USA)

Primers (Bio Basic, Canada)

Promega GoTaq<sup>TM</sup> qPCR Master Mix (Promega, UK)

Promega ImProm-II<sup>TM</sup> Reverse Transcription (Promega, UK)

Spectrophotometer (Shimadzu, Japan)

Sodium chloride (NaCl) (Sigma, USA)

T-25 and T-75 tissue Culture flasks (Corning, USA)

Taq polymerase (Vivantis, USA)

Tetramethylsilane (TMS) (Sigma, USA)

Thermocycler machine (Eppendorf, USA)

TLC silica gel 60 F254 (Merck, USA)

Tricaine methanesulfonate (MS222) (Sigma, USA)

TRiZol reagent (Invitrogen, UK)

UV-Vis Spectrophotometer, UV-1800 (Shimadzu, Japan)

Vortex mixer (Scientific industries, USA)

Zinc solution (Gibco, USA)

Zebrafish apparatus

- Eppendorf FemtoJet 4i (Eppendorf, UK)
- G-100/100L Thin-walled glass capillary (Narishige, Japan)

- Handmade hair-inserted glass capillary loop
- Leica stereo microscope S9i (Leica, UK)
- Nikon microscope camera (model DS-Ri2) (Nikon, US)
- Nikon stereo microscope SMZ18 (Nikon, USA)
- P-1000 Micropipette puller (Sutter Instrument Company, USA)
- Pneumatic Microinjector IM300 (Narishige, Japan)
- Zebrafish Housing (ITS-Z) (IWAKI Aquatic, USA); additional information can be found in **Appendix D**



# 2.3 Methods

**2.3.1 Preparation of crude extract and purification of 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate** (ACA)

The fresh *A. galanga* (L.) Willd rhizomes were collected locally in Bangkok, Thailand (November 2017). The plant was identified by Dr. Thanapat Songsak (Department of Pharmacognosy, College of Pharmacy, Rangsit University, Thailand). A voucher specimen number was CP-Ag-29 and the specimen was placed in the College of Pharmacy, Rangsit University, Thailand.



าหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

**Figure 2.3.1.1.** The rhizome of greater galangal. The figure shows fresh rhizomes of *A. galangal.* 

The fresh *A. galanga* rhizomes (10.0 kg) were chopped to increase the surface area for performing cold extraction using hexane as an extraction solvent. The crude extract in hexane was prepared from raw material by cold percolation for 5 minutes. The process of extraction was repeated three times with hexane. The hexane extracts were combined and concentrated under vacuum at 40  $^{\circ}$ C and pooled together to

obtain 7.2 g of brown oily substance (crude hexane extract). After that crude hexane extract was initial screened by performing spot thin layer chromatography (spot TLC) with the condition of Hexane 8 : Ethyl acetate 2 was performed and followed by UV detection using UV-Vis Spectrophotometer SHIMADZU, UV-1800 of spot TLC of ACA at the wavelength 254 nm.

After that crude hexane extract (7.2 g) was chromatographed on silica gel glass column. This was eluted with stepwise gradient of hexane-acetone. The fraction (hexane 85 : acetone 15) was collected separately and concentrated in a vacuum at 40 °C. The yield of pure 1' acetoxychavicol acetate (ACA) after process through column chromatography was 6.5 g and will be used for further analysis and for the study of anticancer activities.

# 2.3.2 Analytical procedures

To identify the bioactive compound in the column chromatographic fraction (hexane 85 : acetone 15). This fraction was responsible for cytotoxic activity and was further subjected to characterisation of bioactive compound ACA (233, 234).

Proton nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>1</sup>H NMR) and carbon thirteen nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>13</sup>C NMR) experiments were carried out on a Bruker AV500 NMR spectrometer, operating at 500 MHz for hydrogen and carbon and then recorded in CDCl<sub>3</sub> with tetramethylsilane as an internal standard. Electrospray ionization (ESI)/Time-of-Flight (TOF) mass spectra were obtained from a Micromass LCT mass spectrometer.

# 2.3.3 Maintenance of MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, MCF7/LCC9, and PCS201-010 cell lines

ER positive (MCF7), tamoxifen-resistant (MCF7/LCC2),and tamoxifen/fulvestrant-resistant (MCF7/LCC9) cell lines were cultured on 25-cm<sup>2</sup> flasks with MEM (minimum essential media) medium with 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 U/ml streptomycin, and incubated at 37°C in humidified air and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. While the normal neonatal fibroblast (PCS201-010) cell line was culture in DMEM (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium) high glucose and supplement with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 U/ml streptomycin. Culture medium was changed every 48 hours to assure that essential nutrition was available to the cells. For further experiments, MCF7, MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines were sub-cultured at 85-100% confluency by using trypsin-EDTA (Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid) mixture to detach cells from the coated plate surface and seeded into 25-cm<sup>2</sup> flasks or onto 96 well plates (5000 cells/well) for in

*vitro* study.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

# 2.3.4 In vitro studies

#### 2.3.4.1 Viability assay

The cytotoxic activity of 1' acetoxychavicol acetate in MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 cells was assessed by the (methylthiazolyldiphenyl-tetrazolium bromide assay) MTT assay.

Cell viability/cytotoxicity was determined by a modified MTT assay as previously described (235) Cells (5  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup> cells/mL) were seeded into each well of a 96-well plate and incubated for 24 hours. The cells were exposed to ACA at 0 - 60 µM for MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 cells. While the PCS201-010 cells were treated with ACA for toxicity test at the concentration up to 320 µM. Tamoxifen (0 - 20 µM) was used as a positive control for MCF7 cells. Palbociclib (0 - 20 µM) was used for MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cells. The negative control/vehicle control used in the study was 0.1% v/v ethanol (0.1% EtOH) in completed medium. In addition, this study was also performed the effects of vehicle control on untreated control (completed medium). All cell lines were treated and incubated with 3-time points; 24 hours, 48 hours, and 72 hours. Following the treatment incubation time, the medium was then replaced by MTT (final concentration 0.5 mg/mL) and incubated for a further 4 hours at 37°C. The purple formazan crystals were dissolved in DMSO. The relative number of viable cells was assessed by measuring the absorbance of the formazan product at 570 nm with a microplate reader (BioTek Synnergy, USA). After the initial exploratory experiments, the MTT assay was performed in triplicates for each cell line with ACA concentrations ranging from 0 - 60  $\mu$ M for the determination of  $IC_{50}$ . All the work was repeated in three independent experiments.

The calculation of the percentage cell viability as shown below:

#### Mean absorbance obtained from treated cells x 100

Mean absorbance obtained from untreated cells

The half inhibition concentration ( $IC_{50}$ ) from 48 hours incubation and diluted for other two concentrations as twofold dilution ( $IC_{25}$  and  $IC_{12.5}$ ) will be used for further studies.

In the *in vitro* viability test, there were two positive controls have been used for the study. 4OH-Tam was used as a positive control for MCF7 cell while palbociclib was used for MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 as these two cell lines were resistant to hormonal treatment in which palbociclib was recommended for clinically used as combination with endocrine therapy in ER positive advanced breast cancers (236).

ACA could have different potency for each cell line. Therefore, the concentration used for further studies was very critical in terms of the accuracy and precision of the data. In all gene and protein analysis studies, all cell lines were incubated with ACA for 24 hours. However, the  $IC_{50}$  at 48 hours of ACA treatment will be used for gene and protein assays. This is because the  $IC_{50}$  value at 24 hours incubation was higher concentration compared to  $IC_{50}$  at 48 hours incubation. Thus, the higher concentration will drastically cause cell death which could affect and alter the expression and function of genes and proteins. Therefore,  $IC_{50}$  values at 48 hours incubation were the selected concentration for the equally efficacious effect of ACA for each cell line and for not causing a significant cell death interfering the results of experiments.
#### 2.3.4.2 Invasion assay

The inhibitory effect of 1' acetoxychavicol acetate on cell migration and invasion in endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells was investigated by the matrigel invasion assay

MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines were cultured on 24-well plate at 37°C in humidified air and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 24 hours. Following this incubation period, the medium was removed and replaced with fresh, containing ACA at three non-toxic concentrations. Medium with 0.1% EtOH was used as a negative control. Cells were incubated for 48 hours before coating the invasion chamber with matrigel and incubating for another 24 hours before performing further experiments. After the incubation of matrigel, the cells were harvested using Trypsin/EDTA and plated 1 ×  $10^5$  cells/mL for 150 µL of cells suspension into the upper chamber (final cell density 50,000 cells in 150 µL). Then the cells were treated with 7.5 and 15 µM ACA in MCF7/LCC2 cells and 10 and 20 µM ACA in MCF7/LCC9 cells then incubate for 24 hours. 0.1% EtOH was used as a negative control. After the incubation, non-invaded cells were scraped off from the upper chamber with a cotton swab and fixed the invasive cells with 4% formaldehyde and stained with crystal violet dye. Invasive cells were counted for 25 random fields under an inverted microscope and analysed the proportion invasiveness.

The proportion invasiveness was calculated from the formula below; Proportion invasiveness (%) = <u>number of invaded cells in treated group</u> x 100% number of invaded cells in control group

#### 2.3.4.3 Gene expression analysis

The inhibitory effects of 1' acetoxychavicol acetate on the expression of genes and proteins involved in cell proliferation, migration, invasion, angiogenesis, and tamoxifen resistance were studied by quantitative real-time-PCR.

MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines (50,000 cell/well) were cultured on a 6-well plate at 37°C in humidified air and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 24 hours. After that medium was removed and added 1' acetoxychavicol acetate at the concentration of  $IC_{50}$ ,  $IC_{25}$ , and IC<sub>12.5</sub>. Ethanol at 0.1% was used as a negative control then incubated for 24 hours. RNA was extracted from the cells after complete incubation using Trizol reagent. The cells were rinsed using PBS and lysed with 1 mL of Trizol reagent and scraped off the adherent cells. Then, the Trizol added cells were transferred into 0.2 mL tubes and added 200 µL of chloroform (0.2 mL of chloroform/1 mL Trizol) and vortexed the sample vigorously for 15 seconds and incubated 3 minutes at room temperature. After that, the samples were centrifuged at 12,000 g, 4 degree Celsius for 15 minutes. After centrifugation, the samples were separated into lower pink, phenolchloroform phase, an interphase, and a colourless upper aqueous phase. The samples in upper aqueous phase were transferred carefully into new 0.2 mL tubes as the RNA remained mainly in the aqueous phase. The samples were then going through precipitation steps. The samples were mixed with 500 µL of isopropyl alcohol (0.5 mL of isopropyl alcohol/1 mL Trizol) and incubated the samples at room temperature for 10 minutes. The samples were centrifuged at 12,000 g, 4 degree Celsius for 10 minutes. After that, the supernatants were removed, and the RNA pellets were washed using 1 mL of 75% ethanol/DEPC-treated water and centrifuged 7,500 g at 4 degree Celsius for 5 minutes.

Before performing real-time qPCR, the RNA was measured the concentration via spectrophotometry using NanoDrop spectrophotometer. The RNA was air-dried for 10 minutes and diluted the RNA with 20  $\mu$ L of DEPC-treated water then measured absorbance at 260 nm and 280 nm. After that, the RNA was converted to complementary DNA (cDNA) using ImProm-II reverse transcription system.

The real-time qPCR using SYBR green was performed using cDNA as a template with primers (**Table 2.3.1.3.1**) specific for Cyclin D1 (*CCND1*), *NCOA3*, MYC proto-oncogene (*c-Myc*), *CXCR4*, *uPA*, *VEGF*, and *FGF2* under the following conditions: amplification at 95°C for 15 seconds, extension at 60°C for 30 seconds and denaturation at 72°C for 30 seconds for 40 cycles followed by a melt curve stage (95°C for 15 seconds, 60°C for 1 minutes, 95°C for 15 seconds), and holding stage (50°C for 2 minutes, 95°C for 2 minutes) for one cycle.

 Table 2.3.4.3.1. Primer sets and sequence for studied genes

Primer set	Primer	Sequence	
Cyclin D1	Forward	5'-GGATGCTGGAGGTCTGCGAGGAAC-3'	
	Reverse	5'-GAGAGGAAGCGTGTGAGGCGGTAG-3'	
CXCR4	Forward	5'-AATGTAGTAAGGCAGCCAACAG-3'	
	Reverse	5'-CTTCTACCCCAATGACTTGTGG-3'	
NCOA3	Forward	5'-GGTAGGCGGCATGAGTATGTC-3'	
	Reverse	5'-TGTTACTGGAACCCCCATACCT-3'	
VEGF	Forward	5'-GAGATGAGCT TCCTACAGCAC-3'	
	Reverse	5'-TCACCGCCTCGGCTTGTCACAT-3'	
FGF2	Forward	5'-GAGAAGAGCGACCCACACG-3'	
	Reverse	5'-GGCACACACTCCCTTGATAGA-3'	
uPA	Forward	5'-AAATGCTGTGTGTGCTGCTGAC-3'	
	Reverse	5'- AGGCCATTCTCTTCCTTGGT-3'	
c-Myc	Forward	5'- AAAGGCCCCCAAGGTAGTTA-3'	
	Reverse	5'- GCACAAGAGTTCCGTAGCTG-3'	

## 2.3.4.4 Protein expression analysis: Western blotting analysis

Whole-cell extracts were prepared by lysing the cells with RIPA buffer containing 150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris HCl (pH 8), 1% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, and protease inhibitor and phosphatase inhibitor cocktails (Sigma- Aldrich). The cell extracts were separated by 7.5% SDS-PAGE or 17% 7.5% SDS-PAGE and transferred onto a polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane (Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA). Samples were incubated in blocking buffer [0.1%

Tween 20 and 5% nonfat milk powder in Tris-buffered saline (TBS)] for 1 h at room temperature. Afterward, the membrane was incubated with primary antibody in blocking buffer overnight at 4 °C before being washed twice with TBST (0.1% Tween in TBS) and incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody at the concentration of 1:3000 in blocking buffer for 1 h at room temperature. The blot was developed using ECL Western blotting substrate (Millipore) and analysed using a luminescent image analyzer (C-DiGit Blot Scanner, US). The primary antibodies used were the following;

- rabbit anti-NCOA3 antibody 1:1000 dilution (Cell signaling Technology)
- rabbit anti-HER2 antibody 1:1000 dilution (Cell signaling Technology)
- rabbit anti-ERK 1/2 (phospho-Thr202/Tyr204) antibody 1:1000 dilution (Abcam)
- rabbit Anti-AKT1 (phospho S473) antibody 1:1000 dilution (Abcam)
- rabbit anti-c-Myc antibody 1:1000 dilution (Cell signaling Technology)
- mouse anti- uPA antibody 1:1000 dilution (Abcam)
- mouse anti-FGF2 antibody 1:1000 dilution (Merck Millipore)
- mouse anti-BCL2 antibody 1:1000 dilution (Cell signaling Technology)
- rabbit anti-MCL1 antibody 1:1000 dilution (Cell signaling Technology)
- rabbit anti-PARP antibody 1:1000 dilution (Cell signaling Technology)

- rabbit anti-cleaved-PARP antibody 1:1000 dilution (Cell signaling Technology)
- rabbit anti-p-SAPK/JNK antibody 1:1000 dilution (Cell signaling Technology)
- rabbit anti-SAPK/JNK antibody 1:1000 dilution (Cell signaling Technology)
- rabbit anti-GADPH antibody 1:2000 dilution (Sigma-Aldrich)
- anti-rabbit IgG, HRP-linked antibody 1:2000 dilution (Cell signaling Technology)
- anti-mouse IgG, HRP-linked antibody 1:2000 dilution (Cell signaling Technology)

## 2.3.5 In vivo studies

## 2.3.5.1 Acute toxicity test

The zebrafish embryo toxicity test was performed according to the published Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Test Guidelines (TG236) for a Fish Embryo Toxicity (FET) test (237). For each experiment 20 fertilised eggs at the beginning of the epiboly stage (0.50 hours) were used. The selected eggs were exposed to 1,000  $\mu$ L of 10, 20, 40, 80, and 100  $\mu$ M ACA in 0.1% EtOH in E3/PTU medium. The samples were incubated at 28°C for 24, 48, 72, and 96 hours post fertilisation (hpf) and embryonic development was observed with Leica microscope after 24, 48, 72, and 96 hpf. The safety concentration from this experiment will be used for further *in vivo* antiproliferation of ACA. The information from this toxicity tests were used as a supportive data for the safety concentration for further *in vivo* experiment.

## 2.3.5.2 Zebrafish vessel staining Dehydration of zebrafish

The zebrafish embryos were dechorionated and fixed at 72 and 96 hpf with 4% Paraformaldehyde (PFA) - store at 4° C overnight. After that fixed embryos were rinsed with Phosphate-Buffered Saline/Tween-RNAse (PBST-RNAse) free for 5 mins twice by using a shaker. The embryos were then dehydrated with methanol (MeOH) in a 25% increase series. The dehydration steps starting with 25% MeOH/75% PBST-RNAse free for 3 minutes, 50% MeOH/50% PBST-RNAse free for 3 minutes, 75% MeOH/25% PBST-RNAse free for 3 minutes, and 100% MeOH for 3 minutes twice. After finish the dehydration process the embryos were kept in in 100% MeOH and stored at -20° C for future vessel staining experiment as it can last for 3 months.

## Rehydration of zebrafish

Before using the dehydrated embryos for performing vessel staining, the embryos were required to perform the rehydration by reverse steps of dehydration process. In the rehydration process the embryos were performed without the use of shaker.

#### Staining (alkaline phosphatase activity), RT

The embryos were rinsed with alkaline phosphatase (AP) buffer/0.1%Tween for 10 mins twice. Freshly prepare 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate (BCIP)/nitro blue tetrazolium (NBT) staining mix (substrate of AP) by using NBT stock solution 1  $\mu$ L, BCIP stock solution 3.5  $\mu$ L and adjust with AP buffer/0.1%Tween to get 1 ml. Then the embryos were moved from 1.5 ml tube into 24 well-plate and removed AP buffer/0.1%Tween. Added 300  $\mu$ L of NBT/BCIP staining mix into the embryos and incubated in the dark for 60 minutes and observed every 15 minutes under microscope. After 60 minutes of incubation, PBST-RNAse free was added to stop the staining reaction after that images of the vessels were taken. The optimisation of staining time was validated before performing the experiment (additional information can be found in **Appendix E**). The results from this test will be taken into consideration further *in vivo* study of ACA.

## 2.3.5.3 Antiproliferation

The early-stage embryos (48 hpf) of *Danio Rerio* (Tubingen AB) were used in *in vivo* observation of growth changes in CM-Dil-labeled MCF7/LCC9 cell transplantation, and were immune insufficient to allow the growth of human cells. Before the injection process, zebrafish embryos needed to be selected for a particular stage followed by dechorionation. Then the embryos were anaesthetised using 0.4% tricaine and mounted on the agar for the nanoinjection. ACA was treated into zebrafish medium at 1 day post injection (dpi). The MCF7/LCC9 cell growth in zebrafish embryos was observed at 1 day post injection and 3 days post injection (238). CM-Dil-labeled MCF7/LCC9 cells injected in the yolk of zebrafish could be observed by fluorescence microscopy 1 dpi, and retained fluorescent-labeled MCF7/LCC9 cell for 3 days, providing an sufficient range for ACA screening (239). Quantification of tumour area (n = 23/group) was performed using image acquisition (LAS Va.12), quantitative image software.



**Figure 2.3.5.3.1.** The processes of nanoinjection of MCF7/LCC9 labeled CM-dil into the yolk sac of zebrafish. The zebrafish embryos at 48 hpf were dechorinated and anaesthetized before the injection. The tumour areas of the injected zebrafishes were observed the tumour area everyday under fluorescent microscope for 3 days.

#### **2.3.6 Molecular docking simulation**

The molecular docking simulation was performed by Dr. Panupong Mahalapbutr. The crystal structures of HER2 (PDB ID: 3RCD (240)), AKT1 (PDB ID: 4GV1 (241)), ERK2 (PDB ID: 5NHJ (242)), ER (PDB ID: 3ERT (243)), uPA (PDB ID: 5YC7 (244)), CDK6 (PDB ID: 1XO2 (245)), and FGF2 (PDB ID: 1FQ9 (246)) were obtained from Protein Data Bank. The three-dimensional (3D) structure of all the studied ligands were built and fully optimised by the HF/6-31(d) level of theory using Gaussian09 program (247). The protein-ligand complexes were generated using CDOCKER module implemented in Accelrys Discovery Studio 2.5<sup>Accelrys Inc.</sup> (248) with 100 independent docking runs. Note that the co-crystalised inhibitors were defined as docking centre with a spherical radius of 15 Å.

## **2.3.7 Data and Statistical Analysis**

Results were represented as mean and standard deviation. Data was analysed and graphed with GraphPad Prism, version 6.0. The *in vivo* study, G power programme was used for sample size calculation and tumour area and SIV length determination was analysed using image acquisition (LAS Va.12), quantitative image software. Significant differences between the mean values within the group were determined by using a Student's t test or one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a Tukey's test for further comparison. The level of significant was set up at  $p \le 0.05$ .

## 2.3.8 Ethical consideration

The human cell lines used in this study were reviewed and exempted by the Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University (IRB Number: 616/60). The animal ethic for zebrafish study was reviewed by Siriraj Animal Care and Use Committee (SiACUC), Faculty of Medicine, Siriraj Hospital (SI-ACUP 006/2559).



## **CHAPTER 3 STRUCTURAL ELUCIDATION OF ACA**

#### 3.1 Results: Structural elucidation of 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate

The purity of crude hexane extract was initially checked by spot thin layer chromatography which was comparable with the crude working standard of galangal extract (**Figure 3.1.1**). After the initial check with spot TLC, the crude hexane extract was further purified through column chromatography. Subsequently, the chromatographic fractions of the compound were evaluated the purity by using <sup>1</sup>H-NMR, <sup>13</sup>C -NMR, and mass spectroscopy and compared the spectra with published purified ACA.



**Figure 3.1.1**. Spot thin layer chromatography of crude hexane extract. The figure showed crude hexane extract of ACA from the experiment (left lane) and the crude working standard (right lane)

The typical chemical shift values of organic compound in part per million (ppm) relative to tetramethylsilane was showed for emphasising proton in functional groups, which bolster the interpretation of the chemical shift values of ACA in <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum. The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum was interpreted into four mains information. Firstly, the number of groups of signals there were in the spectrum. Secondly, types of proton indicated as the chemical shift of each group. Thirdly, the number of protons of each group indicated as an integration which was the area under the peaks that proportioned with proton numbers. Finally, the coupling patterns which represented proton numbers of adjacent carbon that caused the signals to be split into "n+1" lines.

The <sup>1</sup>H NMR data (**Figure 3.1.2 - 3.1.3, Table 3.1.1**) showed 14 protons in the molecule. Two symmetrical doublets at 7.38 and 7.08 ppm were four protons on a para-substituted benzene ring. The proton resonances at 5.99 (1H, *m*), 5.38 (1H, *dd*, *J* = 16.2, 1.2 Hz), 6.23 (1H, *d*, *J* = 6.0 Hz), correspond to protons on 2' and 3' – olefinic carbons, respectively. The signal at 5.23 (1H, *d*, *J* = 10.2, 1.2 Hz) correspond to proton 1' carbon. Two methyl signals of two acetyl groups were clearly due to the presence of two singlet signal at 2.27 (3H, *s*), 2.08 (3H, *s*).



**Figure 3.1.2**. The typical chemical shift values of organic compounds (249). The diagram shows the chemical shift values of organic compounds in parts per million (ppm) relative to tetramethylsilane.





Figure 3.1.3. <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum of ACA

The <sup>13</sup>C NMR (**Figure 3.1.4, Table 3.1.1**) displayed the <sup>13</sup>C signals. Among these, two methyl signals were clear due to the presence of chemical shift value of 20.8 and 20.9 ppm. Two carbon signals at 169.1 and 169.6 ppm were typically from carboxyl groups. Two parts of carbon signal have chemical shifts at 128.2 and 135.8 ppm, and two quaternary carbon signals at 136.2 and 150.4 confirming a para substituted benzene ring. The downfield sp2 carbons at  $\delta c$  150.2 (C-1) indicated the presence of oxygen group attached to an aromatic carbon. The carbon signal with the chemical shift of 121.5 and 116.8 ppm should be assigned as sp2 carbons at 2' and 3', respectively. The downfield sp3 carbons at  $\delta c$  75.3 (1'-C) indicated the presence of oxygen that attached to a carbon. Combination of the fragments mentioned above led to assignment of structure of compound ACA. Therefore compound A was identified as (1'S)-1'-acetoxychavichol acetate (250).

The high-resolution mass spectrum (Figure 3.1.5) showed a molecular ion peak [M+Na] at m/z 257.0786 corresponding to a molecular formula of  $C_{13}H_{14}O_4$ +Na. The identification of ACA structure was confirmed by the NMR and mass spectra with published articles of Azuma *et al.* (251). The structure of 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate and its appearance were showed in Figure 3.1.6 (additional information can be found in Appendix A).



Figure 3.1.4. <sup>13</sup>C-NMR spectrum of ACA

Position	1' Acetoxychavichol acetate			
	$\delta$ c, mult. <sup>a</sup>	$\delta_{ m H}$ , mult., $J$ in Hz		
1	150.2, <i>s</i>			
2	128.2, <i>d</i>	7.08 d, (8.5)		
3	135.8, <i>d</i>	7.38 <i>d</i> , (8.4)		
4	136.2, <i>s</i>			
5	135.8, <i>d</i>	7.38 <i>d</i> , (8.4)		
6	128.2, d	7.08 <i>d</i> , (8.5)		
1'	75.3, d	5.23, <i>dd</i> , (10.2, 1.2)		
2'	116.8, <i>d</i>	5.99, <i>m</i>		
3'a	121.5, <i>d</i>	5.38, <i>dd</i> , (16.2, 1.2)		
3'b	States and a state of the state	6.23, <i>d</i> , (6.0)		
1'-COO	169.1, <i>s</i>	- - -		
-CH3	20.9, q	2.08, <i>s</i>		
1-COO	169.6, <i>s</i>	un .		
-CH3	20.8, q	2.27, <i>s</i>		

Table 3.1.1. The <sup>1</sup>H and <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of 1' acetoxychavichol acetate



Figure 3.1.5. Mass spectrum of ACA. The figure shows a molecular ion peak [M+Na] at m/z 257.0786 corresponding to a molecular formula of  $C_{13}H_{14}O_4+Na$ .





Figure 3.1.6. Structure of 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate and the yellow oil of purified



## **3.2 Discussion**

Purified ACA is a natural product that exerts anticancer effects by inducing apoptosis, inhibiting angiogenesis and metastasis (172, 174). This study performed multidisciplinary processes of crude extraction, purification, and identification. Plant identification was essential as the source and period to collect the plant associated with the quality of plant and the number of significant compounds as well as the species of this genus was similar to each other (233). Also, the parts of the plant (e.g. leaves, pseudostem, roots, rhizomes, and aerial parts) are the critical factor as different parts of the plant can be extracted different plant-derived compounds in terms of the amount and type of major compounds (233). Besides, appropriate solvents and extraction techniques are also crucial for the extraction of different parts of the plant (252). The organic solvents that commonly used for plant-derived compounds extraction are methanol, ethanol, ethyl acetate, hexane, dichloromethane, aqueous, chloroform, and petroleum ether (233).

In this study, hexane was used as a solvent for cold extraction as it was nonpolar and effective for oil extraction. In this step, the rhizomes were chopped and ground using mortar into tiny pieces for increasing the surface area of contacting with the solvent to bolster a more efficient extraction. The crude hexane extract of ACA was performed spotted on thin layer chromatography and compared with crude extract of ACA from Chulabhorn Reseasrch Institute, Thailand. Then the crude extract was passed through column chromatography to isolate the purified fraction of ACA. The purified ACA was analysed by multidisciplinary spectroscopy to identify proton numbers and positions, as well as carbon groups in the structure. High-performance mass spectroscopy was performed to investigate the molecular weight of the purified ACA. The <sup>1</sup>H-NMR and <sup>13</sup>C-NMR spectra for ACA from this study were identical to the <sup>1</sup>H-NMR and <sup>13</sup>C-NMR spectra obtained from the working standard of Chulabhorn Research Institute, as well as spectra published by Azuma et al and Seo et al (160, 250, 251). Also, the high- performance mass spectroscopy spectrum demonstrated the molecular weight of purified ACA from this study as identical to the molecular weight of published ACA (253). Therefore, the recorded spectroscopy data confirmed that the pure compound was identical to 1'- acetoxychavicol acetate, using one-dimensional <sup>1</sup>H-NMR and <sup>13</sup>C-NMR spectroscopy followed by mass spectroscopy, compared to published ACA (250, 251, 253).

Identification of the chemical structure is essential as it is associated with the biological activity of such compound. Murakami and colleagues reported the SAR of ACA that the acetoxyl group at the para position and the acetoxyl group at 1' carbon position were compulsory for cytotoxic activity (254). This implied that the functional group at 1' position and the phenolic hydroxyl group needed to be acetylated. Also, the double bond at 2' carbon was essential for the activity (254). Different substitution groups of the compulsory groups affected the pharmacological activities of the compounds, for example, without the acetoxyl group at the para position and the para position as well as different orientational isomer of phenolic group of ACA can affected cytotoxic activity (254).

ACA isolated in this study was structural identity with published 1'acetoxychavicol acetate pure compound from the work of Murakami *et al* and Azuma *et al* (251, 254). The results also showed that ACA structure composed of type and orientation of substitution groups, and pharmacophore that was crucial for anticancer, which were acetoxyl group at the para position and the acetoxyl group at 1' carbon position as well as phenolic group at the para position. Also, the purity of ACA was more than 97% as shown by the recorded <sup>1</sup>H-NMR and <sup>13</sup>C-NMR spectra.



# CHAPTER 4 IN VITRO ACTIVITY OF ACA ON BREAST CANCER CELL LINES

#### 4.1 Results

#### 4.1.1 Cytotoxic activity of ACA on breast cancer cells

Prior performing the cytotoxic effect of ACA treatment on breast cancer cells, the effect of vehicle control (0.1%EtOH in completed medium) on cell viability compared to untreated control (completed medium) was examine in MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 cells at 24, 48, and 72 h (**Figure 4.1.1.1**). The result demonstrated that the vehicle control was not cytotoxic to the cells which can safely be used for dissolving ACA to be used for the further studies.

The percentage viability of MCF7 (Figure 4.1.1.2a), MCF7/LCC2 (Figure 4.1.1.2b), and MCF7/LCC9 (Figure 4.1.1.2c) significantly decreased after treated with ACA at increasing concentration (0-60  $\mu$ M) in the concentration- and time-dependent manners (Table 4.1.1.1). The bright field images of MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 after treatment with ACA for 48 hour has shown in Figure 4.1.1.3. The studied cell lines were treated for three different incubation time which were 24, 48, and 72 hours. There was a significant difference of IC<sub>50</sub> value in each cell line. The IC<sub>50</sub> value of ACA was higher in the endocrine-resistant cell lines (MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9) than a wide-type breast cancer cell line (MCF7). Therefore, the concentration used for further experiments needed to be selected based on the concentration acquired from the viability assay. The IC<sub>50</sub> value of ACA at 48-hour incubation time and its two-fold dilution of each cell line were selected and used for further *in vitro* experiments as the concentrations did not cause major cell death which

interfere the interpretation of the study results as further *in vitro* studies were treated ACA for 24 h treatment.

The positive controls in this study were chosen differently based on the standard treatment and sensitivity to the drug of a particular cell line. MCF7 was a tamoxifen sensitive cell line, and therefore, 4-hydroxy tamoxifen (4OH-TAM) was used as a positive control. MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 were no information reported the sensitivity to drugs; hence, the selection of positive control used for these two cell lines was selected using the information of known resistant-breast cancer cell lines. MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 had molecular characters similar to HER2-overexpressed cell lines such as SKBR3 and AU565 regarding ER, PR and HER2 (228, 255, 256). In addition, there was a report stated that the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, palbociclib (Pal) was effective for metastatic breast cancer (45, 257-259). Therefore, Pal was selected and used as a positive control for MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9.

Tamoxifen resistant test was also performed in MCF7, MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9. This experiment aimed to confirm that the resistant cell lines had higher IC<sub>50</sub> value compared to a wild-type MCF7. The result suggested that MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 was resistant to tamoxifen compared to MCF7 (Figure 4.1.1.4).



**Figure 4.1.1.1.** The effects of vehicle control on viability of untreated controls. The viability assay compared the effect of complete medium (untreated control) and 0.1%EtOH in complete medium (vehicle control) on MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 cells at 24, 48, and 72 h. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments (n = 3) and each experiment was performed in triplicate.



**Figure 4.1.1.2.** The viability assay of ACA. The percentage viability of MCF7 (a), MCF7/LCC2 (b), and MCF7/LCC9 cells (c) after treated with ACA at increasing concentration for 24, 48, and 72 h compared with vehicle control. The cell lines were treated with the positive controls for 48 h. A positive control used for MCF7 cell was 4-hydroxy tamoxifen (4OH-TAM) while palbociclib (Pal) was used for MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 (d). 0.1%EtOH was used as a vehicle control for ACA and 4OH-TAM treatment, while 0.2%DMSO was used as a vehicle control for Pal treatment. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments (n = 3) and each experiment was performed in triplicate,  $*p \le 0.05$ ,  $^0p \le 0.01$ ,  $#p \le 0.0001$  compared to the control.



Figure 4.1.1.3. Bright field images of MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 after

treatment with ACA for 48 h.

 Table 4.1.1.1. The comparison of IC<sub>50</sub> values of ACA on MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and

 MCF7/LCC9 cell lines

Cell lines	IC <sub>50</sub> (24 h)	IC <sub>50</sub> (48 h)	IC <sub>50</sub> (72 h)
MCF7	19.54 µM ± 1.24	$11.78 \ \mu M \pm 0.50^*$	$5.01 \ \mu M \pm 0.46^{*, **}$
MCF7/LCC2	$40.44 \ \mu M \pm 1.84$	$31.46 \ \mu M \pm 1.00^*$	$18.62 \ \mu M \pm 0.69^{*, \ **}$
MCF7/LCC9	$59.51 \ \mu M \pm 2.04$	$41.38 \ \mu M \pm 1.80^{*}$	$34.56 \ \mu M \pm 1.94^{*, \ **}$

IC<sub>50</sub> Values ( $\mu$ M) of ACA obtained by MTT assay after 24, 48, and 72 h of the treatment against MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines. Values shows as mean IC<sub>50</sub> ± SEM, n = 3, \**p*≤ 0.05 and \*\**p*≤ 0.05 compared to each particular cell at 24 and 48 hours of incubation time, respectively.



**Figure 4.1.1.4.** The effect of 4OH-Tam in MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines. Tamoxifen resistance was determined after treating cells with 4OH-Tam for 120 hours using MTT assay (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 3). The medium used for this assay was improved MEM (Gibco, USA) supplemented with 2% Charcoal stripped FBS, 1% penicillin streptomycin, and 1% insulin. The IC<sub>50</sub> values for MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 cells were 3.13  $\mu$ M  $\pm$  1.55, 5.71  $\mu$ M  $\pm$  2.70, and 5.98  $\mu$ M  $\pm$  2.19, respectively. 0.1%EtOH was used as a vehicle control. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments (n = 3) and each experiment was performed in triplicate, \**p* < 0.05 compared to control of each cell line and °*p* < 0.05 compared to MCF7 cell at the same concentration.

## **4.1.2** The *in vitro* toxicity test of ACA on primary dermal fibroblast cell (PCS201-010)

ACA has treated the cytotoxicity with primary dermal fibroblast (PCS201-010) cell for 48 hours, and the result showed that ACA up to 80  $\mu$ M did not significantly reduce the viability of the PCS201-010 cell (**Figure 4.1.2.1**). Therefore, the selected concentrations of ACA for the further experiments were selected with regard of both *in vitro* toxicity test from this experiment and the IC<sub>50</sub> of ACA on the previous *in vitro* viability test on studied breast cancer cell lines



HULALUNGKUKN UNIVEKSII

**Figure 4.1.2.1.** The *in vitro* toxicity test of ACA on PCS201-010. The percentage viability of primary dermal fibroblast (PCS201-010) cells was measured after treatment with ACA at increasing concentration for 48 h. The concentration of ACA up to 80  $\mu$ M caused no significant cytotoxicity to PCS201-010. 0.1%EtOH was used as a vehicle control. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments (n = 3) and each experiment was performed in triplicate,  ${}^{0}p \leq 0.01$  and  ${}^{\#}p \leq 0.0001$  compared to the control.

## 4.1.3 Antiproliferative activity of ACA in endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells

HER2 receptor is a receptor of tyrosine kinase which found to express in breast cancer approximately 20 - 30% (33). Current drugs treatment for breast cancer expressed HER2 receptor are trastuzumab mechanistic work by blocking HER2 receptor and lapatinib wherein blocking the tyrosine kinase domain inside the cytoplasm (260). However, the responsiveness of breast cancer cell is not preferable (261). This study showed the basal level of the studied proteins namely, HER2, NCOA3, AKT, c-Myc, uPA, ERK1/2, and FGF2. The result demonstrated the higher protein expression trend in endocrine-resistant cell lines compared to a wild-type MCF7 cell line (Figure 4.1.3.1). ACA showed the potential to downregulate HER2 receptor in all studied cell line. Albeit, ACA seems to have better effects on HER2 downregulation in tamoxifen-sensitive breast cancer MCF7 cell (Figure 4.1.3.2a) than those tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer MCF7/LCC2 (Figure 4.1.3.2b) and tamoxifen-fulvestrant resistant breast cancer MCF7/LCC9 cell (Figure 4.1.3.2c). These results can be interpreted that ACA has a preferable function on breast cancer resistant cell lines than the tamoxifen-sensitive breast cancer cells. It was confirmed by the statistical analysis from the results wherein ACA significantly reduced the expression of the HER2 protein level much more efficient in MCF7/LCC9 starting at IC<sub>25</sub> value. While in MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7, ACA can only downregulate HER2 expression at the highest concentration (IC $_{50}$  value) used in the study.



**Figure 4.1.3.1.** Basal level of studied proteins in MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines. The protein bands in western blots and bar charts of densitometry, showed the baseline expression levels of 7 studied proteins namely, HER2, NCOA3, AKT, c-Myc, uPA, ERK1/2, and FGF2 in MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9.



**Figure 4.1.3.2.** The effects of ACA on pHER2 and HER2 protein expressions on MCF7, MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines. The bar chart shows the expression level of pHER2 quantified with GAPDH, pHER quantified with total-HER2, and total form of HER2 quantified with GAPDH. ACA downregulated HER2 protein expression in ER positive tamoxifen sensitive MCF7 cell (a) and endocrine-resistant MCF7/LCC2 (b) and MCF7/LCC9 (c) cell lines at increasing concentrations after 24 hours of ACA treatment. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments (n = 3), \* $p \le 0.05$ , \*\* $p \le 0.01$ , \*\*\* $p \le 0.001$ , and \*\*\*\* $p \le 0.0001$  compared to vehicle control.

**Chulalongkorn University** 

Signalling cascades through PI3K/AKT and ERK1/2 also play an essential role in breast cancer progression and these molecules are downstream pivotal molecules of HER2 signalling (262). Also, both PI3K/AKT and ERK1/2 were involved in the phosphorylation of NCOA3 which was important in the proliferation and survival of breast cancer cell (39). Hyperactivation and overexpression of ERK1/2 and AKT were found in tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer cells (263). Overexpression and activation of growth factor receptors, such as EGFR, HER2 and IGF1R, drive the proliferation and survival through activation of MAPK and PI3K/AKT signalling pathways in endocrine-resistant breast cancer (37). Overexpression of constitutively active AKT in breast cancer cell lines can induce oestrogen independence and resistance to tamoxifen and fulvestrant (71), while inhibition of PI3K or AKT restores tamoxifen sensitivity (72).

The results of this study demonstrated that ACA showed less effects on the downregulation of pAKT and pERK1/2 on ER positive tamoxifen- sensitive MCF7. As ACA can only inhibit the expression of pAKT at the highest concentration (10  $\mu$ M) used for the treatment. Yet, there were no significant differences in the expression of pERK1/2 in ACA-treated MCF7 compared to control (**Figure 4.1.3.3a**). While ACA effect on MCF/LCC2 at the concentration of 7.5 – 30  $\mu$ M has shown the repression of pERK1/2 and pAKT (**Figure 4.1.3.3b**). Similarly, ACA at the concentration of 10 – 40  $\mu$ M has significantly down-regulated pERK1/2 and pAKT in MCF7/LCC9 (**Figure 4.1.3.3c**).

NCOA3 has been revealed to be overexpressed in breast cancers and pivotally involved in oestrogen-mediated cancer cell proliferation (264). In this experiment, NCOA3 mRNA level was significantly reduced in ACA-treated MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cells compared to the control. In wild-type ER positive tamoxifen sensitive MCF7 cell, ACA can significantly downregulate NCOA3 protein only at the highest concentration (**Figure 4.1.3.3a**). The NCOA3 protein expression was also significantly repressed in ACA-treated endocrine-resistant breast cancer MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cells as a dose-dependent manner (**Figure 4.1.3.3b-c**). The protein results in MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines were correlated with the gene results. This study showed that potentiality of ACA to inhibit the expression of NCOA3 was more potent in hormonal-resistant breast cancer cells than hormonal-sensitive cell.

This study highlighted that the effect of ACA on the inhibition of NCOA3 could relate with the abolishment of ERK pathway since NCOA3 is phosphorylated by ERK. Consequently, the transcription of ER-targeted genes is terminated. More importantly, this study suggested that the effects of ACA on breast cancer cells growth functioned through the inhibiting of AKT and ERK1/2 signalling pathways which was essential mechanisms of anti-oestrogen resistant breast cancer.

Correlatedly, the protein analysis of ACA treatment showed that ACA **CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** potentially downregulated c-Myc protein in ACA-treated MCF7 (**Figure 4.1.3.3a**), ACA-treated MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cells (**Figure 4.1.3.3b - c**).







\_ -

ACA (µM) 5 2.5 Ctrl

COP REPORTS

10

- 160 kDa

37 kDa

57 kDa

37 kDa

60 kDa

60 kDa

57 kDa

60 kDa 60 kDa

60 kDa 44 kDa 42 kDa 42 kDa 44 kDa 42 kDa 37 kDa

kDi



1.5

1.0

0.5

0.0

**Relative protein level** 



MCF7/LCC9





a

NCOA3

GAPDH

c-Myc

GAPDH

p-AKT

AKT (pan)

p-ERK1/2 ERK1/2

c-Myc

p-Akt

Akt (pan)

p-Erk1/2

total-Erk1/2 GAPDH

GAPDH


**Figure 4.1.3.3.** The effect of ACA on NCOA3, c-Myc, pAKT, and pERK1/2 protein expression in MCF7, MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines and mRNA level of NCOA3 in MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines. The bar chart represents the expression levels of pAKT relative to the total AKT protein and pERK1/2 relative with the total ERK1/2 protein. NCOA3 and c-Myc protein levels are expressed relative to GAPDH. ACA down-regulated pAKT and pERK1/2, NCOA3, and c-Myc protein expression in MCF7 (a), MCF7/LCC2 (b) and MCF7/LCC9 (c) cell lines at increasing concentrations after treatment for 24 h. NCOA3 mRNA expression (relative to GAPDH expression) in MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines (d) was also significantly downregulated in ACA-treated groups compared to vehicle control. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments (n = 3), \**p*  $\leq$ 0.05, \*\**p*  $\leq$  0.01, \*\*\**p*  $\leq$  0.001, and \*\*\*\**p*  $\leq$  0.0001 compared to vehicle control.

# 4.1.4 Inhibitory effects of ACA on the expression of NFκB targeted genes involved in cells migration/invasion and angiogenesis in endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells

NF $\kappa$ B plays a significant role in cancer progression, and especially it is a key associated between inflammation and cancer (265). There was also crosstalk between NF $\kappa$ B and ER signalling in endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells (189). The phosphorylation of IKK $\alpha$  can cause by the activation of PI3K signalling, resulting in both ER and NCOA3 increased its transcriptional activity and ultimately increased cell cycle progression (189).

In both ACA-treated MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cells showed the repression of the expression of NFxB targeted genes including, genes that responsible for cell proliferation; *CCND1* and *c-myc* in all three concentration (IC<sub>12.5</sub>, IC<sub>25</sub>, and IC<sub>50</sub>) used in the experiment (**Figure 4.1.4.1a - c**). For invasive factors; *CXCR4* and *uPA*, ACA showed that it was more effective in MCF7/LCC2 than MCF7/LCC9 cell lines as the concentration than significantly downregulated *CXCR4* and *uPA* was seen at the IC<sub>25</sub> value (**Figure 4.1.4.1c - d**). Regarding angiogenic factors, ACA can repress the expression of *VEGF* at the IC<sub>50</sub> value. On the other hand, the expression of *FGF2* was downregulated by ACA treatment at all three concentration in MCF7/LCC2 and at IC<sub>25</sub>, and IC<sub>50</sub> in MCF7/LCC9 (**Figure 4.1.4.1e - f**). Additionally, ACA can significantly downregulate uPA and FGF2 proteins in MCF7 cell line at the IC<sub>50</sub> (**Figure 4.1.4.2a**). While, ACA can repress the expression of IC<sub>25</sub> and IC<sub>50</sub> (**Figure 4.1.4.2b - c**).

This study revealed that ACA can inhibit the expression of genes involved in survival, metastasis/invasion, and angiogenesis of endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells through the NF $\kappa$ B regulated genes.





**Figure 4.1.4.1.** The inhibitory effects of ACA on down-regulation of *CCND1*, *C-myc*, *CXCR4*, *uPA*, *VEGF*, and *FGF2* mRNA expressions in MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines. The bar chart represents the expression of mRNA levels of studied genes quantified with GAPDH. ACA can significantly down-regulated *CCND1* (a), *C-myc* (b), *CXCR4* (c), *uPA* (d), *VEGF* (e), and *FGF2* (f) mRNA expressions (as measured using real-time qPCR) on MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines at increasing concentrations after the treatment for 24 hours. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments (n = 3), \*\* $p \le 0.001$ , \*\*\* $p \le 0.001$ , and \*\*\*\* $p \le 0.0001$  compared to vehicle control.



**Figure 4.1.4.2.** The effects of ACA on uPA and FGF2 protein expressions in MCF7, MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines. The bar chart represents the expression of uPA and FGF2 protein levels quantified with GAPDH. ACA downregulated the expression of uPA and FGF2 in MCF7 (a), MCF7/LCC2 (b), and MCF7/LCC9 (c) cell lines at increasing concentrations after the treatment for 24 h with ACA treatment. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments (n = 3),  $*p \le 0.05$ ,  $**p \le 0.01$ , and  $****p \le 0.0001$  compared to vehicle control.

4.1.5 Anti-invasive activity of ACA on endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells

The functional assay of ACA on cell invasion was performed using a matrigel invasion assay. The selected cell lines for this essay were MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 as these two cell lines were more aggressive invasion than the wild-type MCF7 cell (255).

This study suggested that ACA significantly inhibited cell invasion in endocrine-resistant breast cancer (**Figure 4.1.5.1a - b**) at non-toxic concentration. This pharmacological invasion assay showed that ACA inhibited invasion of MCF7/LCC2 at 7.5  $\mu$ M and 15  $\mu$ M, and in MCF7/LCC9 cell line ACA inhibited cell invasion at 10  $\mu$ M and 20  $\mu$ M. This implying that ACA can be a promised substance for inhibition of the cancer cell invasion in aggressive types of breast cancer.

However, *in vivo* study of ACA on antimetastasis and angiogenesis are still required to support ACA as an adjuvant treatment for breast cancer resistant to endocrine treatment in order to augment efficacy and reduce adverse drug reaction.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



**Figure 4.1.5.1.** The anti-invasive activity of ACA in MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines. The invasion assay showed that the relative of cell invasion (%) of MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 (**a**, **b**) cell lines treated with non-toxic concentration of ACA for 24 hours was significantly lower than the control. 0.1%EtOH was used as a vehicle control. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments (n = 3), \*\* $p \le 0.01$  and \*\*\* $p \le 0.001$  compared to vehicle control.

# 4.1.6 Shift towards induction of apoptosis

The loss of expression and activation of stress-activated kinases (SAPKs) or c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNKs) was reported to be involved in various cancers including breast cancer (266). To investigate the induction of apoptosis, protein expression of SAPK/JNK and anti-apoptosis proteins were studied. The three studied cell lines were treated with various concentrations of ACA for 24 hours. Interestingly, while ACA-treated MCF7 showed no significant changes in the expression of neither phospho-SAPK/JNK nor SAPK/JNK compared to non-treated MCF7, ACA treatment of MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines resulted in upregulation of phospho-SAPK/JNK and SAPK/JNK expression up to tenfold compared to the control. To further evaluate the induction of apoptosis, the expression of Mcl-1 and Bcl-2 were also analysed. ACA exert the ability to downregulate the anti-apoptotic protein Mcl-1 and Bcl-2 in all three studied cell lines. In addition, ACA exerted the apoptotic induction activity via cleavage of PARP and increase the expression of the cleaved form in all studied cells (**Figure 4.1.6.1**).

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



**Figure 4.1.6.1.** The effects of ACA on apoptotic induction. The bar chart represents the expression of SAPK/JNK, cleaved PARP, Mcl-1, and Bcl-2 protein levels quantified with GAPDH. ACA induced phospho-SAPK/JNK and cleaved PARP protein expression in MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines, while Mcl-1 and Bcl-2 were downregulated in all studied cell lines. The studied cell lines were treated with ACA at increasing concentrations for 24 hours. 0.1%EtOH was used as a vehicle control. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments (n = 3), \* $p \le 0.05$ , \*\* $p \le 0.01$ , \*\*\* $p \le 0.001$ , and \*\*\*\* $p \le 0.0001$ compared to untreated control.

#### **4.2 Discussion**

In the viability study, ACA exerted the growth inhibition of MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines in 3-time points (24, 48, 72 hours) at increasing concentrations and the IC<sub>50</sub> values of each particular time point was calculated. From the comparison of IC<sub>50</sub> value of each incubation time, ACA showed cytotoxic activity as a dose dependent manner. Besides, when compare the IC<sub>50</sub> value of all three cell lines at 3-time points. The result showed that there was a significant difference between the IC<sub>50</sub> value of each time point of the same cell line. To be more precise, at 24, 48, and 72 hours of ACA treatment, IC<sub>50</sub> value of MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines were significantly different. This implied that ACA exhibited cytotoxic activity as a time-dependent manner. Also, the results showed that ACA had different potency for each cell line. In the in vitro viability test, there were two positive controls have been used for the study. 4OH-Tam was used as a positive control for MCF7 cell while palbociclib was used for MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9. MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines were resistant to hormonal treatment in which palbociclib was recommended for clinically used as combination with endocrine therapy in ER positive advanced breast cancers (236). The cells were also treated with its particular positive control for 48 hours at the concentration up to 20 µM. The result showed that in MCF7 cell, 4OH-Tam significantly inhibited the growth of MCF7 cell at the concentration of 20 µM which was very high concentration. The resistant test of 4OH-tam was performed using MTT assay, and the result showed that MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 had the IC<sub>50</sub> value two times higher than the wild-type MCF7. In this resistant test, the incubation time used for 4OH-tam was 120 hours. Tamoxifen generally has cytostatic action rather than

cytotoxic action (267). Tamoxifen was reported to competitively bind to ER and block the molecular signalling of ER that drives the transcriptional activity of ERregulated genes, thereby promoting breast cancer cell survival (268). Therefore, the appropriate incubation time for cytostatic action of tamoxifen was longer than that for the chemotherapeutic agents that possessed cytotoxic activity to cancer cells which showed pharmacological activity within 24 hours. Palbociclib-treatment of MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9, for 48 hours showed that the IC50 values were greater than 20 µM. These results imply that the endocrine-resistant MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cells were possibly resistant to the CDK4/6 inhibitor palbociclib. This resistance of MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cells to palbociclib treatment could be explained that these ER-positive cells showed higher baseline level of expression of various molecules involved in survival pathways such as HER, NCOA3, AKT, ERK1/2, and c-Myc. Therefore, treatment with CDK4/6 inhibitor palbociclib alone may not provide effective cytotoxicity to the cells. Additionally, recent evidence has identified that ER positive breast cancers could develop resistance to CDK4/6 inhibitors when used in a long-term treatment, as an adaptive response via the mutation of Rb protein, which in turn alters the growth signalling pathway of CDK4/6, as well as the activation of AKT pathway (236). Also, the long-term treatment with CDK4/6 inhibitors can promote acquired resistant of ER positive breast cancer to CDK4/6 inhibitors (236, 269).

In this thesis, the tamoxifen sensitivity test was performed in MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 cells. The results showed that the ER-positive MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cells had approximately two times higher IC<sub>50</sub> values compared to a parent MCF7 cell. This result indicated that ER-positive MCF7/LCC2

and MCF7/LCC9 cells were tolerant to tamoxifen treatment. Also, this study confirmed the phenotypes of the all 3 studied cell lines by demonstrating the baseline levels of the proteins (HER2, NCOA3, AKT, ERK1/2, c-Myc, uPA, and FGF2) that are involved in the proliferative-, invasive-, and angiogenic-phenotypes of the resistant cells, compared to the control parental MCF7 cell.

Chemotherapeutic agents used for cancer therapy commonly cause adverse drug reactions to normal cells; for example, doxorubicin-induced cutaneous cytotoxicity (270). Common adverse drug reactions associated with cancer chemotherapy include prolonged QT interval, papulopustular rash, nail disorders and a hand-foot skin reactions (271). In addition, off-target skin reactions have been indicated for several chemotherapeutic drug classes (e.g. alkylating agents, antimetabolites, and antitumor antibiotics) with a broad range of cutaneous manifestations (272-276). Other common cutaneous adverse effects include anagen effluvium, xerosis, thrombophlebitis, generalised pruritus, melanonychia, hand-foot syndrome, and extravasation reactions etc (276, 277). Therefore, the primary dermal fibroblast (PCS201-010) cell line was selected as a model of normal skin cells for the in vitro toxicity test of ACA. The in vitro toxicity test of ACA was tested using PCS201-010 cell and the result after ACA treatment for 48 hours showed that ACA up to 80 µM was not toxic to the normal cell. Additionally, ACA at 160 µM had approximately 40% cytotoxicity to PCS201-010. This result was to emphasise that ACA was not cytotoxic to the normal connective tissues, which was important in terms of the application of ACA as a future promised adjuvant therapy in the clinic. The toxicity test of ACA on MCF10A cells, a breast epithelial cell line could have been used as an additional control cell line to confirm the safety of ACA on a

nontumourigenic breast cells. MCF10A human mammary epithelial cell is commonly used for studying normal breast cancer function and transformation (278). The phenotype of MCF10A in 3D culture was positive for basal markers and the milk proteins  $\beta$ -casein and  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin, which rarely found in normal human breast tissue (278). Therefore, the suitability of using MCF10A as a model for studying normal breast cancer is still questioned (278). Also, culturing MCF10A requires 100 ng/ml cholera toxin to stimulate cell growth (279), and this toxin is prohibited from entering Thailand. These issues hampered the use of MCF10A as a toxicity control cell line.

Resistance of breast cancer can be develop either in the beginning of the endocrine therapy (intrinsic resistance) and/or during the treatment (acquired resistance) (280). There are several molecular mechanisms of ER-positive breast cancer to develop resistant to endocrine therapy such as the genetic variation of cytochrome P450 isozymes, the upregulation of ER coactivator (e.g. NCOA3), upregulation of cyclins (e.g. cyclin D and E), the overexpression and hyperactivation of PI3K/AKT and ERK1/2, and the activation of NF $\kappa$ B (39, 263, 281). Several studies have revealed that the growth factors and its signallings play pivotal roles in breast cancer resistance (282). The upregulation of HER2 or EGFR was confirmed to affect the expression of ER $\alpha$  in the cell line-based study, and this occurred clinically relevant with the responsiveness of ER-positive breast cancer for endocrine treatment (283, 284). Also, the high expression of NCOA3 was found to contribute to the agonistic action of tamoxifen to ER (285). Therefore, triggering the classical and non-classical genomic pathways of ER signallings therein lied tamoxifen resistance of ER-positive breast cancer (285). One of the important survival pathways was the

PI3K/AKT pathway, the downstream PI3K can be driven by MEK, ERK, and/or JNK (68). This pathway can regulate genes which involved in cell survival and notably crosstalk with ERa activation and signalling (68). Cyclin D1 was reported to promote the resistance of breast cancer via promoting the high proliferation of cancer cell; moreover, amplification of cyclin D1 caused a three-fold higher risk of death in ERpositive breast cancer patient (286). This study has determined the basal level of significant proteins in which related to endocrine-resistant breast cancer. It was confirmed that the resistant cell lines used for the study which were tamoxifenresistant MCF7/LCC2 cell and tamoxifen/fulvestrant-resistant MCF7/LCC9 expressed higher basal level expression of HER2, NCOA3, AKT, c-Myc, uPA, ERK1/2, and FGF2 proteins compared to the wild-type ER-positive tamoxifen-sensitive MCF7 cell line. MCF7 cell line was characterised molecular subtypes as a luminal A subtype (287). However, there was controversy on the expression HER2, which either HER2 negative or very low-grade expression of HER2 (287-289). In addition, this study suggested that ACA could have a potential to inhibit key signallings, which involved in the resistant cell lines.

# **Ghulalongkorn University**

ACA has been reported to inhibit cell growth and angiogenesis on various cancer cells. Albeit, the antiproliferative, anti-invasive, and anti-angiogenic effects through HER2 signalling, ER coactivator; NCOA3, and NF $\kappa$ B targeted molecules on hormonal-resistant breast cancer cells have never been reported. The expression of HER2, a significant growth factor receptor for breast cancer in the non-classical genomic pathway, was also determined in this study. This protein analysis on total-HER2 expression after 24 hours of ACA treatment demonstrated that at the concentration below IC<sub>50</sub>, ACA could not significantly downregulate HER2

expression in MCF7, MCF7/LCC2 cell lines while ACA significantly affected the expression of HER2 in MCF7/LCC9 at the IC<sub>25</sub> and IC<sub>50</sub>. In this study, the pHER was also performed. In MCF7 cell line, ACA only at the IC<sub>50</sub> concentration could downregulate the protein expression of pHER2 (normalised with GADPH). While the expression of pHER2 (normalised with GADPH) in MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 was significantly decreased in all three studied concentrations. However, the result of pHER2 protein expression in all three cell lines when normalised with total-HER2 did not statistically difference compared to untreated control. These results can be implied that the downregulation of pHER2 in ACA-treated groups was due to the influence of total-HER2 downregulation. Hence, ACA effect on HER2 receptor was through the downregulation of HER2 receptor not the activity.

Among three cell lines, the results noticed that ACA had preferable effects on MCF7/LCC9 more than the others. Apart from that, the study of ACA on the expression of pERK1/2 and pAKT was also performed. As the pERK1/2 and pAKT were the downstream molecules of HER2 signalling (262). Therefore, the insight study for these proteins was essential to identify the mechanism of action of ACA on HER2 signalling pathway (262). The results in this study identified that ACA inhibited proliferation through the downregulation of pERK1/2 and pAKT. These finding is consistent with the study of Murakami *et al*, 2005 that ACA showed the potential to inhibit the expression of pERK1/2 and pAKT which performed in RAW264.7 murine macrophages (173). Signalling cascades through ERK1/2 and PI3K/AKT are an essential pathway in breast cancer progression (263). Hyperactivation and overexpression of ERK1/2 and AKT were found in tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer cells (263).

The antiproliferative effects of ACA was also performed via evaluation of gene and protein level by using real-time qPCR and western blotting analysis. The results indicated that ACA affected the expression of NCOA3 in both gene and protein levels. The expression of NCOA3 protein in endocrine-resistant breast cancer cell lines was higher than ER-positive wild-type breast cancer cell. NCOA3 has has been revealed to be overexpressed in breast cancers and pivotally involved in oestrogen-mediated cancer cell proliferation (264). In breast cancer patients, the expression of NCOA3 was determined, and it showed that NCOA3 expression was detected in 60 % of the tumours (57). Also, the analysis of clinical samples indicated that patients with elevated NCOA3 did not respond well with tamoxifen therein lied breast cancer resistance to hormonal therapy (57).

This study suggested that the treatment with ACA at three different concentrations (IC<sub>12.5</sub>, IC<sub>25</sub>, and IC<sub>50</sub>) on MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 caused the repression of NCOA3 both gene and protein as a dose-dependent manner as can be seen by the significance of all concentrations used for the treatment in both cell lines represented in gene and protein results. Whereas, in MCF7 ACA can significantly suppress the expression of NCOA3 only at the IC<sub>50</sub> concentration. Intriguingly, ACA exhibited a better efficiency on endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells than the ER-positive wild-type breast cancer cell. This study revealed that ACA could have a mode of action via the downregulation of NCOA3 in endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells. Hence, ACA could inhibit the transcriptional activity of ER-mediated genes in both classical and non-classical genomic pathways as NCOA3 was a major co-activator of ER signalling pathways.

ACA has been reported to rapidly decrease the nuclear expression of NF $\kappa$ B , but increase the accumulation of cytosol NF $\kappa$ B in RPMI82 cells (37). This indicating that ACA blocks the translocation of NF $\kappa$ B from the cytosol to the nucleus (168). NF $\kappa$ B plays a significant role in cancer initiation and progression (265). ACA has also been reported to inhibit angiogenesis in human prostate cancer through VEGF (174). It can inhibit metastasis through matrix metalloprotease-9 (MMP-9) (171), whereas the effects of ACA on VEGF and FGF2 in endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells have never been reported. NF $\kappa$ B activation was originally associated with the progression of hormone-independent breast cancers (107). NF $\kappa$ B bestowed transcriptionally to induce genes mediating cell proliferation, such as *cyclin D1 (CCND1)* (290-292), *cmyc* (293) as well as genes that responsible for invasion including urokinase-type plasminogen activator (*uPA*) (294-296) and *Chemokine receptor (CXCR4*) (148, 297, 298) and angiogenic factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (*VEGF*) (299) and basic fibroblast endothelial growth factor (*FGF2*) (300-304).

In this study, we showed that ACA had the potentiality to inhibit the expression of NF $\kappa$ B regulated genes that involved in resistant breast cancer cells. NF $\kappa$ B was activated in the presence of AKT and ERK1/2 (305-307). The effects of ACA on pAKT and pERK1/2 could affect the transcriptional activity of NF $\kappa$ B resulting in anticancer activities of ACA. Therefore, the downregulation of NF $\kappa$ B regulated genes could be observe in this study. More interestingly, with regard to angiogenesis aspect, we pointed out that ACA inhibited not only VEGF but also FGF2, which was a critical angiogenic factor in breast cancer. Giavazzi *et al* have revealed that FGF can function synergistically with VEGF to magnify tumour angiogenesis (308). This study highlighted that ACA targeted both the FGF and

VEGF may be more efficacious in repressing tumour growth and angiogenesis than targeting either factor alone.

Apart from that, ACA shifted up of the pro-apoptotic signal via the upregulation of SAPK/JNK protein expression but not the activity. Its effect predominantly affected hormonal resistant breast cancer cells rather than the wild-type breast cancer. Evading apoptosis and overexpression of anti-apoptotic proteins were found to be the cause of cancer resistance to cancer chemotherapeutics and poor prognosis (309-311). Therefore, we also demonstrated the apoptotic induction activity of ACA was through the anti-apoptotic factors Mcl-1 and Bcl-2. Liew *et al* showed that ACA induced apoptosis via the induction of the mitochondrial pathway (192). Their results supported our study that ACA may have apoptotic induction on hormonal resistant breast cancer cells through mitochondrial pathway.

In conclusion, ACA exhibited anticancer activities through HER2/MAPK/ERK1/2, PI3K/AKT pathways as well as through the inhibition of NCOA3. It can also inhibit the gene expressions, which involved in proliferation and invasion. As of anti-angiogenic activity, ACA potentially repressed both angiogenic factors; VEGF and FGF2. According to apoptotic induction, ACA promoted the expression of pro-apoptotic molecules and repressed of pro-survival molecules.

Future studies could investigate the effects of ACA on reversal of tamoxifen sensitivity in endocrine-resistance breast cancer cells, compared to endocrinesensitive breast cancer cells. Viability tests, such as MTT or BrDU assays in endocrine-sensitive breast cancer cells could be used to compare the IC50 values of ACA-tamoxifen co-treatment with tamoxifen treatment alone. Also, performing antiproliferative assays, such as colony forming assays or anchorage-independent growth (soft agar assays) plus additional of gene expression and protein expression analysis of combined ACA-tamoxifen treatment could be compared to tamoxifen treatment alone. This will then give information of the effects of ACA on reversal of tamoxifen sensitivity in endocrine-resistance breast cancer cells. To further explore the effects of ACA on HER2 expression, it would be interesting to study the effects of ACA on HER2 over-expressing cells (e.g. SKBR3, AU565, HCC1008) as endocrineresistant breast cancer cells showed upregulated of baseline HER2 protein expression. Additionally, the phenotype of endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells (MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cells) in this study demonstrated the upregulation of molecules such as AKT and ERK1/2 that are downstream of HER2, as well as downregulation of ER protein levels. This could support the rationale for further studies of ACA in HER2 over-expressing subtypes. In addition to the effects of ACA, which targets multiple molecules, the effects of ACA in triple-negative breast cancer cells (e.g. MDA MB231, MDA MB436, HCC70) could be interesting experiments. There are several subtypes of triple-negative breast cancer patients which are reported to have abnormal gene expression profiles. For example, genes for cell-cycle regulation and DNA repair genes (e.g. MYC, PIK3CA, CDK6, AKT2, FGFR1) are observed as well as hyperactivation of signalling pathways such as EGFR (312, 313). In addition, ACA has been reported in multiple studies to have effective anticancer effects on MDAMB231 via apoptosis induction (170, 192). Other experiments that will further knowledge of the pharmacological effects of ACA would include different culture methods, such as 3D in vitro culture models (e.g. spheroid and organoid 3D culture) that could use to determine its effects within the cell microenvironment. Such

approaches would support further pre-clinical studies of the potential of ACA as a therapy.



# **CHAPTER 5** IN VIVO ACTIVITY OF ACA ON ZEBRAFISH MODEL

# **5.1 Results**

#### **5.1.1** Acute toxicity test of zebrafish embryos

The acute toxicity test of ACA on zebrafish embryos was done as followed the OECD test guideline (TG236). After treated the zebrafish embryos with ACA at increasing concentration (up to 160  $\mu$ M). The result showed that ACA up to 20  $\mu$ M did not cause any of four apical indicators (coagulation of fertilised eggs, lack of somite formation, lack of detachment of the tailed-bud from yolk sac, and lack of heart-beat; additional information of four apical indicators can be found in **Appendix C**) to the zebrafish embryos.

The nondetectable heartbeat, tail-bud detachment, and coagulation of zebrafish embryos was initially seen at 48 hours post fertilisation (hpf) of 40  $\mu$ M ACA treatment. The 50% lethality concentration (LC<sub>50</sub>) of ACA at 24, 48, 72, and 96 hpf was shown in **Table 5.1.1.1**. and **Figure 5.1.1.1**.

This study also illustrated that the LD<sub>50</sub> of ACA on zebrafish embryos (at 24, 48, 72, and 96 hours), which indicated that LD<sub>50</sub> of ACA between 24 and 48 hours (41.20  $\mu$ M ± 5.03 and 40.47  $\mu$ M ± 2.87) and 72 and 96 hours (35.45  $\mu$ M ± 2.20 and 32.16  $\mu$ M ± 1.54) did not significantly change through these particular exposure time.

Time (hpf)	Mean LC <sub>50</sub> ± SEM
24	$41.20\ \mu\text{M}\pm5.03$
48	$40.47 \ \mu M \pm 2.87$
72	$35.45 \ \mu M \pm 2.20$
96	$32.16 \ \mu M \pm 1.54$

Table 5.1.1.1. The  $LC_{50}$  of ACA on zebrafish embryos at 24, 48, 72, and 96 hpf



112



Figure 5.1.1.1. The toxicity of ACA in zebrafish embryo was followed OECD guidelines. Top figures show images of zebrafish embryos at 48 hpf after ACA treatment. Bottom figure shows the 50% lethality concentration (LC<sub>50</sub>) of ACA at 24, 48, 72, and 96 hpf was 41.20  $\mu$ M ± 5.03, 40.47 ± 2.87  $\mu$ M, 35.45  $\mu$ M ± 2.20, and 32.16  $\mu$ M ± 1.54 respectively. 0.1%EtOH in E3-PTU was used as a vehicle control. Data are represented as mean ± SEM of three independent experiments (n = 3), \**P*≤0.05 vs. untreated cells (mean ± SEM, n = 3).

# 5.1.2 Zebrafish vessel staining

In this experiment, ACA was treated to zebrafish embryos at 24 hpf for 48 hours. Then the whole-mount alkaline phosphatase vessel staining was performed. After staining the vessels with alkaline phosphatase, the vessels were easily visualised by using a digital camera and image acquisition (LAS Va.12), publicly available quantitative image software. The results showed that after 48 hours of ACA treatment, the concentration up to 40  $\mu$ M did not cause the abnormal formation of the subintestinal vessels (SIV) to zebrafish embryos compared to ACA-untreated zebrafish embryos (**Figure 6.2.1**).



# **CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY**

**Figure 5.1.2.1.** The whole-mount alkaline phosphatase vessel staining. ACA (0-40  $\mu$ M) did not inhibit normal SIVs development form on the dorsolateral surface of the yolk on both sides of the embryo, as detected using whole-mount alkaline phosphatase vessel staining. Red arrow points indicate the SIVs of the zebrafish that lined behind the yolk of the zebrafish. E3-PTU was used as an untreated control and 0.1%EtOH in E3-PTU was used as a vehicle control.

# 5.1.3 Tumour engulfment and proliferation

The optimisation of conditions for MCF7/LCC9-grafted zebrafish was performed to optimise three optimal conditions of tumour-grafted zebrafish survival. Firstly, the appropriate number of cancer cells to be injected without causing zebrafish death (314). Secondly, the incubated condition of tumour-engrafted zebrafish (315). Finally, the percentage of tumour engulfment (314).

The result showed that the amount of appropriate cancer cells was 200 cells/5nL. And the optimal conditions for tumour-engrafted zebrafish was 36° Celsius, 5%CO<sub>2</sub> with humidified air. This condition allowed humanised-cancer cell growth without causing zebrafish death. Also, this condition did not cause the aberrant staging development of the zebrafish

Regarding the optimal conditions, the cancer cell can efficiently engraft and proliferate in the zebrafish as shown by the increase of tumour area and fluorescence intensity at 3 days post injection (dpi), which was 1 - 2 times greater than 0 dpi (Figure 5.1.3.1).

จุฬาลงกรณมหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



**Figure 5.1.3.1.** Tumour engulfment and proliferation. The injection of endocrineresistant breast cancer cell (MCF7/LCC9) into the yolk sac of zebrafish embryos at 48 hpf (0 dpi). The observation of tumour area and fluorescence intensity were measured at 0, 1, 2, and 3 dpi. The fluorescence intensity data were represented as relative values quantified with fluorescence intensity 0 dpi. A1 - A7 represented zebrafish sample number.

# **5.1.4** The inhibitory effect of ACA on MCF7/LCC9 cells proliferation engrafted zebrafish embryos

Zebrafish has many homolog genes that plays role in crucial signalling pathways involved in cell proliferation, apoptosis, metastasis, angiogenesis of human cancers (316, 317). With this zebrafish xenograft model is the platform for xenotransplantation approach to investigate real-time visualisation of tumour mass (318).

In this experiment, the zebrafish was injected with MCF7/LCC9 cell for 200 cells/5nL at 48 hpf (0 dpi). ACA was treated into the zebrafish medium at 1 dpi. The tumour area was regularly observed at 1 and 3 dpi. The result demonstrated that at 3 dpi (48 hours of ACA treatment), ACA significantly reduced the tumour area in all studied concentrations in the experiments (5, 10, 15  $\mu$ M). The reduction of tumour area in ACA-treated group was approximately four times lesser than the control group (**Figure 5.1.4.1**).

This experiment confirmed that ACA exhibited the antiproliferative effect in zebrafish xenograft model.

**CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** 



**Figure 5.1.4.1.** The antiproliferative effect of ACA in zebrafish model. ACA significantly inhibited the tumour area of MCF7/LCC9 cells engrafted zebrafish embryos at 1 and 3 dpi. 0.1%EtOH in E3-PTU was used as a vehicle control. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  SEM of three independent experiments (n = 3), \*\*\**P*≤0.001 and \*\*\*\**P*≤0.0001 vs. control at 3 dpi, °*P*≤0.05 vs. the same concentration of ACA treatment at 1 dpi (mean  $\pm$  SEM, n = 23/group).

# **5.2 Discussion**

Regrading *in vivo* study of zebrafish, the husbandry and well-being of zebrafish need to be considered because different stages of zebrafish had different living conditions (e.g. types of food, sizes of food, and water level for their survival) (319).

The acute toxicity test showed that ACA concentration used for further *in vivo* experiment was not toxic to the zebrafish. Furthermore, the additional toxicity test, alkaline phosphatase staining, showed that ACA up to 40  $\mu$ M did not significantly inhibit normal subintestinal vessels (SIVs) development form on the dorsolateral surface of the yolk on both sides of the embryo. Both toxicity assays confirmed that the concentration and treatment time of ACA used in zebrafish experiment did not toxic to zebrafish, regardless of neither causing acute toxicity to zebrafish embryos nor the development of normal SIVs formation. Thus, these experiments ascertained that the concentration of ACA did not interfere with the results from further *in vivo* studies.

Zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) required regular care and appropriate protocol for staging growth (315). Unlike human-derived cancer cells that required human body temperature (37.4 degree Celsius) to proliferate, but the optimum temperature for zebrafish is 28.5 degree Celsius (315). In the *in vivo* MCF7/LCC9-implanted zebrafish experiment, the method was never published before. Therefore, the transplantation of endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells into zebrafish xenograft was needed to evaluate the engraftment efficiency and the optimal condition for both human cell and zebrafish was required to be evaluated. Also, in this study, some mandatory equipment was needed to be manually modified; for instance, the diameter

of the microneedle, injection pressure, and injection time. All those conditions affected the number of injected cancer cells. The microneedle, in particular, was necessary to be nipped for adjusting the inner diametre before performing the nanoinjection for a specific cell line. This procedure was done to prevent either cancer cell clogged within the microneedle or the uncontrolled number of cancer cell per injection. Regarding, the injection equipment, it was set the pressure and time for injection as the same condition in every experiment. However, the weight and duration of pushing the paddle for injection could be another significant factor for a variation in the cancer cell numbers. Therefore, it could be a variation in the number of cancer cells from each experiment. Consequently, the optimisation of conditions for MCF7/LCC9-grafted zebrafish need to be validated. Also, the number of cancer cells are significant for engrafted and proliferative capabilities and zebrafish survival (314). Thus, the tumour engraftment and proliferation in zebrafish validation necessitate being done before. Efficient engraftment can also be obtained by transplanting cells into early embryo zebrafish that have not yet developed a functional acquired immune system.

# **UHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY**

By labelling MCF7/LCC9 with a red fluorescent CM-dil dye, this allowed the cells to be tracked tumour area and fluorescence intensity. The result demonstrated that the tumour area and fluorescence intensity value were directly correlated to each other. Therefore, the proliferation of cancer cells within the zebrafish can be represented by the tumour area. In the antiproliferation experiment, very low concentrations of ACA can significantly inhibit the proliferation of MCF7/LCC9-implanted zebrafish compared to the control.

To conclude, this study suggested that ACA possessed antiproliferative effect in zebrafish xenograft model, which consistently correlated with the results from *in vitro* study on the antiproliferative effects of ACA in breast cancer cell lines.



# **CHAPTER 6 MOLECULAR DOCKING SIMULATION**

# 6.1 Results: ACA's affinity for protein targets

This research was studied seven target molecules (HER2, AKT, ERK, ER, CDK6, uPA, and FGF2) to perform the docking simulation. Then ACA was determined the interaction energy and compared binding affinity to the standard ligands of a specific target. The studied targets were selected based on its molecular functions that crucially involved in signalling pathways of resistant-breast cancer cells. There were rationales for selecting these eight targets. Firstly, ACA was reported to be a potent NFkB inhibitor (156, 171). Secondly, ACA was reported that it could inhibit AKT and ERK in other cell lines (173, 188). These two molecules were reported to overexpress in resistant-breast cancer cells (67, 71, 72). Thirdly, according to the *in vitro* results from this research, it showed that ACA was able to downregulate AKT, ERK, NFkB mediated genes (uPA, FGF2), NCOA3, and HER2. Fourthly, oestrogen receptor and HER2 were selected because these two receptors were crucial for survival signallings for breast cancer (68, 69). Therefore, this study aimed to explore that ACA could bind to the upstream molecules of NFkB signalling (AKT and ERK), NFkB targeted genes (uPA, FGF2), oestrogen receptor, and HER2 (upstream molecule of MAPK/ERK1/2 pathway). Finally, CDK6 was selected as it was a critical molecule that required to work with cyclin D1, which was significant machinery for cell cycle in breast cancer cells (110-112). This research could not perform to all mediators due to the lack of standard molecules of a particular target to be compared with ACA. Thus, this study was selected these seven studied targets.

The molecular docking results (**Table 6.1.1**) demonstrated that ACA has similar binding affinity for HER2, AKT, ERK, ER, CDK6, uPA, and FGF2 ranging from -21.61 to -38.69 kcal/mol. However, among these seven different targets, the binding affinity of ACA toward uPA (-32.73 kcal/mol) and FGF2 (-21.61 kcal/mol) was in the range of their known inhibitors 4-IBTC (-37.43 kcal/mol) and Sm27 (-29.96 kcal/mol) respectively. Due to hydrophobic structure of ACA, van der Waals (green sphere) were the main interactions underlying protein-ligand complexation for both uPA and FGF2 proteins (**Figure 6.1.1**). On the other hand, some electrostatic contributions (e.g., salt bridge, pi-sulfur, and pi-cation) were involved in the binding of 4-IBTC and Sm27 due to the polar moieties in their chemical structures. Notably, the key binding amino acid residues of ACA toward both uPA (Ser195, Ser214) and FGF2 (Lys119, Lys125, Lys129) as well as the hydrogen bond formation patterns (green dash) were relatively similar to those of the known inhibitors, implying that ACA could be an alternative potential inhibitor to uPA and FGF2.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Protein	Compounds	CDOCKER
targets		interaction energy
		(kcal/mol)
HER2	Lapatinib	-77.62
	1'-acetoxychavicol acetate	-33.66
AKT1	Ipatasertib	-63.44
	1'-acetoxychavicol acetate	-34.92
ERK2	Sorafenib	-53.92
	1'-acetoxychavicol acetate	-34.94
Estrogen	4-hydroxytamoxifen	-65.38
receptor	1'-acetoxychavicol acetate	-35.68
uPA	4-iodobenzo[b]thiophene-2-carboxamidine (4-IBTC)	-37.43
	1'-acetoxychavicol acetate	-32.73
CDK6	Palbociclib	-57.62
	1'-acetoxychavicol acetate	-38.69
FGF2	Sm27	-29.96
	1'-acetoxychavicol acetate	-21.61

 

 Table 6.1.1. CDOCKER interaction energy (kcal/mol) of all the studied proteinligand complexes



**Figure 6.1.1.** The 3D superimposed structures obtained from docking as well as the interaction details of all the studied ligands in complex with uPA and FGF2

#### **6.2 Discussion**

The molecular docking results was performed by using CDOCKER interaction energy (kcal/mol) of seven studied protein-ligand complexes. Among seven substances, the CDOCKER interaction energy of ACA was close to the interaction energy of 4-IBTC (standard uPA ligand) and Sm27 (standard FGF2 ligand). CDOCKER interaction energy represented an inverse correlation with the binding affinity of protein-ligand complexes wherein, more negative energy value was more binding affinity (320). The lower the binding energy value means that the complex (ligand-protein interaction) is more stable. In addition, a negative value shows that the ligand bound spontaneously without consuming energy, as the negative Gibbs free energy ( $\Delta G$ ) is preferable for better binding affinity. This is because the change in  $\Delta G$ of the system is negative when the system reaches an equilibrium state at constant pressure and temperature (320, 321). Also, the protein-ligand association extent is determined by the magnitude of the negative  $\Delta G$ . Therefore, it can be considered that  $\Delta G$  determines the stability of any given protein-ligand complex (322). The result supported that ACA showed preferable binding interaction to uPA and FGF2 than the other standard molecules. Albeit, the CDOCKER interaction energy of ACA was higher compared with the other five standard molecules; still, ACA could bind with lesser binding affinity to HER2, AKT1, ERK2, oestrogen receptor, and CDK6 compared to its known standard ligands.

To conclude, the docking simulation study suggested that ACA could bind to the molecular targets involved in cancer proliferation, invasion, and angiogenesis, which bolstered the results of ACA effects on the in vitro anticancer activities. However, the binding affinity testing should be confirmed with more direct
approaches such as direct biochemical methods (e.g. affinity chromatography) and quantitative proteomics (e.g. metabolic and chemical labelling). Also, some targets may not be appropriately used this docking simulation method because of the unavailability of published standard ligands to compare with the studied ligand.



### **CHAPTER 7 GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION**

#### 7.1 General discussion

This study effectively isolated the pure ACA compound from the *A. galangal*; however, the structure of a pure ACA needed to be elucidated. Here in this study, ACA structure was elucidated using multidisciplinary spectroscopy. As of ACA was a known compound. Therefore, more sophisticated methods did not essential.

This study demonstrated that ACA possesses cytotoxicity on both endocrine sensitive ER-positive MCF7 cell line and endocrine-resistant MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines without causing toxicity to normal fibroblast cell and the cytotoxic effect was more profound in the endocrine resistant cell lines. The mechanisms of ACA regarding its anticancer activities were through the suppression of HER2/MAPK/ERK1/2 and PI3K/AKT pathways. Upon repressed survival pathways, ACA can shift towards the apoptotic pathway through the upregulation of SAPK/JNK and cPARP and downregulation of the antiapoptotic proteins Mcl-1 and Bcl-2. In addition, this study highlighted that ACA could downregulate NCOA3 protein. NCOA3 is the major coactivator of ER, which is an essential coactivator for ER signalling and functions in classical and nonclassical genomic pathways of ER. Consequently, ACA blocked the transcriptional activity of the ER-regulated genes. Apart from that, ACA, as a well-known NF $\kappa$ B inhibitor, can potentially crosstalk by blocking the transcription of NF $\kappa$ B-targeted genes via the inhibition of ERK1/2 and AKT phosphorylation wherein ERK1/2 and AKT activated NF $\kappa$ B activation.

The antiproliferative effect of ACA was established in the endocrine-resistant engrafted zebrafish model. ACA effectively reduced tumour mass in ACA treated zebrafish/MCF7/LCC9 without adverse effects to the zebrafish embryos. In addition, the acute toxicity experiment reported as the LC<sub>50</sub> of ACA at 24, 48, 72, and 96 hpf showed that ACA up to 20  $\mu$ M does not significantly inhibit normal embryo stages development nor the normal formation of subintestinal vessels of the zebrafish. The result from *in vivo* antiproliferation of ACA in zebrafish model supported the result of antiproliferation of ACA in the *in vitro* study parts to demonstrate the function of ACA regarding inhibition of breast cancer cell proliferation.

Furthermore, ACA repressed invasion in endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells by targeting the uPA system confirming via the pharmacological anti-invasion assay. VEGF and FGF2, a potent angiogenic factor, were also inhibited by ACA in both endocrine-sensitive and endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells. Assuredly, the docking analysis results validated the inhibitory effects of ACA on FGF2 and uPA as its binding affinity was comparable to the standard ligands. The gene expression studies and docking experiments imply that ACA can have anti-angiogenic activity. However, more definities experiments are required to confirm this prediction. For example, in vitro anti-angiogenesis of ACA using endothelial cell proliferation assays, endothelial cell migration assays, and endothelial cell differentiation assays would be required. In vivo models could include, for example, zebrafish anti-angiogenesis by visualising the developing vasculature, anti-angiogenesis in mice models (e.g. matrigel plug assay), and chick chorioallantoic membrane (CAM) assays.

This *in vitro* study provided fundamental information of the anticancer activity of ACA in endocrine-resistant breast cancers that could be developed further for future development of ACA into clinical settings. It has also shown for the first time that ACA can inhibit NCOA3 which is a well-established key protein in ER-positive hormonal-resistant breast cancer, both from in vitro studies and observations in cancer patients. Therefore, the bioactive ACA derived from the edible plant could be a promising compound to be used as adjuvant therapy or combination with tamoxifen for tamoxifen reversal sensitivity in breast cancer patients that develop resistance to tamoxifen, as well as other hormonal treatments. Also, this study showed that ACA possessed activities on the HER2 receptor as well as its downstream survival molecules. Therefore, this novel knowledge can be developed further future studies of ACA on HER2-over-expressing breast cancer cells. The drug development process to develop any new chemical entities into the clinic, needs rigour, that includes defining the mechanism of action and direct target of the substance, pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, adverse drug reactions, drug interactions (drug-drug, herb-drug, and food-drug interactions) as well as the dosage forms, stability and compatibility. In addition, ACA is a natural oily substance, and so could require additional processes such as drug delivery systems to improve the solubility and efficacy as well as reduce off-target toxicity of ACA. Hence, the difficulty of developing ACA as a novel chemotherapeutic agent would require the completion of many studies in order to be approved and established for clinical use.

#### 7.2 Limitation of this study

In the *in vitro* studies of this thesis, the cytotoxic activity of ACA was studied in the endocrine-resistant MCF7/LCC2 and MCF7/LCC9 and the endocrine-sensitive MCF7 breast cancer cells. Tamoxifen was used as the appropriate positive control for MCF7cells (type), but it needed longer treatment time to show its cytostatic activity and there was no specific positive control for the endocrine-resistant cell lines. In addition, the *in vitro* studies were performed in two bases, which were Chulalongkorn University, Thailand and the University of Liverpool, UK. As the aims of the studies at Chulalongkorn University focused primarily in endocrine-resistant cells, the experiments that needed to be performed in the University of Liverpool were involving the endocrine-sensitive MCF7 cells to be able to compare our ACA data on the endocrine resistance to endocrine sensitivity. Albeit, before starting the experiments, the comparison of the  $IC_{50}$  values of ACA on each cell line was required. We observed a small variation in the IC<sub>50</sub> of ACA in the cell lines which could possibly due to the different passage numbers of the cells within the two Universities and their freezing conditions. However, the effect of ACA on MCF7 cells in both bases did not show statistically different IC<sub>50</sub> values. Hence, the MCF7 cell-based experiments were confidently performed (additional information can be found in Appendix B).

This research succeeded in unpacking the effects of ACA on critical molecules involved in survival pathways of aggressive breast cancer cells. However, further investigation is required on identifying the specific mechanism of ACA's action. The use of specific pharmacological inhibitor(s) or a combination of them targeting a particular pathway could possibly identify the dominant mechanism of ACA's action. Additional studies to support the binding affinity evaluations are required as there are limitations in this docking simulation approach. In this study, ACA binding affinity to seven target proteins was compared with their standard ligands. However, this approach cannot evaluate all targets that may be involved in ACA's action, such as the binding affinity of ACA on p65 subunit. The resistant MCF7/LCC9 cell and ERpositive tamoxifen resistant cells have both been shown to overexpress the p65 subunit of NF-kB, and hence it would have been informative to perform a binding affinity analysis of ACA on p65 subunit. However, this molecular docking simulation could not be performed on the p65 subunit as there is no standard ligand for p65 nuclear localisation inhibitors that have been identified. Consequently, this study could not compare the binding affinity between ACA and the standard ligand of p65 nuclear localisation inhibitors. In addition, other experiments, such as quantitative mass spectroscopy (direct biochemical methods) should be performed in order to demonstrate if ACA binds with p65 subunit, or other target proteins. As the methodology for the MCF7/LCC9 implanted zebrafish experiment was not published before and we had to set and evaluate all the appropriate conditions. It was not feasible to develop an additional MCF7/LCC2 implanted zebrafish.

#### 7.3 Prospective study

The analysis of ACA effects on a breast cancer gene expression panel should be performed in the future to compare the effect of ACA in the endocrine-sensitive and endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells and identify differentially expressed genes for further analysis. In addition, *in vitro* studies on breast cancer cells with combinations of ACA and standard inhibitors (e.g. AKT inhibitor, ERK1/2 inhibitor, anti-HER2, and NFkB inhibitor) and analysis of targeted-gene and protein expressions (e.g. CCND1, C-myc, CXCR4, uPA, VEGF, FGF2) could provide a better insight into the mechanistic actions. ACA experiment on gene silencing (HER2, NCOA3) in breast cancer cells will support more evidence on validating the targets of ACA. By silencing such genes in breast cancer cells, followed by analysing pERK1/2 and pAKT protein expressions will provide the information regarding the targets of ACA. Down-regulating/silencing a gene is not the same as inhibiting a specific region and therefore, multiple methods are needed for confirming specific targets.

Finally, the anti-invasion and anti-angiogenesis of ACA could be investigated in the future both *in vitro* models such as primary breast cancer cells and endothelial cells as well as in *in vivo* models such as zebrafish xenotransplantation and transgenic animals.

### 7.4 Conclusion

Taken together, our findings demonstrate the anti-cancer activity of the ACA through multiple pathways that directly influence the endocrine resistance of our tested cells, including concomitant pro-apoptotic signalling enhancement and inhibition of pro-survival molecules. Further investigation using specific inhibitors and/or gene silencing could provide a better insight into the mechanism of action of ACA in endocrine resistance.





**Figure 7.4.1.** Proposed mechanism of ACA. The diagram shows the proposed mode of action of ACA which affects multiple molecules namely, HER2, PI3K/AKT, ERK1/2, and NCOA3. The effects lead to the downregulation of targeted molecules which involved in cell proliferation (CCND1, c-Myc), invasion (uPA, CXCR4), and angiogenesis (VEGF, FGF2). This model is based on the results obtained in this thesis.

### **CHAPTER 8 APPENDICES**

# Appendix A / Comparison of <sup>1</sup>H NMR and mass spectra of ACA



**Figure A1.** <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum comparison of ACA. <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum of ACA from Azuma et al (a) (251) and the <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum from this study (b)



**Figure A2.** Mass spectrum comparison of ACA. The mass spectrum of ACA from Lin et al (a) (253) and the mass spectrum of this this study (b)



### Appendix B / Validation of IC50 values of ACA in the University of Liverpool

**Figure B1.** The validation of IC<sub>50</sub> in MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9 cell lines. This viability assay was performed in the University of Liverpool. IC<sub>50</sub> values ( $\mu$ M) obtained by MTT assay after 48 hours of ACA treatment against MCF7, MCF7/LCC2, and MCF7/LCC9. Values shows as mean IC<sub>50</sub> ± SEM, n = 3, \* $p \le 0.05$ , \*\* $p \le 0.01$ , \*\*\* $p \le 0.001$ , and \*\*\*\* $p \le 0.0001$ compared to control.

Table	<b>B1.</b>	Comparison	of	IC50	values	of	ACA	(48	h	incubation)	on	3	cell	lines
perfori	med a	at Chulalongk	orn	u Univ	versity (	CU	) & U	nive	rsit	ty of Liverpo	ool (	Uc	oL)	

Cell lines	IC50 (µM) - CU	IC50 (µM) - UoL
MCF7	$11.78~\mu M \pm 0.50$	$9.61~\mu M \pm 1.09$
MCF7/LCC2	$31.46~\mu M \pm 1.00$	$25.80 \ \mu M \pm 0.88^*$
MCF7/LCC9	$41.38~\mu M \pm 1.80$	$34.58 \ \mu M \pm 0.97^*$
		>

IC<sub>50</sub> values showed as mean IC<sub>50</sub>  $\pm$  SEM, n = 3, \* $p \le 0.05$  compared to IC<sub>50</sub> values at

CU site.



### Appendix C / Zebrafish husbandry

**Table C1.** 60x Stock solution of E3 medium (323)

g
,
5

 Table C2. Concentration of 60x E3 medium stock solution (323)

-///b@a

Chemicals	A second	Concentration
NaCl		300 mM
KCl	จุหาลงกรณ์ม	10.2 mM
CaCl <sub>2</sub>	GHULALONGKOR	20 mM ERSITY
MgSO <sub>4</sub>		20 mM

**Preparation of 1x E3 medium (working solution)** (323)

Dilute 16.6 mL of 60x E3 medium with 933.4 mL of deionised water and adjust pH to

7.2-7.4 and add 3 mL of 0.01% methylene Blue. After that adjust with deionised

water to 1000 mL and store at room temperature.



Figure C1. The husbandry of zebrafish and breeding station of zebrafish





# Appendix D / Acute toxicity indicators of zebrafish embryo

**Figure D1.** Four atypical indicators of zebrafish embryos acute toxicity as followed OECD test guideline (TG 236) (324). (a) Coagulation of fertilised eggs, (b) Lack of detachment of the tailed-bud from yolk sac, (c) Lack of somite formation, and (d) Lack of heartbeat.



# Appendix E / Vessels formation and vessel staining of zebrafish

**Figure E1.** Vascular network formation of zebrafish (325). Palatocerebral artery; PLA, communicating vessel; CMV, nasal ciliary artery; NCA, segmental arteries; aISV, subintestinal vein; SIV, segmental veins; vISV.



**Figure E2.** Alkaline phosphatase stained-zebrafish and alkaline phosphatase staining reaction at 60 minutes of staining time

```
จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย
Chulalongkorn University
```



**Figure E3.** Validation of incubation time for alkaline phosphatase staining in zebrafish at 72 hpf and 90 hpf

### **Appendix F / Conference Presentations** 1) Revision process of Planta Medica journal

"1' Acetoxychavicol acetate from *Alpinia galanga* represses Proliferation, Invasion, and induces Apoptosis via HER-2 signalling in Endocrine-Resistant Breast Cancer cells"

### 2) 2019 NCRI Cancer Conference (3-5 November 2019), Scottish Event Campus,

#### **Glasglow**, UK

**Poster and silent theater presentations:** "Antiproliferation and anti-invasion of 1'-Acetoxychavicol acetate on hormonal-resistant breast cancer cells". **Nalinee Pradubyat**, Athina Giannoudis, Carlo Palmieri, Wannarasmi Ketchart

3) North West Cancer Research Centre (Friday 26th April 2019) - the University of Liverpool Annual Scientific Symposium 2020, Victoria Gallery & Museum, University of Liverpool, UK.

**Poster presentation:** "1'-acetoxychavicol acetate represses proliferation and invasion and induces apoptosis of endocrine-resistant breast cancer cells" **Nalinee Pradubyat**, Athina Giannoudis, Panupong Mahalapbutr, Chalermchai Mitrpant, Taha Elmitwali, Carlo Palmieri, Wannarasmi Ketchart

Note: The meeting was cancelled due to Covid-19.

# REFERENCES



1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2019. CA Cancer J Clin. 2019;69(1):7-34.

2. Luengo-Fernandez R, Leal J, Sullivan R. The economic burden of malignant neoplasms in the European Union. presented at 2012 Congress of the European Society for Medical Oncology Vienna, Austria, 28 September 2012. 2012.

3. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians. 2020;70(1):7-30.

4. Holleczek B, Arndt V, Stegmaier C, Brenner H. Trends in breast cancer survival in Germany from 1976 to 2008--a period analysis by age and stage. Cancer Epidemiol. 2011;35(5):399-406.

5. Di Leo A, Curigliano G, Diéras V, Malorni L, Sotiriou C, Swanton C, et al. New approaches for improving outcomes in breast cancer in Europe. Breast. 2015;24(4):321-30.

6. Lumachi F, Brunello A, Maruzzo M, Basso U, Basso SM. Treatment of estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer. Curr Med Chem. 2013;20(5):596-604.

7. Fritsch M, Jordan VC. Long-term Tamoxifen Therapy for the Treatment of Breast Cancer. Cancer Control. 1994;1(4):356-66.

8. Osborne CK. Tamoxifen in the treatment of breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 1998;339(22):1609-18.

9. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group E. Effects of chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15-year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. Lancet. 2005;365(9472):1687-717.

10. Cuzick J, Powles T, Veronesi U, Forbes J, Edwards R, Ashley S, et al. 2003;361(9354):296-300.

11. Waters EA, Cronin KA, Graubard BI, Han PK, Freedman AN. Prevalence of tamoxifen use for breast cancer chemoprevention among U.S. women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2010;19(2):443-6.

12. Ring A, Dowsett M. Mechanisms of tamoxifen resistance. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2004;11(4):643-58.

13. Gradishar WJ. Tamoxifen—What Next? The Oncologist. 2004;9(4):378-84.

14. Brodie A, Sabnis G, Jelovac D. Adaptive changes result in activation of alternate signaling pathways and acquisition of resistance to aromatase inhibitors. Clin Cancer Res. 2011;17(13):4208-13.

15. Strasser-Weippl K, Goss PE. Advances in Adjuvant Hormonal Therapy for Postmenopausal Women. J Clin Oncol. 2005;23(8):1751-9.

16. Cuzick J, Sestak I, Baum M, Buzdar A, Howell A, Dowsett M, et al. Effect of anastrozole and tamoxifen as adjuvant treatment for early-stage breast cancer: 10-year analysis of the ATAC trial. The lancet oncology. 2010;11(12):1135-41.

17. Howell A, Robertson JF, Abram P, Lichinitser MR, Elledge R, Bajetta E, et al. Comparison of fulvestrant versus tamoxifen for the treatment of advanced breast cancer in postmenopausal women previously untreated with endocrine therapy: a multinational, double-blind, randomized trial. J Clin Oncol. 2004;22(9):1605-13.

18. Robertson JF, Osborne CK, Howell A, Jones SE, Mauriac L, Ellis M, et al. Fulvestrant versus anastrozole for the treatment of advanced breast carcinoma in postmenopausal women: a prospective combined analysis of two multicenter trials. Cancer Cell. 2003;98(2):229-38.

19. Abdulkareem IH, Zurmi IB. Review of hormonal treatment of breast cancer. Nigerian journal of clinical practice. 2012;15(1):9-14.

20. Weinberg OK, Marquez-Garban DC, Pietras RJ. New approaches to reverse resistance to hormonal therapy in human breast cancer. Drug Resist Updat. 2005;8(4):219-33.

21. Cazzaniga M, Bonanni B. Breast Cancer Chemoprevention: Old and New Approaches. Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology. 2012;2012:985620.

22. Dumitrescu RG, Cotarla I. Understanding breast cancer risk -- where do we stand in 2005? J Cell Mol Med. 2005;9(1):208-21.

23. National Comprehensive Cancer Network. Clinical practice guidelines in oncology Breast cancer. 2013;Version 3. Available at:, <u>http://www.nccn.org/</u> professionals/physician\_gls/pdf/breast.pdf.

24. Sørlie T, Tibshirani R, Parker J, Hastie T, Marron JS, Nobel A, et al. Repeated observation of breast tumor subtypes in independent gene expression data sets. Proceedings of the national academy of sciences. 2003;100(14):8418-23.

25. Curtis C, Shah SP, Chin SF, Turashvili G, Rueda OM, Dunning MJ, et al. The genomic and transcriptomic architecture of 2,000 breast tumours reveals novel subgroups. Nature Reviews Cancer. 2012;486(7403):346–52.

26. Phipps AI, Chlebowski RT, Prentice R, McTiernan A, Stefanick ML, Wactawski-Wende J, et al. Body size, physical activity, and risk of triple-negative and estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2011;20(3):454-63.

27. O'Brien KM, Cole SR, Tse CK, Perou CM, Carey LA, Foulkes WD, et al. Intrinsic breast tumor subtypes, race, and long-term survival in the Carolina Breast Cancer Study. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(24):6100-10.

28. Perou CM, Sørlie T, Eisen MB, Van De Rijn M, Jeffrey SS, Rees CA, et al. Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. nature. 2000;406(6797):747-52.

29. Venkitaraman R. Triple-negative/basal-like breast cancer: clinical, pathologic and molecular features. Expert review of anticancer therapy. 2010;10(2):199-207.

30. Rakha EA, Ellis IO. Triple-negative/basal-like breast cancer. Pathology. 2009;41(1):40-7.

31. Dent R, Trudeau M, Pritchard KI, Hanna WM, Kahn HK, Sawka CA, et al. Triple-negative breast cancer: clinical features and patterns of recurrence. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(15 Pt 1):4429-34.

32. Stockler M, Wilcken N, Ghersi D, Simes RJ. Systematic reviews of systemic therapy for advanced breast cancer. Cancer Treat Rev. 2000;26:168.

33. Onitilo AA, Engel JM, Greenlee RT, Mukesh BN. Breast cancer subtypes based on ER/PR and Her2 expression: comparison of clinicopathologic features and survival. Clinical medicine & research. 2009;7(1-2):4-13.

34. Fragomeni SM, Sciallis A, Jeruss JS. Molecular subtypes and local-regional control of breast cancer. Surgical Oncology Clinics. 2018;27(1):95-120.

35. Björnström L, Sjöberg M. Mechanisms of estrogen receptor signaling: convergence of genomic and nongenomic actions on target genes. Molecular Endocrinology. 2005;19(4):833–42.

36. Behrens D, Gill JH, Fichtner I. Loss of tumourigenicity of stably  $ER\beta$ -transfected MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology. 2007;274(1-2):19-20.

37. García-Becerra R, Santos N, Díaz L, Camacho J. Mechanisms of Resistance to Endocrine Therapy in Breast Cancer: Focus on Signaling Pathways, miRNAs and Genetically Based Resistance. Int J Mol Sci. 2013;14(1):108–45.

38. Speirs V, Carder PJ, Lane S, Dodwell D, Lansdown MR, Hanby AM. Oestrogen receptor beta: what it means for patients with breast cancer. Lancet Oncol. 2004;5(3):174-81.

39. Musgrove EA, Sutherland RL. Biological determinants of endocrine resistance in breast cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer. 2009;9(9):631.

40. Goldhirsch A, Wood WC, Coates AS, Gelber RD, Thürlimann B, Senn HJ, et al. Strategies for subtypes—dealing with the diversity of breast cancer: highlights of the St Gallen International Expert Consensus on the Primary Therapy of Early Breast Cancer 2011. Annals of oncology. 2011;22(8):1736-47.

41. Visvanathan K, Chlebowski RT, Hurley P, Col NF, Ropka M, Collyar D, et al. American society of clinical oncology clinical practice guideline update on the use of pharmacologic interventions including tamoxifen, raloxifene, and aromatase inhibition for breast cancer risk reduction. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(19):3235-58.

42. Conzen SD. Managing the side effects of tamoxifen [Internet]. UpToDate. Topic 764 Version 18.0 [Updated 2016 Jan 06; cited 2017 Apr 28] Available from: <u>https://wwwuptodatecom/contents/managing-the-side-effects-of-</u> tamoxifen?source=search\_result&search=tamoxifen&selectedTitle=6~150 2016.

43. Bross PF, Cohen MH, Williams GA, Pazdur R. FDA drug approval summaries: fulvestrant. The Oncologist. 2002;7(6):477-80.

44. Fuqua SAW, Schiff R. Mechanisms of action of selective estrogen receptor modulators and down-regulators. [Internet] UpToDate Topic 762 Version 260 [Updated 2016 Oct 24; cited 2017 Apr 28] Available from: https://www.uptodatecom/contents/mechanisms-of-action-of-selective-estrogen-receptor-modulators-and-down-regulators?acuragesearch\_regulato

regulators?source=search\_result&search=fulvestrant&selectedTitle=6~15. 2016.

45. Walker AJ, Wedam S, Amiri-Kordestani L, Bloomquist E, Tang S, Sridhara R, et al. FDA approval of palbociclib in combination with fulvestrant for the treatment of hormone receptor–positive, HER2-negative metastatic breast cancer. Clinical Cancer Research. 2016;22(20):4968-72.

46. Altundag K, Ibrahim NK. Aromatase inhibitors in breast cancer: an overview. The Oncologist. 2006;11(6):553-62.

47. Miller WR, editor Aromatase inhibitors: mechanism of action and role in the treatment of breast cancer2003: Elsevier.

48. Bonneterre J, Buzdar A, Nabholtz JMA, Robertson JFR, Thürlimann B, von Euler M, et al. Anastrozole is superior to tamoxifen as first-line therapy in hormone receptor positive advanced breast carcinoma: results of two randomized trials designed for combined analysis. Cancer. 2001;92(9):2247-58.

49. Bonneterre J, Thurlimann B, Robertson JFR, Krzakowski M, Mauriac L, Koralewski P, et al. Anastrozole versus tamoxifen as first-line therapy for advanced breast cancer in 668 postmenopausal women: results of the Tamoxifen or Arimidex Randomized Group Efficacy and Tolerability study. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 2000;18(22):3748-57.

50. Pritchard KI. Patient education: Early-stage breast cancer treatment in postmenopausal women (Beyond the Basics). 2017.

51. Riggins RB, Schrecengost RS, Guerrero MS, Bouton AH. Pathways to Tamoxifen Resistance. Cancer Lett. 2007;256(1):1-24.

52. Cook KL, Shajahan AN, Clarke R. Autophagy and endocrine resistance in breast cancer. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2011;11(8):1283-94.

53. Motamedi S, Majidzadeh K, Mazaheri M, Anbiaie R, Mortazavizadeh SMR, Esmaeili R. Tamoxifen resistance and CYP2D6 copy numbers in breast cancer patients. Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention. 2012;13(12):6101-4.

54. Bai X, Ni J, Beretov J, Graham P, Li Y. Cancer stem cell in breast cancer therapeutic resistance. Cancer treatment reviews. 2018;69:152-63.

55. Dubrovska A, Hartung A, Bouchez LC, Walker JR, Reddy VA, Cho CY, et al. CXCR4 activation maintains a stem cell population in tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer cells through AhR signalling. British Journal of Cancer. 2012;107.

56. Chang M. Tamoxifen Resistance in Breast Cancer. Biomol Ther. 2012;20(3):256-67.

57. Burandt E, Jens G, Holst F, Jänicke F, Müller V, Quaas A, et al. Prognostic relevance of AIB1 (NCoA3) amplification and overexpression in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2013;137:745–53.

58. Chen H, Lin RJ, Xie W, Wilpitz D, Evans RM. Regulation of hormoneinduced histone hyperacetylation and gene activation via acetylation of an acetylase. Cell. 1999;98(5).

59. Wu RC, Qin J, Yi P, Wong J, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, et al. Selective phosphorylations of the SRC-3/AIB1 coactivator integrate genomic reponses to multiple cellular signaling pathways. Mol Cell. 2004;15(6):937-49.

60. Font de Mora J, Brown M. AIB1 is a conduit for kinase-mediated growth factor signaling to the estrogen receptor. Mol Cell Biol. 2000;20(4).

61. Park KJ, Krishnan V, O'Malley BW, Yamamoto Y, Gaynor RB. Formation of an IKKalpha-dependent transcription complex is required for estrogen receptormediated gene activation. Mol Cell. 2005;18(1):71-82.

62. Chen J. evans RM (1995) A transcriptional co-repressor that interacts with nuclear hormone receptors. Nature.377(6548):454-7.

63. Lavinsky RM, Jepsen K, Heinzel T, Torchia J, Mullen T-M, Schiff R, et al. Diverse signaling pathways modulate nuclear receptor recruitment of N-CoR and SMRT complexes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 1998;95(6):2920-5.

64. Hörlein AJ, Näär AM, Heinzel T, Torchia J, Gloss B, Kurokawa R, et al. Ligand-independent repression by the thyroid hormone receptor mediated by a nuclear receptor co-repressor. Nature. 1995;377(6548):397.

65. Schiff R, Massarweh S, Shou J, Osborne CK. Breast cancer endocrine resistance: how growth factor signaling and estrogen receptor coregulators modulate response. Clinical Cancer Research. 2003;9(1):447s-54s.

66. Schiff R, Massarweh SA, Shou J, Bharwani L, Mohsin SK, Osborne CK. Cross-talk between estrogen receptor and growth factor pathways as a molecular target for overcoming endocrine resistance. Clinical Cancer Research. 2004;10(1):331s-6s.

67. Glaros S, Atanaskova N, Zhao C, Skafar DF, Reddy KB. Activation function-1 domain of estrogen receptor regulates the agonistic and antagonistic actions of tamoxifen. Molecular endocrinology. 2006;20(5):996-1008.

68. Miller TW, Balko JM, Arteaga CL. Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase and Antiestrogen Resistance in Breast Cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(33):4452–61.

69. Campbell RA, Bhat-Nakshatri P, Patel NM, Constantinidou D, Ali S, Nakshatri H. Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/AKT-mediated activation of estrogen receptor alpha: a new model for anti-estrogen resistance. 2001;276(13):9817-24.

70. Duong BN, Elliott S, Frigo DE, Melnik LI, Vanhoy L, Tomchuck S, et al. AKT regulation of estrogen receptor beta transcriptional activity in breast cancer. Cancer Res. 2006;66(17):8373-81.

71. Faridi J, Wang L, Endemann G, Roth RA. Expression of constitutively active Akt-3 in MCF-7 breast cancer cells reverses the estrogen and tamoxifen responsivity of these cells in vivo. Clin Cancer Res. 2003;9(8):2933-9.

72. deGraffenried LA, Friedrichs WE, Fulcher L, Fernandes G, Silva JM, Peralba J-M, et al. Eicosapentaenoic acid restores tamoxifen sensitivity in breast cancer cells with high Akt activity. Annals of Oncology. 2003;14(7):1051–6.

73. Clark AS, West K, Streicher S, Dennis PA. Constitutive and inducible Akt activity promotes resistance to chemotherapy, trastuzumab, or tamoxifen in breast cancer cells. 2002;1(9):707-17.

74. Frogne T, Jepsen JS, Larsen SS, Fog CK, Brockdorff BL, Lykkesfeldt AE. Antiestrogen-resistant human breast cancer cells require activated protein kinase B/Akt for growth. Endocr Relat Cancer. 2005;12(3):599-614.

75. Jordan NJ, Gee JM, Barrow D, Wakeling AE, Nicholson RI. Increased constitutive activity of PKB/Akt in tamoxifen resistant breast cancer MCF-7 cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2004;87(2):67-80.

76. Brodie A, Sabnis G, Jelovac D. AROMATASE AND BREAST CANCER. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2006;102(1-5):97–102.

77. Liao WY, Shen CN, Lin LH, Yang YL, Han HY, Chen JW, et al. Asperjinone, a nor-neolignan, and terrein, a suppressor of ABCG2-expressing breast cancer cells, from thermophilic Aspergillus terreus. J Nat Prod. 2012;75(4):630-5.

78. Staud F, Pavek P. Breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2). The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology. 2005;37(4):720-5.

79. zu Schwabedissen HEM, Grube M, Dreisbach A, Jedlitschky G, Meissner K, Linnemann K, et al. Epidermal growth factor-mediated activation of the map kinase cascade results in altered expression and function of ABCG2 (BCRP). Drug metabolism and disposition. 2006;34(4):524-33.

80. Wang H, Zhou L, Gupta A, Vethanayagam RR, Zhang Y, Unadkat JD, et al. Regulation of BCRP/ABCG2 expression by progesterone and  $17\beta$ -estradiol in human placental BeWo cells. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2006;290(5):E798-E807.

81. Mogi M, Yang J, Lambert J-F, Colvin GA, Shiojima I, Skurk C, et al. Akt signaling regulates side population cell phenotype via Bcrp1 translocation. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2003;278(40):39068-75.

82. Nakanishi T, Chumsri S, Khakpour N, Brodie AH, Leyland-Jones B, Hamburger AW, et al. Side-population cells in luminal-type breast cancer have tumour-initiating cell properties, and are regulated by HER2 expression and signalling. British journal of cancer. 2010;102(5):815.

83. Frasor J, Weaver A, Pradhan M, Dai Y, Miller LD, Lin C-Y, et al. Positive cross-talk between estrogen receptor and NF-κB in breast cancer. Cancer research. 2009;69(23):8918-25.

84. Biswas DK, Cruz AP, Gansberger E, Pardee AB. Epidermal growth factorinduced nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B activation: a major pathway of cell-cycle progression in estrogen-receptor negative breast cancer cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2000;97(15):8542-7.

85. Chang N-S. The non-ankyrin C terminus of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  physically interacts with p53 in vivo and dissociates in response to apoptotic stress, hypoxia, DNA damage, and transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 1-mediated growth suppression. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2002;277(12):10323-31.

86. Penzo M, Habiel DM, Ramadass M, Kew RR, Marcu KB. Cell migration to CXCL12 requires simultaneous IKK $\alpha$  and IKK $\beta$ -dependent NF- $\kappa$ B signaling. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research. 2014;1843(9):1796-804.

**GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** 

87. Frasor J, El-Shennawy L, Stender JD, Kastrati I. NF $\kappa$ B affects estrogen receptor expression and activity in breast cancer through multiple mechanisms. Molecular and cellular endocrinology. 2015;418:235-9.

88. Van Laere SJ, Van der Auwera I, Van den Eynden GG, van Dam P, Van Marck EA, Vermeulen PB, et al. NF-kappaB activation in inflammatory breast cancer is associated with oestrogen receptor downregulation, secondary to EGFR and/or ErbB2 overexpression and MAPK hyperactivation. Br J Cancer. 2007;97(5):659-69.

89. Biswas DK, Cruz AP, Gansberger E, Pardee AB. Epidermal growth factorinduced nuclear factor. PNAS. 2000;19(15):8542–7.

90. Zhou Y, Eppenberger-Castori S, Eppenberger U, Benz CC. The NFκB pathway and endocrine-resistant breast cancer. Endocrine-Related Cancer. 2005;12(Supplement\_1):S37–S46.

91. Annunziata CM, Davis RE, Demchenko Y, Bellamy W, Gabrea A, Zhan F, et al. Frequent engagement of the classical and alternative NF-κB pathways by diverse genetic abnormalities in multiple myeloma. Cancer Cell. 2007;12(2):115-30.

92. Parker JS, Mullins M, Cheang MC, Leung S, Voduc D, Vickery T, et al. Supervised risk predictor of breast cancer based on intrinsic subtypes. J Clin Oncol. 2009;27(8):1160-7.

93. Qiu J, Wang X, Guo X, Zhao C, Wu X, Zhang Y. Toll-like receptor 9 agonist inhibits  $ER\alpha$ -mediated transactivation by activating NF- $\kappa$ B in breast cancer cell lines. ONCOLOGY REPORTS. 2009;22(4):935-41.

94. Paimela T, Ryhänen T, Mannermaa E, Ojala J, Kalesnykas G, Salminen A, et al. The effect of 17beta-estradiol on IL-6 secretion and NF-kappaB DNA-binding activity in human retinal pigment epithelial cells. Immunol Lett. 2007;110(2):139-44.

95. Nakshatri H, Bhat-Nakshatri P, Martin DA, Goulet RJ, Sledge GW. Constitutive activation of NF-kappaB during progression of breast cancer to hormone-independent growth. Molecular and cellular biology. 1997;17(7):3629-39.

96. Pratt MAC, Bishop TE, White D, Yasvinski G, Ménard M, Niu MY, et al. Estrogen withdrawal-induced NF- $\kappa$ B activity and bcl-3 expression in breast cancer cells: roles in growth and hormone independence. Molecular and cellular biology. 2003;23(19):6887-900.

97. Galien R, Garcia T. Estrogen receptor impairs interleukin-6 expression by preventing protein binding on the NF- $\kappa$ B site. Nucleic Acids Research. 1997;25(12):2424-9.

98. Ghisletti S, Meda C, Maggi A, Vegeto E. 17beta-estradiol inhibits inflammatory gene expression by controlling NF-kappaB intracellular localization. Mol Cell Biol. 2005;25(8):2957-68.

99. Hsu SM, Chen YC, Jiang MC. 17 beta-estradiol inhibits tumor necrosis factoralpha-induced nuclear factor-kappa B activation by increasing nuclear factor-kappa B p105 level in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2000;279(1).

100. Dai R, Phillips RA, Ahmed SA. Despite inhibition of nuclear localization of NF-kappa B p65, c-Rel, and RelB, 17-beta estradiol up-regulates NF-kappa B signaling in mouse splenocytes: the potential role of Bcl-3. J Immunol. 2007;179(3):1776-83.

101. Nettles KW, Gil G, Nowak J, Métivier R, Sharma VB, Greene GL. CBP Is a dosage-dependent regulator of nuclear factor-kappaB suppression by the estrogen receptor. Mol Endocrinol. 2008;22(2):263-72.

102. Cvoro A, Tzagarakis-Foster C, Tatomer D, Paruthiyil S, Fox MS, Leitman DC. Distinct roles of unliganded and liganded estrogen receptors in transcriptional repression. Mol Cell. 2006;21(4):555-64.

103. Belguise K, Sonenshein GE. PKC $\theta$  promotes c-Rel-driven mammary tumourigenesis in mice and humans by repressing estrogen receptor  $\alpha$  synthesis. J Clin Invest. 2007;117(12):4009–21.

104. Acharyya S, Sharma SM, Cheng AS, Ladner KJ, He W, Kline W, et al. TNF inhibits Notch-1 in skeletal muscle cells by Ezh2 and DNA methylation mediated repression: implications in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. PLoS One. 2010;5(8):e12479.

105. Reijm EA, Jansen MP, Ruigrok-Ritstier K, van Staveren IL, Look MP, van Gelder ME, et al. Decreased expression of EZH2 is associated with upregulation of ER and favorable outcome to tamoxifen in advanced breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2011;125(2):387-94.

106. Wang X, Belguise K, O'Neill CF, Sánchez-Morgan N, Romagnoli M, Eddy SF, et al. RelB NF-kappaB represses estrogen receptor alpha expression via induction of the zinc finger protein Blimp1. Mol Cell Biol. 2009;29(14):3832-44.

107. Sas L, Lardon F, Vermeulen PB, Hauspy J, Van Dam P, Pauwels P, et al. The interaction between ER and NF $\kappa$ B in resistance to endocrine therapy. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;14(4):212.

108. Kim MR, Choi HK, Cho KB, Kim HS, Kang KW. Involvement of Pin1 induction in epithelial-mesenchymal transition of tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer cells. Cancer Sci. 2009;100(10).

109. deGraffenried LA, Chandrasekar B, Friedrichs WE, Donzis E, Silva J, Hidalgo M, et al. NF-kappa B inhibition markedly enhances sensitivity of resistant breast cancer tumor cells to tamoxifen. Ann Oncol. 2004;15(6):885-90.

110. Pernas S, Tolaney SM, Winer EP, Goel S. CDK4/6 inhibition in breast cancer: current practice and future directions. Therapeutic advances in medical oncology. 2018;10:1758835918786451.

111. Caldon CE, Daly RJ, Sutherland RL, Musgrove EA. Cell Cycle Control in Breast Cancer Cells. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry. 2006;97.

112. Dong P, Zhang C, Parker B-T, You L, Mathey-Prevot B. Cyclin D/CDK4/6 activity controls G1 length in mammalian cells. PloS one. 2018;13(1):e0185637.

113. Topacio BR, Zatulovskiy E, Cristea S, Xie S, Tambo CS, Rubin SM, et al. Cyclin D-Cdk4, 6 Drives Cell-Cycle Progression via the Retinoblastoma Protein's C-Terminal Helix. Molecular cell. 2019;74(4):758-70.

114. Sherr CJ, Roberts JM. Living with or without cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinases. Genes Dev. 2004;18(22):2699-711.

115. Hui R, Finney GL, Carroll JS, Lee CS, Musgrove EA, Sutherland RL. Constitutive overexpression of cyclin D1 but not cyclin E confers acute resistance to antiestrogens in T-47D breast cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2002;62(23).

116. Kilker RL, Hartl MW, Rutherford TM, Planas-Silva MD. Cyclin D1 expression is dependent on estrogen receptor function in tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2004;92(1-2):63-71.

117. Kilker RL, Planas-Silva MD. Cyclin D1 is necessary for tamoxifen-induced cell cycle progression in human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2006;66(23):11478-84.

118. Ahnström M, Nordenskjöld B, Rutqvist LE, Skoog L, Stål O. Role of cyclin D1 in ErbB2-positive breast cancer and tamoxifen resistance. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2005;91(2):145-51.

119. Shou J, Massarweh S, Osborne CK, Wakeling AE, Ali S, Weiss H, et al. Mechanisms of tamoxifen resistance: increased estrogen receptor-HER2/neu cross-talk in ER/HER2-positive breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2004;96(12):926-35.

120. Holm C, Rayala S, Jirström K, Stål O, Kumar R, Landberg G. Association between Pak1 expression and subcellular localization and tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer patients. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2006;98(10):671-80.

121. Cai D, Felekkis KN, Near RI, O'Neill GM, van Seventer JM, Golemis EA, et al. The GDP Exchange Factor AND-34 Is Expressed in B Cells, Associates With HEF1, and Activates Cdc42. J Immunol. 2003;170:969-78.

122. Ma T, Yang L, Zhang J. miRNA-542-3p downregulation promotes trastuzumab resistance in breast cancer cells via AKT activation. Oncology reports. 2015;33(3):1215-20.

123. Mohammadizadeh F, Hani M, Ranaee M, Bagheri M. Role of cyclin D1 in breast carcinoma. Journal of research in medical sciences: the official journal of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences. 2013;18(12):1021.

124. Lundberg A, Lindström LS, Li J, Harrell JC, Darai-Ramqvist E, Sifakis EG, et al. The long-term prognostic and predictive capacity of cyclin D1 gene amplification in 2305 breast tumours. Breast Cancer Research. 2019;21(1):34.

125. Ishii Y, Waxman S, Germain D. Tamoxifen stimulates the growth of cyclin D1–overexpressing breast cancer cells by promoting the activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3. Cancer Research. 2008;68(3):852-60.

126. Peurala E, Koivunen P, Haapasaari K-M, Bloigu R, Jukkola-Vuorinen A. The prognostic significance and value of cyclin D1, CDK4 and p16 in human breast cancer. Breast Cancer Research. 2013;15(1):R5.

127. Ganju RK, Brubaker SA, Meyer J, Dutt P, Yang Y, Qin S, et al. The  $\alpha$ chemokine, stromal cell-derived factor-1 $\alpha$ , binds to the transmembrane G-proteincoupled CXCR-4 receptor and activates multiple signal transduction pathways. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1998;273(36):23169-75.

128. Ishikawa T, Nakashiro K-I, Hara S, Klosek SK, Li C, Shintani S, et al. CXCR4 expression is associated with lymph-node metastasis of oral squamous cell carcinoma. International Journal of Oncology. 2006;28(1):61-6.

129. Kalinkovich A, Tavor S, Avigdor A, Kahn J, Brill A, Petit I, et al. Functional CXCR4-expressing microparticles and SDF-1 correlate with circulating acute myelogenous leukemia cells. Cancer Res. 2006;66(22):11013-20.

130. Han M, Lv S, Zhang Y, Yi R, Huang B, Fu H, et al. The prognosis and clinicopathology of CXCR4 in gastric cancer patients: a meta-analysis. Tumour Biol. 2014;35(5):4589-97.

131. Lv S, Yang Y, Kwon S, Han M, Zhao F, Kang H, et al. The association of CXCR4 expression with prognosis and clinicopathological indicators in colorectal carcinoma patients: a meta-analysis. Histopathology. 2014;64(5):701-12.

132. Schimanski CC, Bahre R, Gockel I, Müller A, Frerichs K, Hörner V, et al. Dissemination of hepatocellular carcinoma is mediated via chemokine receptor CXCR4. Br J Cancer. 2006;95(2):210-7.

133. Billadeau DD, Chatterjee S, Bramati P, Sreekumar R, Shah V, Hedin K, et al. Characterization of the CXCR4 signaling in pancreatic cancer cells. Int J Gastrointest Canc. 2006;37:110-9.

134. De Falco V, Guarino V, Avilla E, Castellone MD, Salerno P, Salvatore G, et al. Biological role and potential therapeutic targeting of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 in undifferentiated thyroid cancer. Cancer Res. 2007;67(24):11821-9.

135. Dewan MZ, Ahmed S, Iwasaki Y, Ohba K, Toi M, Yamamoto N. Stromal cell-derived factor-1 and CXCR4 receptor interaction in tumor growth and metastasis of breast cancer. Biomed Pharmacother. 2006;60(6):273-6.

136. Kajiyama H, Shibata K, Terauchi M, Ino K, Nawa A, Kikkawa F. Involvement of SDF-1alpha/CXCR4 axis in the enhanced peritoneal metastasis of epithelial ovarian carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 2008;122(1):91-9.

137. Cavallaro S. CXCR4/CXCL12 in Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer Metastasis to the Brain. Int J Mol Sci. 2013;14:1713-27.

138. Pan J, Mestas J, Burdick MD, Phillips RJ, Thomas GV, Reckamp K, et al. Stromal derived factor-1 (SDF-1/CXCL12) and CXCR4 in renal cell carcinoma metastasis. Mol Cancer. 2006;5:56.

139. Ping YF, Yao XH, Chen JH, Liu H, Chen DL, Zhou XD, et al. The anti-cancer compound Nordy inhibits CXCR4-mediated production of IL-8 and VEGF by malignant human glioma cells. Journal of Neuro-oncology. 2007;84(1):21-9.

140. Murakami T, Maki W, Cardones AR, Fang H, Tun-Kyi A, Nestle FO, et al. Expression of CXC chemokine receptor-4 enhances the pulmonary metastatic potential of murine B16 melanoma cells. Cancer Res. 2002;62(24):7328-34.

141. Aravindan BK, Prabhakar J, Thara Somanathan LS. The role of chemokine receptor 4 and its ligand stromal cell derived factor 1 in breast cancer. Annals of translational medicine. 2015;3(2).

142. Xu T-p, Shen H, Liu L-x, Shu Y-q. The impact of chemokine receptor CXCR4 on breast cancer prognosis: a meta-analysis. Cancer epidemiology. 2013;37(5):725-31.

143. Xu C, Zhao H, Chen H, Yao Q. CXCR4 in breast cancer: oncogenic role and therapeutic targeting. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2015;9:4953-64.

144. Luker KE, Luker GD. Functions of CXCL12 and CXCR4 in breast cancer. Cancer Lett. 2006;238(1):30-41.

145. Liang Z, Brooks J, Willard M, Liang K, Yoon Y, Kang S, et al. CXCR4/CXCL12 axis promotes VEGF-mediated tumor angiogenesis through Akt signaling pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007;359(3):716-22.

146. Hinton CV, Avraham S, Avraham HK. Role of the CXCR4/CXCL12 signaling axis in breast cancer metastasis to the brain. Clin Exp Metastasis. 2010;27(2):97-105.

147. Berkman RA, Merrill MJ, Reinhold WC, Monacci WT, Saxena A, Clark WC, et al. Expression of the vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor gene in central nervous system neoplasms. J Clin Invest. 1993;91(1):153-9.

148. Helbig G, Christopherson KW, Bhat-Nakshatri P, Kumar S, Kishimoto H, Miller KD, et al. NF-kappaB promotes breast cancer cell migration and metastasis by inducing the expression of the chemokine receptor CXCR4. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(24):21631-8.

149. Kukreja P, Abdel-Mageed AB, Mondal D, Liu K, Agrawal KC. Up-regulation of CXCR4 expression in PC-3 cells by stromal-derived factor-1alpha (CXCL12) increases endothelial adhesion and transendothelial migration: role of MEK/ERK signaling pathway-dependent NF-kappaB activation. Cancer Res. 2005;65(21):9891-8.

150. Peng SB, Peek V, Zhai Y, Paul DC, Lou Q, Xia X, et al. Akt activation, but not extracellular signal-regulated kinase activation, is required for SDF-1alpha/CXCR4-mediated migration of epitheloid carcinoma cells. Mol Cancer Res. 2005;3(4):227-36.

151. Cabioglu N, Summy J, Miller C, Parikh NU, Sahin AA, Tuzlali S, et al. CXCL-12/Stromal Cell–Derived Factor-1α Transactivates HER2-neu in Breast

Cancer Cells by a Novel Pathway Involving Src Kinase Activation. Cancer Research. 2005;65(15):6493-7.

152. Chinni SR, Yamamoto H, Dong Z, Sabbota A, Bonfil RD, Cher ML. CXCL12/CXCR4 transactivates HER2 in lipid rafts of prostate cancer cells and promotes growth of metastatic deposits in bone. Mol Cancer Res. 2008;6(3):446-57.

153. Porcile C, Bajetto A, Barbieri F, Barbero S, Bonavia R, Biglieri M, et al. Stromal cell-derived factor-1alpha (SDF-1alpha/CXCL12) stimulates ovarian cancer cell growth through the EGF receptor transactivation. Exp Cell Res. 2005;308(2):241-53.

154. Ravindran PN, Pillai GS, Balachandran I, Divakaran M. Galangal. Handbook of Herbs and Spices. 2012;2:303-18.

155. Jirovetz L, Buchbauer G, Shafi MP, Leela NK. Analysis of the essential oils of the leaves, stems, rhizomes and roots of the medicinal plant Alpinia galanga from southern India. Acta Pharm. 2003;53(2):73-81.

156. Ito K, Nakazato T, Xian MJ, Yamada T, Hozumi N, Murakami A, et al. 1'-Acetoxychavicol Acetate Is a Novel Nuclear Factor  $\kappa B$  Inhibitor with Significant Activity against Multiple Myeloma In vitro and In vivo. Cancer Res. 2005a;65(10):4417-24.

157. Jacquat C, Bertossa G. Plants from the Markets of Thailand. 1990.

158. Jain AP, Pawara RS, Lodhia S, Singhaia AK. Immunomodulatory and antioxidant potential of Alpinia galanga Linn. rhizomes. Pharmacognosy Communications. 2012;2(3).

159. Liu Y, Murakami N, Zhang S, Xu T. Structure-activity relationships of 1'acetoxychavicol acetate homologues as new nuclear export signal inhibitors. Die Pharmazie-An International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2007;62(9):659-62.

160. Palittapongarnpim P, Kirdmanee C, Kittakoop P, Rukseree K. 1'-Acetoxychavicol acetate for tuberculosis treatment. Google Patents; 2002.

161. Ohnishi R, Matsui-Yuasa I, Deguchi Y, Yaku K, Tabuchi M, Munakata H, et al. 1'-Acetoxychavicol Acetate Inhibits Adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 Adipocytes and in High Fat-Fed Rats. The American Journal of Chinese Medicine. 2012;40(06):1189-204.

162. Xu S, Kojima-Yuasa A, Azumab H, Huanga X, Norikura T, Kennedy DO, et al. (1'S)-Acetoxychavicol acetate and its enantiomer inhibit tumor

cells proliferation via different mechanisms. Chemico-Biological Interactions. 2008;172(3):216–23.

163. Awang K, Azmi MN, In LLA, Aziz AN, Ibrahim H, Nagoor NH. The Apoptotic Effect of 1'S-1'-Acetoxychavicol Acetate from Alpinia Conchigera on Human Cancer Cells. Molecules. 2010;15:8048-59.

164. Ito K, Nakazato T, Murakami A, Yamato K, Miyakawa Y, Yamada T, et al. Induction of Apoptosis in Human Myeloid Leukemic Cells by 1'-Acetoxychavicol Acetate through a Mitochondrial- and Fas-Mediated Dual Mechanism. Clinical Cancer Research. 2004;10:2120-30.

165. Azuma H, Miyasaka K, Yokotani T, Tachibana T, Kojima-Yuasa A, Matsui-Yuasa I, et al. Lipase-catalyzed preparation of optically active 1'-acetoxychavicol acetates and their structure–activity relationships in apoptotic activity against human leukemia HL-60 cells. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry. 2006;14:1811–8.

166. Moffatt J, Hashimoto M, Kojima A, Kennedy DO, Murakami A, Koshimizu K, et al. Apoptosis induced by 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate in Ehrlich ascites tumor cells is associated with modulation of polyamine metabolism and caspase-3 activation. Carcinogenesis. 2000;21(12):2151–7.

167. Ohnishi H, Asamoto M, Tujimura K, Hokaiwado N, Takahashi S, Ogawa K, et al. Inhibition of cell proliferation by nobiletin, a dietary phytochemical, associated with apoptosis and characteristic gene expression, but lack of effect on early rat hepatocarcinogenesis in vivo. Cancer Sci. 2004;95(12):936-42.

168. Ito K, Nakazato T, Murakami A, Ohigashi H, Ikeda Y, Kizaki M. 1'-Acetoxychavicol acetate induces apoptosis of myeloma cells via induction of TRAIL. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2005b;338(4):1702-10.

169. In LL, Arshad NM, Ibrahim H, Azmi MN, Awang K, Nagoor NH. 1'-Acetoxychavicol acetate inhibits growth of human oral carcinoma xenograft in mice and potentiates cisplatin effect via proinflammatory microenvironment alterations. BMC Complement Altern Med. 2012;12:179.

170. Campbell CT, Prince M, Landry GM, Kha V, Kleiner HE. Pro-apoptotic effects of 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate in human breast carcinoma cells. Toxicol Lett. 2007;173(1):51-160.

171. Ichikawa H, Takada Y, Murakami A, Aggarwal BB. Identification of a Novel Blocker of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  Kinase That Enhances Cellular Apoptosis and Inhibits Cellular Invasion through Suppression of NF- $\kappa$ B-Regulated Gene Products. J Immunol. 2005;174(11).

172. Wang J, Zhang L, Chen G, Zhang J, Li Z, Lu W, et al. Small molecule 1'acetoxychavicol acetate suppresses breast tumor metastasis by regulating the SHP-1/STAT3/MMPs signaling pathway. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2014;148(2):279-89.

173. Murakami A, Shigemori T, Ohigashi H. Zingiberaceous and citrus constituents, 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate, zerumbone, auraptene, and nobiletin, suppress lipopolysaccharide-induced cyclooxygenase-2 expression in RAW264.7

murine macrophages through different modes of action. J Nutr. 2005;135(12 Suppl):2987S-92S.

174. Pang X, Zhang L, Lai L, Chen J, Wu Y, Yi Z, et al. 1'-Acetoxychavicol acetate suppresses angiogenesis-mediated human prostate tumor growth by targeting VEGF-mediated Src-FAK-Rho GTPase-signaling pathway. Carcinogenesis. 2011;32(6):904-12.

175. Williams M, Tietzel I, Quick QA. 1'-Acetoxychavicol acetate promotes caspase 3-activated glioblastoma cell death by overcoming enhanced cytokine expression. Oncol Lett. 2013;5(6):1968-72.

176. Ohnishi M, Tanaka T, Makita H, Kawamori T, Mori H, Satoh K, et al. Chemopreventive effect of a xanthine oxidase inhibitor, 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate, on rat oral carcinogenesis. Jpn J Cancer Res. 1996;87(4):349-56.

177. Tanaka T, Makita H, Kawabata K, Mori H, Kakumoto M, Satoh K HA, Sumida T, Tanaka T, Ogawa H. Chemoprevention of azoxymethane-induced rat colon carcinogenesis by the naturally occurring flavonoids, diosmin and hesperidin. Carcinogenesis. 1997;18(5):957-65.

178. Yaku K, Matsui-Yuasa I, Azuma H, Kojima-Yuasa A. 1'-Acetoxychavicol acetate enhances the phase II enzyme activities via the increase in intranuclear Nrf2 level and cytosolic p21 level. Am J Chin Med. 2011;39(4):789-802.

179. Higashida M, Xu S, Kojima-Yuasa A, Kennedy DO, Murakami A, Ohigashi H, et al. 1'-Acetoxychavicol acetate-induced cytotoxicity is accompanied by a rapid and drastic modulation of glutathione metabolism. Amino Acids. 2008;36(1):107-13.

180. Phuah NH, In LLA, Azmi MN, Ibrahim H, Awang K, Nagoor NH. Alterations of MicroRNA Expression Patterns in Human Cervical Carcinoma Cells (Ca Ski) toward 1'S-1'-Acetoxychavicol Acetate and Cisplatin. Reprod Sci. 2013;20(5):567–78.

181. Wang H, Shen L, Li X, Sun M. MicroRNAs contribute to the anticancer effect of 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate in human head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cell line HN4. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 2013;I 77(12):2348-55.

182. Sok SPM, Arshad NM, Azmi MN, Awang K, Ozpolat B, Nagoor NH. The apoptotic effect of 1'S-1'-Acetoxychavicol Acetate (ACA) enhanced by inhibition of non-canonical autophagy in human non-small cell lung cancer cells. PloS one. 2017;12(2).

183. Phuah NH, Azmi MN, Awang K, Nagoor NH. Down-regulation of microRNA-210 confers sensitivity towards 1's-1'-acetoxychavicol acetate (ACA) in cervical cancer cells by targeting SMAD4. Molecules and cells. 2017;40(4):291.

184. Miyauchi M, Nishikawa A, Furukawa F, Nakamura H, Son HY, Murakami A, et al. Inhibitory effects of 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate on N-Nitrosobis(2-oxopropyl)-
amine-induced initiation of cholangiocarcinogenesis in Syrian hamsters. Jpn J Cancer Res. 2000;91(5):477-81.

185. Kawabata K, Tanaka T, Yamamoto T, Ushida J, Hara A, Murakami A, et al. Suppression of N-Nitrosomethylbenzylamine-induced Rat Esophageal Tumorigenesis by Dietary Feeding of 1'-Acetoxychavicol Acetate. Jpn J Cancer Res. 2000;91:148–55.

186. Kobayashi Y, Nakae D, Akai H, Kishida H, Okajima E, Kitayama W, et al. Prevention by 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate of the induction but not growth of putative preneoplastic, glutathione S-transferase placental form-positive, focal lesions in the livers of rats fed a choline-deficient, L-amino acid-defined diet. Carcinogenesis. 1998;19(10):1809-14.

187. Sagawa M, Tabayashi T, Kimura Y, Tomikawa T, Nemoto-Anan T, Watanabe R, et al. TM-233, a novel analog of 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate, induces cell death in myeloma cells by inhibiting both JAK/STAT and proteasome activities. Cancer Sci. 2015;106(4):438-46.

188. Satoh R, Hagihara K, Matsuura K, Manse Y, Kita A, Kunoh T, et al. Identification of ACA-28, a 1'-acetoxychavicol acetate analogue compound, as a novel modulator of ERK MAPK signaling, which preferentially kills human melanoma cells. Genes to Cells. 2017;22(7):608-18.

189. Khongthong P, Roseweir A, Edwards J. The NF-KB pathway and endocrine therapy resistance in breast cancer. Endocrine-Related Cancer. 2019;1(aop).

190. Nehra R, Riggins RB, Shajahan AN, Zwart A, Crawford AC, Clarke R. BCL2 and CASP8 regulation by NF- $\kappa$ B differentially affect mitochondrial function and cell fate in antiestrogen-sensitive and-resistant breast cancer cells. The FASEB Journal. 2010;24(6):2040-55.

191. Zhou Y, Yau C, Gray JW, Chew K, Dairkee SH, Moore DH, et al. Enhanced NF $\kappa$ B and AP-1 transcriptional activity associated with antiestrogen resistant breast cancer. BMC cancer. 2007;7(1):59.

192. Liew SK, Azmi MN, In LLA, Awang K, Nagoor NH. Anti-proliferative, apoptotic induction, and anti-migration effects of hemi-synthetic 1' S-1'- acetoxychavicol acetate analogs on MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells. Drug design, development and therapy. 2017;11:2763.

193. Mizgirev I, Revskoy S. Generation of clonal zebrafish lines and transplantable hepatic tumors. Nature protocols. 2010;5(3):383.

194. Ziv L, Muto A, Schoonheim PJ, Meijsing SH, Strasser D, Ingraham HA, et al. An affective disorder in zebrafish with mutation of the glucocorticoid receptor. Molecular psychiatry. 2013;18(6):681-91.

195. Parsons MJ, Campos I, Hirst EMA, Stemple DL. Removal of dystroglycan causes severe muscular dystrophy in zebrafish embryos. Development. 2002;129(14):3505-12.

196. Niethammer P, Grabher C, Look AT, Mitchison TJ. A tissue-scale gradient of hydrogen peroxide mediates rapid wound detection in zebrafish. Nature. 2009;459(7249):996-9.

197. Lieschke GJ, Oates AC, Crowhurst MO, Ward AC, Layton JE. Morphologic and functional characterization of granulocytes and macrophages in embryonic and adult zebrafish. Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology. 2001;98(10):3087-96.

198. Zhao S, Huang J, Ye J. A fresh look at zebrafish from the perspective of cancer research. Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research. 2015;34(1):80.

199. Santoriello C, Zon LI. Hooked! Modeling human disease in zebrafish. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2012;122(7):2337-43.

200. Spitsbergen J. Imaging neoplasia in zebrafish. Nature methods. 2007;4(7):548-9.

201. Nusslein-Volhard C, Dahm R. Zebrafish: Oxford University Press; 2002.

202. Zon LI, Peterson RT. In vivo drug discovery in the zebrafish. Nature reviews Drug discovery. 2005;4(1):35-44.

203. Hason M, Bartůněk P. Zebrafish Models of Cancer—New Insights on Modeling Human Cancer in a Non-Mammalian Vertebrate. Genes. 2019;10(11):935.

204. Lieschke GJ, Trede NS. Fish immunology. Current Biology. 2009;19(16):R678-R82.

205. Ito M, Hiramatsu H, Kobayashi K, Suzue K, Kawahata M, Hioki K, et al. NOD/SCID/ $\gamma$  c null mouse: an excellent recipient mouse model for engraftment of human cells. Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology. 2002;100(9):3175-82.

206. Traver D, Herbomel P, Patton EE, Murphey RD, Yoder JA, Litman GW, et al. The zebrafish as a model organism to study development of the immune system. Advances in immunology. 2003;81:253.

207. Chou Y-T, Chen L-Y, Tsai S-L, Tu H-C, Lu J-W, Ciou S-C, et al. Ribose-5phosphate isomerase A overexpression promotes liver cancer development in transgenic zebrafish via activation of ERK and  $\beta$ -catenin pathways. Carcinogenesis. 2019;40(3):461-73.

208. Karanikolas BDW, Figueiredo ML, Wu L. Polycomb group protein enhancer of zeste 2 is an oncogene that promotes the neoplastic transformation of a benign prostatic epithelial cell line. Molecular Cancer Research. 2009;7(9):1456-65.

209. Teng Y, Xie X, Walker S, White DT, Mumm JS, Cowell JK. Evaluating human cancer cell metastasis in zebrafish. BMC cancer. 2013;13(1):453.

210. Vittori M, Breznik B, Hrovat K, Kenig S, Lah TT. RECQ1 helicase silencing decreases the tumour growth rate of U87 glioblastoma cell xenografts in zebrafish embryos. Genes. 2017;8(9):222.

211. Nicoli S, Presta M. The zebrafish/tumor xenograft angiogenesis assay. Nat Protoc. 2007;2(11):2918-23.

212. Lam SH, Lee SGP, Lin CY, Thomsen JS, Fu PY, Murthy KRK, et al. Molecular conservation of estrogen-response associated with cell cycle regulation, hormonal carcinogenesis and cancer in zebrafish and human cancer cell lines. BMC medical genomics. 2011;4(1):41.

213. Truong HH, Xiong J, Ghotra VPS, Nirmala E, Haazen L, Le Devedec SE, et al.  $\beta$ 1 integrin inhibition elicits a prometastatic switch through the tgf $\beta$ -mir-200-zeb network in e-cadherin-positive triple-negative breast cancer. Sci Signal. 2014;7(312):ra15-ra.

214. Tulotta C, Stefanescu C, Beletkaia E, Bussmann J, Tarbashevich K, Schmidt T, et al. Inhibition of signaling between human CXCR4 and zebrafish ligands by the small molecule IT1t impairs the formation of triple-negative breast cancer early metastases in a zebrafish xenograft model. Disease models & mechanisms. 2016;9(2):141-53.

215. Tulotta C, Stefanescu C, Chen Q, Torraca V, Meijer AH, Snaar-Jagalska BE. CXCR4 signaling regulates metastatic onset by controlling neutrophil motility and response to malignant cells. Scientific reports. 2019;9(1):1-16.

216. Lieschke GJ, Currie PD. Animal models of human disease: zebrafish swim into view. Nature Reviews Genetics. 2007;8(5):353.

217. Goldsmith JR, Jobin C. Think small: zebrafish as a model system of human pathology. BioMed Research International. 2012;2012.

218. Adamson KI, Sheridan E, Grierson AJ. Use of zebrafish models to investigate rare human disease. Journal of Medical Genetics. 2018;55(10):641-9.

219. Berry M, Fielding B, Gamieldien J. Practical considerations in virtual screening and molecular docking. Emerging Trends in Computational Biology, Bioinformatics, and Systems Biology; Tran, QN, Hamid, AR, Eds. 2015:487-502.

220. Joseph-McCarthy D, Baber JC, Feyfant E, Thompson DC, Humblet C. Lead optimization via high-throughput molecular docking. Current opinion in drug discovery & development. 2007;10(3):264-74.

221. Zoete V, Grosdidier A, Michielin O. Docking, virtual high throughput screening and in silico fragment-based drug design. Journal of cellular and molecular medicine. 2009;13(2):238-48.

222. Stefaniu A. Introductory Chapter: Molecular Docking and Molecular Dynamics Techniques to Achieve Rational Drug Design. Molecular Docking and Molecular Dynamics: IntechOpen; 2019.

223. Salmaso V. Exploring protein flexibility during docking to investigate ligand-target recognition. 2018.

224. Chandel TI, Zaman M, Khan MV, Ali M, Rabbani G, Ishtikhar M, et al. A mechanistic insight into protein-ligand interaction, folding, misfolding, aggregation and inhibition of protein aggregates: An overview. International journal of biological macromolecules. 2018;106:1115-29.

225. Kuntz ID, Blaney JM, Oatley SJ, Langridge R, Ferrin TE. A geometric approach to macromolecule-ligand interactions. Journal of molecular biology. 1982;161(2):269-88.

226. Sadovnichy VA, Sulimov VB. Supercomputer technology in science, education and industry. Supercomputer Technologies in Medicine. 2009:16-23.

227. Guedes IA, de Magalhães CS, Dardenne LE. Receptor-ligand molecular docking. Biophysical reviews. 2014;6(1):75-87.

228. Brünner N, Boysen B, Jirus S, Skaar TC, Holst-Hansen C, Lippman J, et al. MCF7/LCC9: an antiestrogen-resistant MCF-7 variant in which acquired resistance to the steroidal antiestrogen ICI 182,780 confers an early cross-resistance to the nonsteroidal antiestrogen tamoxifen. Cancer research. 1997;57(16):3486-93.

229. Clarke R, Brünner N, Katzenellenbogen BS, Thompson EW, Norman MJ, Koppi C, et al. Progression of human breast cancer cells from hormone-dependent to hormone-independent growth both in vitro and in vivo. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 1989;86(10):3649-53.

230. Brünner N, Boulay V, Fojo A, Freter CE, Lippman ME, Clarke R. Acquisition of hormone-independent growth in MCF-7 cells is accompanied by increased expression of estrogen-regulated genes but without detectable DNA amplifications. Cancer research. 1993;53(2):283-90.

231. Brünner N, Frandsen TL, Holst-Hansen C, Bei M, Thompson EW, Wakeling AE, et al. MCF7/LCC2: a 4-hydroxytamoxifen resistant human breast cancer variant that retains sensitivity to the steroidal antiestrogen ICI 182,780. Cancer research. 1993;53(14):3229-32.

232. Clarke R, Brünner N, Katzenellenbogen BS, Thompson EW, Norman MJ, Koppi C, et al. Progression from hormone dependent to hormone independent growth in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1989;86:3649-53.

233. Basri AM, Taha H, Ahmad N. A review on the pharmacological activities and phytochemicals of Alpinia officinarum (Galangal) extracts derived from bioassay-guided fractionation and isolation. Pharmacognosy reviews. 2017;11(21):43.

234. Chouni A, Paul S. A review on phytochemical and pharmacological potential of Alpinia galanga. Pharmacognosy Journal. 2018;10(1).

235. Carmichael J, DeGraff WG, Gazdar AF, Minna JD, Mitchell JB. Evaluation of a tetrazolium-based semiautomated colorimetric assay: assessment of chemosensitivity testing. Cancer research. 1987;47(4):936-42.

236. Portman N, Alexandrou S, Carson E, Wang S, Lim E, Caldon CE. Overcoming CDK4/6 inhibitor resistance in ER-positive breast cancer. Endocrine-related cancer. 2019;26(1):R15-R30.

237. Sobanska M, Scholz S, Nyman AM, Cesnaitis R, Alonso SG, Klüver N, et al. Applicability of the fish embryo acute toxicity (FET) test (OECD 236) in the regulatory context of Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation, and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH). Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 2018;37(3):657-70.

238. Huiting LN, Laroche F, Feng H. The Zebrafish as a Tool to Cancer Drug Discovery. Austin J Pharmacol Ther. 2015;3(2):1069.

239. Lee SLC, Rouhi P, Jensen LD, Zhang D, Ji H, Hauptmann G, et al. Hypoxiainduced pathological angiogenesis mediates tumor cell dissemination, invasion, and metastasis in a zebrafish tumor model. PNAS. 2009;106(46):19485-90.

240. Ishikawa T, Seto M, Banno H, Kawakita Y, Oorui M, Taniguchi T, et al. Design and synthesis of novel human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2)/epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) dual inhibitors bearing a pyrrolo [3, 2-d] pyrimidine scaffold. Journal of medicinal chemistry. 2011;54(23):8030-50.

241. Addie M, Ballard P, Buttar D, Crafter C, Currie G, Davies BR, et al. Discovery of 4-Amino-N-[(1 S)-1-(4-chlorophenyl)-3-hydroxypropyl]-1-(7 H-pyrrolo [2, 3-d] pyrimidin-4-yl) piperidine-4-carboxamide (AZD5363), an Orally Bioavailable, Potent Inhibitor of Akt Kinases. Journal of medicinal chemistry. 2013;56(5):2059-73.

242. Ward RA, Bethel P, Cook C, Davies E, Debreczeni JE, Fairley G, et al. Structure-Guided Discovery of Potent and Selective Inhibitors of ERK1/2 from a Modestly Active and Promiscuous Chemical Start Point. Journal of medicinal chemistry. 2017;60(8):3438-50.

243. Shiau AK, Barstad D, Loria PM, Cheng L, Kushner PJ, Agard DA, et al. The structural basis of estrogen receptor/coactivator recognition and the antagonism of this interaction by tamoxifen. Cell. 1998;95(7):927-37.

244. Jiang L, Zhang X, Zhou Y, Chen Y, Luo Z, Li J, et al. Halogen bonding for the design of inhibitors by targeting the S1 pocket of serine proteases. RSC advances. 2018;8(49):28189-97.

245. Lu H, Chang DJ, Baratte B, Meijer L, Schulze-Gahmen U. Crystal structure of a human cyclin-dependent kinase 6 complex with a flavonol inhibitor, fisetin. Journal of medicinal chemistry. 2005;48(3):737-43.

246. Schlessinger J, Plotnikov AN, Ibrahimi OA, Eliseenkova AV, Yeh BK, Yayon A, et al. Crystal structure of a ternary FGF-FGFR-heparin complex reveals a dual role for heparin in FGFR binding and dimerization. Molecular cell. 2000;6(3):743-50.

247. Frisch MJ, Trucks GW, Schlegel HB, Scuseria GE, Robb MA, Cheeseman JR, et al. Gaussian 09. Wallingford, CT, USA: Gaussian, Inc.; 2009.

248. Wu G, Robertson DH, Brooks CL, 3rd, Vieth M. Detailed analysis of gridbased molecular docking: A case study of CDOCKER-A CHARMm-based MD docking algorithm. Journal of computational chemistry. 2003;24(13):1549-62.

249. Hayashi S, Yanagisawa M, Hayamizu K. Notes Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Chemical Shifts of Pure Organic Solvents Determined by Magic Angle Spinning. Analytical sciences. 1991;7(6):955-7.

250. Seo JW, Cho SC, Park SJ, Lee EJ, Lee JH, Han SS, et al. 1'-Acetoxychavicol acetate isolated from Alpinia galanga ameliorates ovalbumin-induced asthma in mice. PLoS One. 2013;8(2):e56447.

251. Azuma H, Aizawa Y, Higashitani N, Tsumori T, Kojima-Yuasa A, Matsui-Yuasa I, et al. Biological activity of water-soluble inclusion complexes of 1'acetoxychavicol acetate with cyclodextrins. Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry. 2011;19(12):3855-63.

252. Eram S, Mujahid M, Bagga P, Ansari VA, Ahmad MA, Kumar A. A review on phytopharmacological activity of Alpinia galanga. Int J Pharm Pharm Sci. 2019;11:6-11.

253. Lin LY, Shen KH, Yeh XY, Huang BY, Wang HE, Chen KC, et al. Integrated Process for Production of Galangal Acetate, the "Wasabi-Like" Spicy Compound, and Analysis of Essential Oils of Rhizoma Alpinia officinarum (Hance) Farw. Journal of food science. 2016;81(6):H1565-H75.

254. Murakami A, Toyota K, Ohura S, Koshimizu K, Ohigashi H. Structure–Activity Relationships of (1' S )-1'-Acetoxychavicol Acetate, a Major Constituent of a Southeast Asian Condiment Plant Languas galanga, on the Inhibition of Tumor-Promoter-Induced Epstein–Barr Virus Activation. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 2000;48(5):1518-23.

255. De Cremoux P, Tran-Perennou C, Brockdorff BL, Boudou E, Magdel H, Lykkesfeldt AE. Validation of real-time RT-PCR for analysis of human breast cancer cell lines resistant or sensitive to treatment with antiestrogens. Endocrine-related cancer. 2003;10(3):409-18.

256. Dai X, Cheng H, Bai Z, Li J. Breast cancer cell line classification and its relevance with breast tumor subtyping. Journal of Cancer. 2017;8(16):3131.

257. Serra F, Lapidari P, Quaquarini E, Tagliaferri B, Sottotetti F, Palumbo R. Palbociclib in metastatic breast cancer: current evidence and real-life data. Drugs in Context. 2019;8.

258. Turner NC, Ro J, André F, Loi S, Verma S, Iwata H, et al. Palbociclib in hormone-receptor–positive advanced breast cancer. New England Journal of Medicine. 2015;373(3):209-19.

259. Beaver JA, Amiri-Kordestani L, Charlab R, Chen W, Palmby T, Tilley A, et al. FDA approval: palbociclib for the treatment of postmenopausal patients with estrogen receptor–positive, HER2-negative metastatic breast cancer. Clinical Cancer Research. 2015;21(21):4760-6.

260. Yang F, Huang X, Sun C, Li J, Wang B, Yan M, et al. Lapatinib in combination with capecitabine versus continued use of trastuzumab in breast cancer patients with trastuzumab-resistance: a retrospective study of a Chinese population. BMC cancer. 2020;20(1):1-10.

261. D'Amato V, Raimondo L, Formisano L, Giuliano M, De Placido S, Rosa R, et al. Mechanisms of lapatinib resistance in HER2-driven breast cancer. Cancer treatment reviews. 2015;41(10):877-83.

262. Rexer BN, Arteaga CL. Intrinsic and acquired resistance to HER2-targeted therapies in HER2 gene-amplified breast cancer: mechanisms and clinical implications. Critical Reviews<sup>™</sup> in Oncogenesis. 2012;17(1).

263. Viedma-Rodríguez R, Baiza-Gutman L, Salamanca-Gómez F, Diaz-Zaragoza M, Martínez-Hernández G, Esparza-Garrido RR, et al. Mechanisms associated with resistance to tamoxifen in estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer (review). Oncol Rep. 2014;32(1):3-15.

264. Wagner M, Koslowski M, Paret C, Schmidt M, Türeci Ö, Ugur Sahincorresponding U. NCOA3 is a selective co-activator of estrogen receptor  $\alpha$ -mediated transactivation of PLAC1 in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. BMC Cancer. 2013;13:570.

265. Xia Y, Shen S, Verma IM. NF- $\kappa$ B, an active player in human cancers. Cancer immunology research. 2014;2(9):823-30.

266. Su GH, Hilgers W, Shekher MC, Tang DJ, Yeo CJ, Hruban RH, et al. Alterations in pancreatic, biliary, and breast carcinomas support MKK4 as a genetically targeted tumor suppressor gene. Cancer research. 1998;58(11):2339-42.

267. Hassan F, Mohammed G, El-Hiti GA, Alshanon A, Yousif E. Cytotoxic effects of tamoxifen in breast cancer cells. Journal of Unexplored Medical Data. 2018;3:3.

268. Yu F, Bender W, editors. The mechanism of tamoxifen in breast cancer prevention2001: BioMed Central.

269. Jansen VM, Bhola NE, Bauer JA, Formisano L, Lee K-M, Hutchinson KE, et al. Kinome-wide RNA interference screen reveals a role for PDK1 in acquired resistance to CDK4/6 inhibition in ER-positive breast cancer. Cancer research. 2017;77(9):2488-99.

270. Kubicka-Wołkowska J, Kędzierska M, Lisik-Habib M, Potemski P. Skin toxicity in a patient with ovarian cancer treated with pegylated liposomal doxorubicin: A case report and review of the literature. Oncology letters. 2016;12(6):5332-4.

271. Baldo BA, Pham NH. Adverse reactions to targeted and non-targeted chemotherapeutic drugs with emphasis on hypersensitivity responses and the invasive metastatic switch. Cancer and Metastasis Reviews. 2013;32(3-4):723-61.

272. Reyes-Habito CM, Roh EK. Cutaneous reactions to chemotherapeutic drugs and targeted therapy for cancer: Part II. Targeted therapy. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 2014;71(2):217-e1.

273. Reyes-Habito CM, Roh EK. Cutaneous reactions to chemotherapeutic drugs and targeted therapies for cancer: part I. Conventional chemotherapeutic drugs. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology. 2014;71(2):203-e1.

274. Koppel RA, Boh EE. Cutaneous reactions to chemotherapeutic agents. The American journal of the medical sciences. 2001;321(5):327-35.

275. Wyatt AJ, Leonard GD, Sachs DL. Cutaneous reactions to chemotherapy and their management. American journal of clinical dermatology. 2006;7(1):45-63.

276. Haynes D, Ortega-Loayza AG. A Review of Adverse Cutaneous Reactions to Chemotherapeutic Drugs. Clinics in Dermatology. 2020.

277. Biswal SG, Mehta RD. Cutaneous adverse reactions of chemotherapy in cancer patients: a clinicoepidemiological study. Indian journal of dermatology. 2018;63(1):41.

278. Qu Y, Han B, Yu Y, Yao W, Bose S, Karlan BY, et al. Evaluation of MCF10A as a reliable model for normal human mammary epithelial cells. PloS one. 2015;10(7):e0131285.

279. Imbalzano KM, Tatarkova I, Imbalzano AN, Nickerson JA. Increasingly transformed MCF-10A cells have a progressively tumor-like phenotype in threedimensional basement membrane culture. Cancer cell international. 2009;9(1):1-11.

280. Osborne CK, Schiff R. Mechanisms of endocrine resistance in breast cancer. Annual review of medicine. 2011;62:233-47.

281. Clarke R, Tyson JJ, Dixon JM. Endocrine resistance in breast cancer–an overview and update. Molecular and cellular endocrinology. 2015;418:220-34.

282. Dickson RB, McManaway ME, Lippman ME. Estrogen-induced factors of breast cancer cells partially replace estrogen to promote tumor growth. Science. 1986;232(4757):1540-3.

283. Kern FG, McLeskey SW, Zhang L, Kurebayashi J, Liu Y, Ding IYF, et al. Transfected MCF-7 cells as a model for breast cancer progression. Breast cancer research and treatment. 1994;31(2-3):153-65.

284. De Laurentiis M, Arpino G, Massarelli E, Ruggiero A, Carlomagno C, Ciardiello F, et al. A meta-analysis on the interaction between HER-2 expression and response to endocrine treatment in advanced breast cancer. Clinical cancer research. 2005;11(13):4741-8.

285. Weiner M, Skoog L, Fornander T, Nordenskjöld B, Sgroi DC, Stål O. Oestrogen receptor co-activator AIB1 is a marker of tamoxifen benefit in postmenopausal breast cancer. Annals of oncology. 2013;24(8):1994-9.

286. Ahlin C, Lundgren C, Embretsén-Varro E, Jirström K, Blomqvist C, Fjällskog ML. High expression of cyclin D1 is associated to high proliferation rate and increased risk of mortality in women with ER-positive but not in ER-negative breast cancers. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2017;164(3):667-78.

287. Neve RM, Chin K, Fridlyand J, Yeh J, Baehner FL, Fevr T, et al. A collection of breast cancer cell lines for the study of functionally distinct cancer subtypes. Cancer cell. 2006;10(6):515-27.

288. Riaz M, van Jaarsveld MTM, Hollestelle A, Prager-van der Smissen WJC, Heine AAJ, Boersma AWM, et al. miRNA expression profiling of 51 human breast cancer cell lines reveals subtype and driver mutation-specific miRNAs. Breast cancer research. 2013;15(2):R33.

289. Mota AdL, Evangelista AF, Macedo T, Oliveira R, Scapulatempo-Neto C, Vieira RAdC, et al. Molecular characterization of breast cancer cell lines by clinical immunohistochemical markers. Oncology letters. 2017;13(6):4708-12.

290. Guttridge DC, Albanese C, Reuther JY, Pestell RG, Baldwin AS. NF- $\kappa$ B controls cell growth and differentiation through transcriptional regulation of cyclin D1. Molecular and cellular biology. 1999;19(8):5785-99.

291. Hinz M, Krappmann D, Eichten A, Heder A, Scheidereit C, Strauss M. NF- $\kappa$ B function in growth control: regulation of cyclin D1 expression and G0/G1-to-S-phase transition. Molecular and cellular biology. 1999;19(4):2690-8.

292. Toualbi-Abed K, Daniel F, Güller MC, Legrand A, Mauriz J-L, Mauviel A, et al. Jun D cooperates with p65 to activate the proximal  $\kappa$ B site of the cyclin D1 promoter: role of PI3K/PDK-1. Carcinogenesis. 2008;29(3):536-43.

293. Duyao MP, Buckler AJ, Sonenshein GE. Interaction of an NF-kappa B-like factor with a site upstream of the c-myc promoter. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 1990;87(12):4727-31.

294. Moreau M, Mourah S, Dosquet C.  $\beta$ -Catenin and NF- $\kappa$ B cooperate to regulate the uPA/uPAR system in cancer cells. International journal of cancer. 2011;128(6):1280-92.

295. Xing RH, Rabbani SA. Transcriptional regulation of urokinase (uPA) gene expression in breast cancer cells: role of DNA methylation. International journal of cancer. 1999;81(3):443-50.

296. Lin Y, Bai L, Chen W, Xu S. The NF- $\kappa$ B activation pathways, emerging molecular targets for cancer prevention and therapy. Expert opinion on therapeutic targets. 2010;14(1):45-55.

297. Zhi Y, Lu H, Duan Y, Sun W, Guan G, Dong Q, et al. Involvement of the nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B signaling pathway in the regulation of CXC chemokine receptor-4 expression in neuroblastoma cells induced by tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ . International journal of molecular medicine. 2015;35(2):349-57.

298. Singh S, Srivastava SK, Bhardwaj A, Owen LB, Singh AP. CXCL12–CXCR4 signalling axis confers gemcitabine resistance to pancreatic cancer cells: a novel target for therapy. British journal of cancer. 2010;103(11):1671-9.

299. Chilov D, Kukk E, Taira S, Jeltsch M, Kaukonen J, Palotie A, et al. Genomic organization of human and mouse genes for vascular endothelial growth factor C. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 1997;272(40):25176-83.

300. Kim H-R, Heo Y-M, Jeong K-I, Kim Y-M, Jang H-L, Lee K-Y, et al. FGF-2 inhibits TNF- $\alpha$  mediated apoptosis through up-regulation of Bcl2-A1 and Bcl-xL in ATDC5 cells. BMB reports. 2012;45(5):287-92.

301. Aukes K, Forsman C, Brady NJ, Astleford K, Blixt N, Sachdev D, et al. Breast cancer cell-derived fibroblast growth factors enhance osteoclast activity and contribute to the formation of metastatic lesions. PloS one. 2017;12(10).

302. Giulianelli S, Riggio M, Guillardoy T, Pérez Piñero C, Gorostiaga MA, Sequeira G, et al. FGF2 induces breast cancer growth through ligand-independent activation and recruitment of ER $\alpha$  and PRB $\Delta$ 4 isoform to MYC regulatory sequences. International journal of cancer. 2019;145(7):1874-88.

303. Lei H, Deng C-X. Fibroblast growth factor receptor 2 signaling in breast cancer. International journal of biological sciences. 2017;13(9):1163.

304. Fukuoka M, Yoshioka K, Hohjoh H. NF- $\kappa$ B activation is an early event of changes in gene regulation for acquiring drug resistance in human adenocarcinoma PC-9 cells. PloS one. 2018;13(8).

305. Chen B, Liu J, Ho TT, Ding X, Mo YY. ERK-mediated NF- $\kappa$ B activation through ASIC1 in response to acidosis. Oncogenesis. 2016;5(12):e279.

306. Bai D, Ueno L, Vogt PK. Akt-mediated regulation of NF $\kappa$ B and the essentialness of NF $\kappa$ B for the oncogenicity of PI3K and Akt. International journal of cancer. 2009;125(12):2863-70.

307. Ahmad A, Biersack B, Li Y, Kong D, Bao B, Schobert R, et al. Targeted regulation of PI3K/Akt/mTOR/NF- $\kappa$ B signaling by indole compounds and their derivatives: mechanistic details and biological implications for cancer therapy. Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry (Formerly Current Medicinal Chemistry-Anti-Cancer Agents). 2013;13(7):1002-13.

308. Giavazzi R, Sennino B, Coltrini D, Garofalo A, Dossi R, Ronca R, et al. Distinct Role of Fibroblast Growth Factor-2 and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor on Tumor Growth and Angiogenesis. American Journal of Pathology. 2003;162(6):1913-26.

309. Reed JC. Bcl-2 family proteins: regulators of chemoresistance in cancer. Toxicology letters. 1995;82:155-8.

310. Taniai M, Grambihler A, Higuchi H, Werneburg N, Bronk SF, Farrugia DJ, et al. Mcl-1 mediates tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand resistance in human cholangiocarcinoma cells. Cancer research. 2004;64(10):3517-24.

311. Wuilleme-Toumi S, Robillard N, Gomez P, Moreau P, Le Gouill S, Avet-Loiseau H, et al. Mcl-1 is overexpressed in multiple myeloma and associated with relapse and shorter survival. Leukemia. 2005;19(7):1248-52.

312. Yin L, Duan J-J, Bian X-W, Yu S-c. Triple-negative breast cancer molecular subtyping and treatment progress. Breast Cancer Research. 2020;22(1):1-13.

313. Lehmann BD, Pietenpol JA. Identification and use of biomarkers in treatment strategies for triple-negative breast cancer subtypes. The Journal of pathology. 2014;232(2):142-50.

314. Hill D, Chen L, Snaar-Jagalska E, Chaudhry B. Embryonic zebrafish xenograft assay of human cancer metastasis. F1000Research. 2018;7.

315. Avdesh A, Chen M, Martin-Iverson MT, Mondal A, Ong D, Rainey-Smith S, et al. Regular care and maintenance of a zebrafish (Danio rerio) laboratory: an introduction. JoVE (Journal of Visualized Experiments). 2012(69):e4196.

316. Feitsma H, Cuppen E. Zebrafish as a cancer model. Molecular Cancer Research. 2008;6(5):685-94.

317. Liu S, Leach SD. Zebrafish models for cancer. Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease. 2011;6:71-93.

318. Veinotte CJ, Dellaire G, Berman JN. Hooking the big one: the potential of zebrafish xenotransplantation to reform cancer drug screening in the genomic era. Disease models & mechanisms. 2014;7(7):745-54.

319. Lawrence C. The husbandry of zebrafish (Danio rerio): a review. Aquaculture. 2007;269(1-4):1-20.

320. Puratchikody A, Sriram D, Umamaheswari A, Irfan N. 3-D structural interactions and quantitative structural toxicity studies of tyrosine derivatives intended for safe potent inflammation treatment. Chemistry Central Journal. 2016;10(1):24.

321. Bagchi MC, Ghosh P. Anti-Tubercular Drug Designing Using Structural Descriptors. Advances in Mathematical Chemistry and Applications: Elsevier; 2015. p. 179-90.

322. Du X, Li Y, Xia Y-L, Ai S-M, Liang J, Sang P, et al. Insights into protein– ligand interactions: mechanisms, models, and methods. International journal of molecular sciences. 2016;17(2):144.

323. Meyers JR. Zebrafish: development of a vertebrate model organism. Current Protocols Essential Laboratory Techniques. 2018;16(1):e19.

324. Busquet F, Strecker R, Rawlings JM, Belanger SE, Braunbeck T, Carr GJ, et al. OECD validation study to assess intra-and inter-laboratory reproducibility of the zebrafish embryo toxicity test for acute aquatic toxicity testing. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology. 2014;69(3):496-511.

325. Betz C, Lenard A, Belting H-G, Affolter M. Cell behaviors and dynamics during angiogenesis. Development. 2016;143(13):2249-60.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

## VITA

NAME	Nalinee Pradubyat
DATE OF BIRTH	15 March 1986
PLACE OF BIRTH	Bangkok, Thailand
HOME ADDRESS	120 Soi Rangsitnakhonnayok 18, Rangsitnakhonnayok
PUBLICATION	1. Pradubyat, N., Sakunrangsit, N., Mutirangura, A., & Ketchart W (2020) NADPH: Ouinone oxidoreductase 1
AWARD RECEIVED	<ul> <li>(NQO1) mediated anti-cancer effects of plumbagin in endocrine resistant MCF7 breast cancer cells.</li> <li>Phytomedicine, 66, 153133.</li> <li>2. Chonsut, P., Mahalapbutr, P., Pradubyat, N., Chavasiri, W., Wonganan, P., &amp; Ketchart, W. (2019). Ethoxy mansonone G as an anticancer agent in estrogen receptorpositive and endocrine-resistant breast cancer. Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, 71(12), 1839-1853.</li> <li>Travel bursary from North West Cancer Research, University of Liverpool</li> </ul>

175